
 

 
 
To: Members of the  

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

 Councillor David Jefferys (Chairman) 
Councillor Robert Evans (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillors Marina Ahmad, Gareth Allatt, Yvonne Bear, Mike Botting, Mary Cooke, 
Judi Ellis, Keith Onslow and Diane Smith 
 

 

London Borough of Bromley Officers: 
 

Janet Bailey Director: Children's Social Care 
Kim Carey Director: Adult Social Care 
Rachel Dunley Head of Service: Early Intervention and Family Support 
Dr Nada Lemic Director: Public Health 

 

Clinical Commissioning Group: 
 

Dr Angela Bhan Borough Based Director: South East London Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Harvey Guntrip Lay Member: South East London Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Dr Andrew Parson GP Clinical Lead: South East London Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

Vacancy Independent Chair: Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

Bromley Safeguarding Children Board: 
 

Jim Gamble QPM Independent Chair: Bromley Safeguarding Children 
Partnership 

 

Bromley Voluntary Sector: 
 

Christopher Evans Community Links Bromley 
Frances Westerman Healthwatch Bromley 

 
 A meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on THURSDAY 3 

DECEMBER 2020 AT 1.30 PM  
 
 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a ‘virtual meeting’ and members of the press and public 
can see and hear the Committee by visiting the following page on the Council’s 
website: 
 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive 
 
Live streaming will commence shortly before the meeting starts.  

  

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Jo Partridge 

   Joanne.Partridge@bromley.gov.uk 

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8461 7694   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 25 November 2020 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive


 
 
 
 MARK BOWEN 

Director of Corporate Services 
 

 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 
 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

3   QUESTIONS  

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports 
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of 
the meeting.   
 
Questions specifically relating to reports on the agenda should be received within two 
working days of the normal publication date of the agenda. Please ensure that 
questions specifically on reports on the agenda are received by the Democratic 
Services Team by 5pm on Friday 27th November 2020. 
 
Please note that all public questions will be answered by written reply. 
 

4    MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD 
ON 24TH SEPTEMBER 2020 (Pages 1 - 14) 
 

5    UPDATE ON THE WEIGHT REDUCTION CAMPAIGN (VERBAL UPDATE)  
 

6   CCG WINTER SCHEMES 2020/21  

 To follow 
 

7    MENTAL HEALTH RESILIENCE - CURRENT POSITION AND ACTIONS (VERBAL 
UPDATE)  
 

8    BETTER CARE FUND AND IMPROVED BETTER CARE FUND PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE - Q2 2020/21 (Pages 15 - 32) 
 

9    BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD - ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 33 - 
112) 
 

10    BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP - ANNUAL REPORT 
(Pages 113 - 198) 
 

11   UPDATE FROM THE SEL CCG (VERBAL UPDATE)  

 To include: 

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

- An update on the flu immunisation programme in Bromley 
- Long COVID-19 syndrome 
- COVID-19 immunisation plans for Bromley 
- Bromley Health and Wellbeing Centre 

 

12    HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY: JSNA PRIORITY AREAS (VERBAL 
UPDATE)  
 

13    WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING (Pages 199 - 204) 
 

14    ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 

15   DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

 1.30pm, Thursday 11th February 2021  
1.30pm, Thursday 29th April 2021  
 
 

16   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM 
OF INFORMATION ACT 2000  

 The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of 
the items of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to 
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information. 
 

17   MEMBERSHIP OF THE HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING BOARD - DISCUSSION  
 

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)  
 



This page is left intentionally blank



1 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Minutes of the meeting held at 2.30 pm on 24 September 2020 
 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor David Jefferys (Chairman) 
Councillor Robert Evans (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillors Marina Ahmad, Gareth Allatt, Yvonne Bear, 
Mike Botting, Mary Cooke, Judi Ellis, Keith Onslow and 
Diane Smith 
 

 
Janet Bailey, Director: Children's Social Care 
Kim Carey, Director: Adult Social Care 
Rachel Dunley, Head of Service: Early Intervention and Family 
Support 
Dr Nada Lemic, Director: Public Health 
 

 

 
 

 

Mark Cheung, South East London Clinical Commissioning 
Group 
Harvey Guntrip, Lay Member: South East London Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
Dr Andrew Parson, GP Clinical Lead: South East London 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 
 

 

Christopher Evans, Community Links Bromley 
Mina Kakaiya, Healthwatch Bromley 
 
 

 
 

 

 
18   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
The Chairman welcomed Board Members to the virtual meeting of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, held via Webex. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Dr Angela Bhan and Frances 
Westerman – Healthwatch Bromley and Mark Cheung and Mina Kakaiya – 
Healthwatch Bromley attended as their respective substitutes. 
 
The Chairman informed Board Members that Lynn Sellwood, Independent Chair of 
the Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board had resigned from the role at the end of 
August. The Chairman noted that he had written to her on behalf of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, expressing best wishes and sincere thanks for all the work she 
had undertaken. A letter of response had been received saying that she had very 
much enjoyed her time working with the Board. 
 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 
 

 2 

19   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 
20   QUESTIONS 

 
No questions had been received. 
 

 
21   MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

BOARD HELD ON 2ND JULY 2020 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 2nd July 2020 be agreed. 
 

 
22   UPDATE ON THE OBESITY TASK AND FINISH GROUP (VERBAL 

UPDATE) 
 

The Chairman reminded Board Members that at the last meeting in July, the 
important issues of obesity and weigh reduction, particularly in relation to adults 
and the link to COVID-19, had been raised. 
 
The Chairman expressed his thanks and gratitude to Councillor Mike Botting, 
Councillor Ian Dunn and Councillor Robert Evans for volunteering to be involved in 
the Obesity Task and Finish Group, which had met virtually with officers several 
times over the summer. 
 
The LBB Director of Public Health informed Board Members that the group had 
started to develop a specific campaign for obesity which would be linked to 
COVID-19. Obesity was a significant risk factor for both infection, and for poorer 
outcomes if infected with COVID-19. The national ‘Better Health’ campaign had 
started in September and had partly been used to launch Bromley’s local 
campaign. This allowed the message to be strengthened, emphasising that this 
was the time to do something about obesity. 
 
RESOLVED that the update on the Obesity Task and Finish Group be noted. 
 

 
23   COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE (VERBAL UPDATE) 

 
The LBB Communications Executive emphasised to Board Members that the 
importance of launching an obesity campaign now, was the link to COVID-19. It 
was clear that losing weight, or not being overweight, had a beneficial effect on a 
person’s health and could help to prevent a number of diseases, including COVID-
19. A Vice-Chairman highlighted that many residents may not be aware of the link 
between obesity and COVID-19, and once known it may make people more 
inclined to address issues relating to their weight. 
 
Alongside the ‘Better Health’ campaign, Bromley would be launching the ‘Don’t 

Page 2



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 

 

 
 

3 

Wait to Lose Weight’ campaign. This would be the element of the ‘Better Health’ 
campaign that would link to weight management, and signpost residents to 
resources that could help them to lose weight. It was noted that at a later point in 
time, the ‘Better Health’ campaign would branch off to into other health areas. 
 
The usual communication channels would be used to raise awareness and 
promote both campaigns, starting with a press release at the beginning of the 
following week. Newsletters would also be dispatched, and some graphics had 
been developed around the slogan. Harder to reach audiences would also be 
targeted, and Councillors would be asked to be advocates to disseminate 
information to residents. Alongside this, the ‘COVID Community Champions’ 
scheme had been launched, with fifty people already signed up to help get 
messages out. Conversations had also taken place with stakeholders, such as the 
CCG and GPs, with regards to the messaging used. 
 
In response to a question, the LBB Communications Executive said that the 
‘COVID Community Champions’ had just been launched via the Council’s e-
newsletter. It was noted that details of where the volunteers were located within 
the borough were not yet known. It was envisaged that a network of groups, 
including faith groups and community groups, would be created to help pass on 
some of the messages. A lot of work had recently been undertaken to translate 
messages from the Government, to simplify them and make them easier to 
understand. The Chief Executive – Community Links Bromley advised that there 
was a pool of around 4,500 volunteers that had been engaged by the Council and 
Community Links Bromley in response to pandemic. It was suggested that this 
group could be linked to help cascade and promote these messages. 
 
A Board Member highlighted that a good method for passing on this information 
was via the Resident Associations. The LBB Communications Executive confirmed 
that this was one of the actions to be undertaken. It was noted that Councillors 
could play a key role in this work by helping to ensure that the information relating 
to Resident Associations and groups within their wards were up to date. The LBB 
Communications Executive would check if it would be possible to circulate the 
database to all Councillors for them to confirm that the details on record were 
correct. 
 
RESOLVED that the Communications Update be noted. 
 

 
24   COVID-19 UPDATE (VERBAL UPDATE) 

 
The LBB Director of Public Health provided Board Members with an update in 
regarding COVID-19 in Bromley. Weekly reports containing data relating to 
COVID-19 within the borough had been provided to Board Members, however it 
was noted that the structure of these report would be changed as more information 
of interested was being provided. 
 
The LBB Director of Public Health highlighted that incidents of COVID-19 were 
increasing across London, nationally and internationally. The figures for Bromley 
provided in the latest report looked better than they truly were due to issues with 

Page 3



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 
 

 4 

testing in London, and nationally. As fewer people were being tested than 
required, not all cases would be identified – other data sources and modelling 
suggested that the actual figure of cases in the borough was likely to be 
significantly higher. 
 
Over the summer, the Public Health team had been focussing on prevention and 
working with communities. In the last few weeks, the emphasis had shifted 
towards more work on contact tracing. It was noted that there had recently been a 
lot of media coverage which suggested that the NHS Test and Trace was not as 
efficient as it should be, and how some of the functions should be transferred to 
local Public Health teams. This had happened in areas with high incidents, giving 
the teams priority access to the Test and Trace database and training. The LBB 
Director of Public Health advised that preparatory work relating to this had been 
undertaken in the borough, and an ‘Expression of Interest’ would be submitted 
shortly. The team were now at the point where the system could be set up, and a 
local two-week pilot would start the following week. It was hoped this would 
provide an indication of anything that needed to be adapted or changed, prior to 
taking on the ‘locally enhanced’ contact tracing at the beginning of October. 
Additional work undertaken had included preparatory work on outbreak 
management plans, and regular updating of protocols and regulations as national 
guidance changed. It was noted that more and more functions were being passed 
on to local Public Health teams from Public Health England (PHE) – significantly in 
relation to work with schools and care homes. There was an indication that work 
relating to single outbreaks would be passed on too, and therefore training was 
being delivered to others, such as school nurses so they could take on some of 
the functions to support schools, as well as schools themselves for when incidents 
started to increase. 
 
The Chairman noted that Bromley started in a good place and recognised that 
Test and Trace had been difficult here, as it had been across the country. 
However, it was encouraging that going forward there would be three testing 
centres located in the borough. 
 
In response to a question, the LBB Director of Public Health advised Board 
Members that the transfer of the Test and Trace function to local Public Health 
teams was based on the national model and was led by PHE. A large amount of 
work had been undertaken in preparation to express an interest, including setting 
up a system to cross-reference the data and recruiting contact tracers. Those 
recruited would be required to undertake a three-day training course delivered by 
PHE. The Chairman requested that the full evaluation of the local two-week pilot 
be shared with Board Members. 
 
In response to a question, the LBB Director of Public Health confirmed that social 
workers and health care workers were priority groups for access to testing – this 
testing was through a different system to that used for the general public. The 
Chairman noted that around 110,000 test slots were being reserved for key 
workers. The Test and Trace app had launched earlier in the day, which was a 
step forward, however testing was still currently difficult. 
 
The Vice-Chairman noted the importance of keeping schools in the borough open 

Page 4



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 

 

 
 

5 

and asked if anything could be done to increase the number of COVID-19 testing 
kits available to them. The LBB Director of Public Health said that information 
provided by PHE advised that schools were provided with 10 testing kits per 1,000 
pupils a week, which were for emergency use only. If there was a single case, 
parents could request a test via the national portal – it was noted that there had 
been problems with testing in general, however this week there had been some 
increase in the provision for London. If there was an outbreak in a school, PHE 
would manage it by testing those involved separately. The Chairman highlighted 
that some schools had not received these emergency tests from PHE. 
 
The LBB Director of Children’s Social Care advised Board Members that the LBB 
Director of Education and herself met with the Department for Education (DfE) on 
a weekly basis and had been pushing them on a number of issues. This had 
included the problems faced by schools that used a testing kit when trying to 
obtain a replacement. The DfE had given assurances that schools were now able 
to order replacement kits via the portal. Another issue raised had been 
proportionality, as there was a number of large schools in the borough, and this 
would be closely monitored. 
 
The One Bromley Programme Director – South East London Clinical 
Commissioning Group (SEL CCG) informed Board Members that, as part of the 
One Bromley local care partnership, work had been undertaken locally on a 
recovery plan. This was being developed using the lessons learnt from the last six 
months, both positive and negative, to transform services and prepare for winter 
and a potential second wave of COVID-19. A comprehensive programme of work 
would be established over the next few months, which also looked forward into 
next year. 
 
A number of priorities had been set out in the Winter Plan, including how 
community services would continue to be developed to support COVID-19 
patients. Other priorities were to assist with hospital discharges and further 
develop the Single Point of Access (SPA); provide additional capacity in the 
system around primary care; and working with colleagues in the Local Authority 
regarding how best to support their schemes. It was noted that further details were 
provided in the Bromley Winter Assurance Plan 2020/21 update that would be 
presented later in the meeting. 
 
The GP Clinical Lead – SEL CCG noted that during the COVID-19 pandemic, 
many people would have experienced a sudden transformation in the way services 
had been delivered. Going into recovery it was important to get as many services 
open and running as possible; catch up on waiting lists; and encourage residents 
to access health services. It was a difficult time for primary care with COVID-19 
rates increasing; the need to maintain social distancing; and making sure services 
were safe to access. There was a need to ensure that communications relating to 
this were sent out to patients. The One Bromley Programme Director – SEL CCG 
advised Board Members that a public document was being finalised as part of the 
recovery plan, to address lessons learnt as well as managing expectations. It was 
agreed that this document would be shared with Board Members once finalised. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health expressed thanks, on behalf of 

Page 5



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 
 

 6 

herself and the Leader, for the excellent work undertaken by Chloe Todd, LBB 
Consultant in Public Health, to produce statistics and reports on COVID-19 trends 
within the borough. This was echoed by the Chairman, who advised that a letter of 
thanks would be written to the LBB Consultant in Public Health on behalf of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
RESOLVED that the COVID-19 Update be noted. 
 

 
25   UPDATE ON THE FLU IMMUNISATION PROGRAMME (CCG) 

 
Report ACH20-057 
 
The Board considered a report outlining the actions that borough teams and 
central SEL CCG teams would be undertaking to ensure the maximum impact of 
their usual flu campaign; progress of work and achievement of this year’s stretch 
targets; and some additional actions that would help to improve take up of the flu 
vaccine. 
 
Due to the risk of flu and COVID-19 viruses co-circulating this winter, the flu 
immunisation programme would be essential to protecting vulnerable people and 
supporting the resilience of the health and care system. Providers would be 
focusing on achieving maximum uptake of the flu vaccine in existing eligible 
groups, as they were most at risk from flu, or in the case of children, transmission 
to other members of the community. The Associate Director – Discharge 
Commissioning, Urgent Care and Transfer of Care Bureau informed Board 
Members that the programme would be extended nationally this year to include 
household contacts of those on the NHS Shielded Patient List; children of school 
Year 7; and health and social care workers employed through Direct Payment 
and/or Personal Health Budgets. 
 
The aim would also be to further extend the vaccine programme in November and 
December 2020 to include the 50-64 year old age group, subject to vaccine 
supply. The extension of the programme, and heightened awareness of the risks 
of infection with both COVID-19 and flu, was likely to lead to higher demand, so 
further planning and preparation was necessary to ensure sufficient vaccination 
capacity was in place to deliver the programme. Provision of flu vaccination clinics 
and appointments would be affected by PHE social distancing and infection control 
guidance, so providers would need to consider alternative delivery models that 
protected staff and patients. Equitable uptake of the flu vaccine needed to be 
ensured, so providers would be required to have robust plans in place for tackling 
health inequalities for all underserved groups to ensure equality of access. 
 
The Associate Director – Discharge Commissioning, Urgent Care and Transfer of 
Care Bureau informed Board Members that over the last few years, Bromley had 
the highest uptake of the flu immunisation. Immunisations would be offered across 
the workforce. Traditionally, the immunisation programme had been offered 
through clinics, however due to the current situation and the number of people 
working from home, this would be difficult. At a South East London level, the 
suggested approach currently being finalised was that anyone working for a public 

Page 6



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 

 

 
 

7 

service could request a letter containing a Personal Identification Code, which 
would allow them to get the flu immunisation at their local pharmacy. 
 
Different models were also being considered as to how best to offer mass 
vaccination clinics. It was noted that there was a particular challenge this year due 
to COVID-19. There was a need to have clear guidance around infection control 
and how patients could access their flu immunisation, as drop-in sessions could 
not be offered. COVID-19 may also result in there being increased interest 
regarding the flu immunisation, and it was hoped that the public would be even 
more inclined to take up the offer this year. 
 
The Chairman noted that the flu immunisation programme was the current priority, 
particularly due to the added pressure on services and misdiagnosis which could 
lead to services being overloaded further. The message to residents was for them 
to “play their part” and get their flu immunisation as soon as possible. 
 
A Board Member enquired if there would be enough supply for everyone on the 
extended list to receive a flu immunisation. The Chairman noted that the supply of 
vaccines would be tight this year, particularly as a number of the supply platforms 
had been diverted to focus on COVID-19, and highlighted that the timeframe of the 
programme was very much condensed this year. 
 
In response to a question, the Chairman advised that the Joint Committee on 
Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) had recommended the nasal immunisation 
for young children as they were considered to be ‘super spreaders’. Evidence 
suggested that children of school Year 7 also fell into that bracket, and they had 
therefore been added to the extend list of groups to receive the flu immunisation. A 
Board Member highlighted that a number of residents may not be aware that the 
eligibility had been extended and enquired as to how they would be made aware. 
The Associate Director – Discharge Commissioning, Urgent Care and Transfer of 
Care Bureau advised that as well as a national campaign, a South East London 
campaign would be delivered in Bromley and GP practices would also be 
contacting eligible patients directly. 
 
A Board Member asked if information was available as to which wards within the 
borough had previously had the lowest take up of the flu immunisation offer, and if 
residents in these areas would be targeted. The Associate Director – Discharge 
Commissioning, Urgent Care and Transfer of Care Bureau confirmed that this 
information was known, and the primary care teams were working with the GP 
practices and networks in these areas to ensure that the take up of the flu 
immunisation was increased this year. Following a request from the Chairman, it 
was agreed that this information could be provided to all ward Councillors.  
 
The Vice-Chairman highlighted that on page 29 of the agenda pack, one of the 
objectives to support all SEL boroughs was the ‘de-prioritisation of certain 
commissioned primary care services being considered to free up capacity in 
primary care to focus on the flu season’, and asked what services this referred to. 
The Associate Director – Discharge Commissioning, Urgent Care and Transfer of 
Care Bureau advised that she did not know the specific details and would refer this 
back to the Borough Based Director – SEL CCG to provide a response. The GP 

Page 7



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 
 

 8 

Clinical Lead – SEL CCG noted that a certain amount of prioritisation had been 
given throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. As GP practices would be heavily 
involved in the flu vaccinations for the over 50’s, it was likely that this would take 
priority over other things that were less time critical. 
 
RESOLVED that the update on the flu immunisation programme be noted. 
 

 
A BROMLEY WINTER ASSURANCE PLAN 20/21: UPDATE  

 
Report CSD20091 
 
The Board considered a report providing an update on the draft Bromley Winter 
Assurance Plan 2020-21. The Associate Director – Discharge Commissioning, 
Urgent Care and Transfer of Care Bureau advised that this item was originally 
scheduled to come to the 3rd December 2020 meeting, however on reflection it 
was felt that this was too late, and would not allow enough time for Board 
Members to influence the Plan. 
 
Over the past few years, the local health and social care system had felt 
increased pressure during the winter months, with most health and social care 
services seeing a surge of activity and demand with a more complex range of 
needs challenged by seasonal presentations like flu and norovirus. The additional 
pressures on the health and social care system, which were primarily from older 
and frail people, during the winter months presented a challenging landscape, 
even more so with the impact of a potential COVID-19 second wave. Bromley 
wider health and social care system leaders had developed the plan to safely and 
effectively manage the additional pressures during this period. The plan was 
aligned with the One Bromley Recovery Plan which had been approved by the 
One Bromley Executive.   
 
The Bromley Winter Assurance Plan was in draft format and had been 
considered and reviewed at the Bromley A&E Delivery Board. It would also be 
submitted to the SEL Urgent and Emergency Care Board for review. This 
approach included coordinated planning for, and management of, winter 
pressures and other periods of enhanced demand on the care system. The 
Board was facilitated by NHS SEL CCG (Bromley), working in partnership with 
King’s College Hospital, the London Borough of Bromley, Greenbrook 
Healthcare, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, Bromley Healthcare, Bromley GP 
Alliance, St Christopher’s, the London Ambulance Service and Bromley Third 
Sector Enterprise.   
 
Last year, the Bromley System Winter Plan brought together a single view of how 
the system would proactively manage winter and address key areas, such as: 
preventing escalation of need; hospital admission and attendance; 7 day working; 
reducing stranded patients; and providing early supported discharge. However, 
this year would include parallel planning for a potential COVID-19 second wave 
set out in the 3rd Phase of NHS Response letter sent out by NHS England / 
Improvement on 31st July 2020. 
 

Page 8



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 

 

 
 

9 

The Associate Director – Discharge Commissioning, Urgent Care and Transfer of 
Care Bureau informed Board Members that she would be very happy to receive 
comments and feedback on the Plan outside of the meeting. 
 
The LBB Director of Adult Social Care informed Board Members that notification 
had been received the previous week that there would, for the first time, be a 
requirement to complete a Winter Plan for Adult Social Care. The deadline for 
submission was the 31st October 2020. It was agreed that this would be 
circulated to Board Members once complete. 
 
The Chairman noted that the final Bromley Winter Assurance Plan 2020/21 would 
be presented to the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee on 21st October 2020. 
 
RESOLVED that the update on the Winter Assurance Plan 2020-21 be 
noted. 

 
 

26   BROMLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING CENTRE UPDATE (CCG) 
(VERBAL UPDATE) 
 

The One Bromley Programme Director – SEL CCG informed Board Members that 
the development of the Bromley Health and Wellbeing Centre was progressing 
well despite the COVID-19 pandemic. Work was continuing in relation to their 
preferred site (the former Animal Kingdom building within the Civic Centre 
campus) and design work was almost finalised to ensure the specifications 
required were included, and that it was within the budget of capital funding that 
had been allocated. 
 
Work had been undertaken with the Council’s design team responsible for the 
wider Civic Centre development, as although the Bromley Health and Wellbeing 
Centre was a completely separate scheme, there was a need to ensure that the 
project was compatible. Initial discussions had taken place with the Planning 
department, and a pre-application for planning would be submitted within the next 
couple of weeks.  
 
The One Bromley Programme Director – SEL CCG noted that the development of 
the business case was progressing well, and it was expected that an outline could 
be shared with Board Members around mid-October 2020. The next stage was the 
NHS Assurance Process, which would involve the business case being presented 
to a number of committees, after which a full business case would be completed 
by the end of March 2021. The development stage would then commence, with an 
eighteen-month timescale anticipated for construction and commissioning before 
the Centre opened during 2022. The primary service to be provided at the Centre 
was the re-provision of the current Dysart Surgery, as well as other community 
services. Work was currently being undertaken with the Dysart Surgery to ensure 
that the current practice was fit for purpose, with increased capacity and an 
improved reception area, as the new Centre was still a couple of years away from 
being complete. 
 
The Chairman noted that this was positive news and commended the One 

Page 9



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 
 

 10 

Bromley Programme Director – SEL CCG for the pace at which the project was 
being progressed. 
 
RESOLVED that the update on the Bromley Health and Wellbeing Centre be 
noted. 
 

 
27   INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD UPDATE 

 
Report ACH20-060 
 
The Board considered a report providing a brief summary of the current work of 
the Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB). 
 
The LBB Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning informed Board 
Members that the ICB provided leadership, strategic oversight and direction for all 
health and social care integrated commissioning programmes and processes 
undertaken jointly by Bromley health and care partner agencies. Key 
responsibilities included: 
 

 Leading and directing arrangements for integrated commissioning of health 
and social care. 

 Supporting the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board in delivery of the key 
priorities identified in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 Overseeing the management of joint resources that enable effective integrated 
commissioning programmes. 

 Producing a Local Plan, which allows the Council and CCG to draw down the 
Better Care Fund (BCF). 

 Develop a co-ordinated approach to managing and developing the local 
provider market across health and care services. 

 Ensuring the CCG and the Council are well positioned to meet the emerging 
requirements from legislation, national/regional policy or best practice 
guidance. 

 
The COVID-19 pandemic had impacted the ICB in a number of ways. In some 
cases, projects and programmes led by the Board were temporarily put on hold 
whilst agencies gave priority to work on responding to the pandemic. In many 
instances the work of the Board made a significant contribution through the 
facilitation and delivery of an integrated health and care response to the pandemic. 
The Board had continued to meet throughout the pandemic. Now that ICB health 
and care partners were implementing their recovery plans, work was resuming on 
all those projects and programmes that had been paused. 
 
The Chairman noted that one of the ‘Next Steps’ on the ICB Work Programme 
2020/2021 was that a ‘new End of Life Board would be launched in October 2020’ 
(page 38 of the agenda pack), and asked if details relating this could be provided 
to Board Members. The LBB Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning 
advised that the End of Life Board focussed on palliative care services, the main 
provider of which was St Christopher’s Hospice, as well as Marie Curie and other 

Page 10



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 

 

 
 

11 

similar organisations. The key challenge for the End of Life Board was the impact 
of COVID-19 and the increased number of deaths, as well as the income of the 
providers being affected as they relied heavily on raising funds from the public. It 
was confirmed that information relating to the End of Life Board could be circulated 
prior to its launch. 
 
RESOLVED that the Integrated Commissioning Board update be noted. 
 

 
28   BETTER CARE FUND (BCF) AND IMPROVED BETTER CARE 

FUND (IBCF) QUARTER 1 2020/21 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 

Report ACH20-059 
 
The Board considered a report providing an overview of Quarter 1 (April to June 
2020) performance of both the Better Care Fund (BCF) and the Improved Better 
Care Fund (iBCF) 2020/21 on expenditure and activity. 
 
Bromley was responding to the following national metrics for the BCF: 

a. Reduction in non-elective admissions; 
b. Delayed transfers of care (DToCs) (delayed days); 
c. Rate of permanent admissions to residential care per 100,000 

populations; and 
d. Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days 

after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services. 
 
The LBB Integrated Strategic Commissioner for Early Intervention noted that over 
the last eighteen months, Bromley’s performance against the four metrics detailed 
had been in line with, or exceeded, anticipated targets – with the exception of 
residential admissions, although performance against this metric had improved in 
the last quarter (performance for Quarter 1 2020-21 was in line with anticipated 
targets for this period). It was further noted that Delayed Transfer of Care (DToC) 
for March 2020 - June 2020 were not available as NHS England had paused this 
collection due to reduced reporting capacity during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
In respect of admissions to residential care, the target for Quarter 1 2020-21 had 
been met, and there was a continuing drive to promote independence by 
supporting people in their own homes. 
 
In relation to reablement, there was a 91 day lag for data and therefore Quarter 1 
data was only up to the end of May 2020, however the most recent data showed 
that the target of 90% was being exceeded, with delivery of 95.2%. Robust plans 
were in place to ensure early planning, so that reablement opportunities for local 
residents could be maximised. Whilst the alignment between reablement and 
Bromley Well Prevention and Early Intervention services had been reinforced, this 
had been partly disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, in Quarter 2, a 
refresh of these arrangement would be considered as face to face provision 
started to increase following the easing of restrictions to movement towards the 
end of Quarter 1 2020-21. 
 

Page 11



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 
 

 12 

RESOLVED that the Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund 
Performance Update report for Q1 2020-21 be noted. 
 
 
29   ANNUAL PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

 
Report ACH20-055 
 
The Board had been provided with the final version of the Annual Public Health 
Report (APHR) 2020. 
 

All Directors of Public Health produce an Annual Public Health Report to raise the 
profile of emerging health issues or to highlight an area of particular interest to a 
wide variety of audiences. The LBB Director of Public Health advised that the 
APHR for Bromley for 2020 focused on Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs). 
One of the key reasons for this was that Bromley was seeing a significant increase 
of sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), particularly syphilis and gonorrhoea, and 
a Needs Assessment had been completed to look at the reasons for this. A 
reduction in sexually transmitted diseases had also been selected as an area of 
focus for one of Public Health’s Transformation Programmes as the funding of 
treatment was a cost implication to the Council. 
 
The APHR described the major Sexually Transmitted Infections and would be 
used as a tool for raising awareness. A brief outline for the report highlighted that 
the audience included GPs; the general population; hospitals; and schools (pupils 
and teachers). Its content included: 

-  Introducing the key Sexually Transmitted Infections; 
-  Interventions and the evidence of their effectiveness; 
-  Key facts in Bromley; 
-  What were we doing now for Bromley residents?; 
-  What were we developing for Bromley residents?; and 
-  Impact of COVID-19. 

 
The LBB Director of Public Health noted that a short addendum to the APHR 
would be published to provide updated figures. Board Members were informed 
that the updated figures showed that the trend had continued, with STDs 
increasing, although overall STIs numbers were fairly stable. It was noted that 
cases of syphilis had more than doubled, and gonorrhoea had increased by 50%, 
that year – the overall figure was the highest recorded since 1980. 
 
The LBB Assistant Director of Public Health highlighted the importance of effective 
early identification. Prevention methods included the use of condoms, which was 
the most cost-effective, and testing which allowed more people with an infection to 
be identified. This indicated the need to continue to monitor and tackle STIs, which 
were an issue across both younger and older adult age groups. 
 
The Chairman noted that the impact of COVID-19 had been included in the report. 
It was suggested that the introduction to the report should include text to advise 
that the theme of the APHR had been chosen prior to the Coronavirus pandemic, 
and highlight that a major role of the Public Health teams’ work had focussed on 

Page 12



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 

 

 
 

13 

the pandemic, for which weekly reports were produced. The LBB Director of Public 
Health confirmed that this additional text would be added. 
 
In reference to page 71 of the agenda pack, a Board Member highlighted that 
access to Emergency Hormonal Contraception continued to contribute to the 
decline in teenage pregnancies figures, however it should be acknowledged that 
this was not prevention, which was the real issue. The Board Member also sought 
clarification of the term ‘middle super output areas’ (MSOAs). The LBB Director of 
Public Health advised that MSOAs referred to a statistical area for which they 
received data, usually smaller than the size of a borough ward. It was agreed that 
this term would be defined in the APHR glossary. 
 
The Chairman passed on his thanks to the LBB Director of Public Health and her 
team for the excellent work they had undertaken in producing the APHR report. 
 
RESOLVED that the Annual Public Health Report update be noted. 
 

 
30   MENTAL HEALTH UPDATE (VERBAL UPDATE) 

 
The LBB Director of Public Health informed Board Members that a draft Mental 
Health Strategy had been agreed. This work was being led by the CCG, with input 
from the Local Authority. 
 
The LBB Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning advised that the 
document would be published in the coming days, and the resulting Action Plan 
would be presented to the November 2020 meeting of the Adult Care and Health 
Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
RESOLVED that the mental health update be noted. 
 

 
31   WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING 

 
Report CSD20090 
 
The Board considered its work programme for 2020/21 and matters outstanding 
from previous meetings. 
 
The Chairman noted that the work programme was fluid, and it was likely that 
some items may slip due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The following item was 
added to the forward rolling work programme for the Health and Wellbeing Board: 
 

 Integrated Commissioning Board Update (29th April 2021) 
 
The LBB Director of Public Health advised that the item on ‘Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy: JSNA Priority Areas’ had been deferred due to delays that had occurred 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Two of the priority groups were to start up 
again, and it was hoped that updates from the Diabetes and Cancer groups could 
be provided to the December meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Page 13



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 September 2020 
 

 14 

With regards to matters outstanding, written updates were circulated to Board 
Members after the meeting as follows: 
 
Minute 55 – 30th January 2020 – Bromley Local CAMHS Transformation Plan 
The deep dive analysis was delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Oxleas 
CAMHS have a new Assistant Director in post for this service, starting September 
2020, and she will now be taking forward this work. 
 
Minute 8 – 2nd July 2020 – NHS Update 
At the end of August, we estimated the following proportions of people tested in 
Bromley, and got these positivity rates: 
 
- Local Bromley system 
Primary care - 921 personnel, 76% were tested and there was a 17% positivity 
rate. 
Social care, local authority and care home staff – 3,400 personnel, 41% 
were tested and there was a 34% positivity rate. 
 
- Provider's own system 
Bromley Healthcare - 33% positivity rate 
KCH (includes Denmark Hill and PRUH) - 28% positivity rate 
  
I must stress that we do not know how long antibodies last in this respect, and also 
what degree of immunity / protection they give. I think all this tells us is that this 
proportion of the population had antibodies at this point in time (about a 10-week 
period). 
  
RESOLVED that the work programme and matters outstanding from 
previous meetings be noted. 
 

 
32   ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

 
There was no other business. 
 

 
33   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

 
The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board would be held at 1.30pm on 
Thursday 3rd December 2020. 
 

 
 
The Meeting ended at 4.01 pm 
 
 

 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 14



  

1 

Report No. 

ACH20-082. 
 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Date:  December 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive Non-Key 

Title: Better Care Fund (BCF) and Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) 
20-21 Quarter 2 Performance Report 
 

Contact Officer: Ola Akinlade, Integrated Strategic Commissioner Early Intervention, 
Prevention and Community Services Commissioning, Programmes Division.  
 

Chief Officer: Kim Carey, Interim  Director of Adult Social Care, London Borough of Bromley 
Angela Bhan, Managing Director, Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Summary 

 This report provides an overview of the performance of the Better Care Fund and the Improved 
Better Care Fund 2020/21 on expenditure and activity for Quarter 2 (July to September 2020) 

 

 

2. Reason for the report going to Health and Wellbeing Board 

To provide the Health & Wellbeing Board with an overview of Quarter 2 performance for the 
Better Care Fund and the Improved Better Care Fund for 2020/21  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

3. SPECIFIC ACTION REQUIRED BY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AND ITS 
CONSTITUENT PARTNER ORGANISATIONS 

 That the Health & Wellbeing Board notes the performance and progress of both the BCF and 
iBCF schemes as well as the latest financial position for Quarter 2 2020.

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



  

2 

Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

1. Related priority: Not Applicable 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

Financial 

1. Cost of proposal:  BCF: £24,854k for 2020/21; iBCF: £6,313k in 2020/21   

2. Ongoing costs:  BCF: £24,854k for 2020/21; iBCF: £6,313k in 2020/21   

3. Total savings: N/A 

4. Budget host organisation: LBB 

5. Source of funding: Section 31 Grant, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government       
(previously DCLG) 

6. Beneficiary/beneficiaries of any savings: London Borough of Bromley and Bromley CCG 

 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

Supporting Public Health Outcome Indicator(s) 

Not Applicable:   

 

Page 16



  

3 

4. COMMENTARY 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) grant is ring fenced for the purpose of pooling budgets and 
integrating services between Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG) and London 
Borough of Bromley (LBB). The Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) was a new funding 
element added to the Better Care Fund from 2017-18 which is paid to local government as a 
direct LA grant for spending on adult social care. The 2017 Spring Budget announced 
additional funding for social care from 2017-18 to 2019-20. 

 
  

4.1 Purpose of Report: To provide the Health & Wellbeing Board with an overview of the Quarter 2 
performance for the Better Care Fund and the Improved Better Care Fund for 20/21  
 
 

4.2 Better Care Fund - Performance Metrics 
The Performance against the national metrics detailed below forms part of the BCF 20/21 return 
(submission pending) and is detailed as follows:  

 
 1:Reduction in non-elective admissions  
 2:Delayed transfers of care (DTOCS) (delayed days) 
 3: Rate of permanent admissions to residential care per 100,000 populations 

4: Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services.   

 
 

4.2.1Quarter 2 Metric Performance update- 
 

 1) Reduction in non-elective admissions (emergency admissions)  
 

 
NEA Performance Q2 20/21- 

 

 

NE 
Admissions 

Actual Quarter 
Performance# 

Quarterly 
Plan** 

Variance 

Apr-20 1645 

 

May-20 1849 

Jun-20 2073 5567 6977 1410 

July 2119 

 August  2154 

September Expected on 26 Oct 
 4273 (Jul & Aug) 7056 

-2783 (Jul & 

Aug) 

#Actual Quarter Performance is derived from the Secondary Uses Service (SUS) Health Data Repository 
** Plan figures utilised above are 2019/20 figures, as the BCF Planning Round  is expected in Sep 2020/21. 

 
Actual Q2 NEA performance (for July and August) is within planned targets.. 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 17



  

4 

 2). Delayed Transfers of Care (DToCS) 
 

Please note: *March 2020 – September 2020 DToC data is not available as NHSE have 
paused this collection due to reduced reporting capacity during Covid-19. 

 
 
 3). Admissions to residential care-Quarter 2 (20-21) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The planned target for admissions to residential care for Q2 20-21 has been met. This 
continues the trend from Q1 20-21 and is also lower than the same period in 19-20 which saw 
124 admissions.  
 
 
  

 4) Reablement 
 
 

 
 
    

Planned 
18/19 

Qtr 1 
Actual 

Qtr 2 
Actual  

Qtr 3 
Actual     

Qtr 4  
Actual  

Proportion of older 
people (65 and over) 
who were still at home 
91 days after discharge 
from hospital into 
reablement / 
rehabilitation services 

Annual % 90.1% 95.2%  
90.9 (July 

Only) 
  

Number  446/495 20/21 50/55   

 
 

There is a 91 day lag for data and therefore Q2 data is only up to the end of July however the 
most recent data shows that we are exceeding the target of 90% by delivering 90.9%. This is a 
slight reduction compared to Q1 (95.9%) and the same period in 19-20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

   Planned  

Qtr 2 (Apr-June 2020) Actual 

 

 

Long term support of older 
people (aged 65 and over) met by 
admission to residential and 
nursing homes per 100,000 
population (57,626 in Bromley) 

 (425-last 
years target) 

202.8  (118  admissions) 
 
Calculation (118/58,177)*100000 

 

Number  

   

 

Page 18



  

5 

4.3 Update on BCF Schemes (Q2) 

4.4 i) Self-Management & Early Intervention – Bromley Well : Bromley Well currently delivers a   

prevention and early Intervention service comprised of 10 pathways.  

4.5 Bromley Well Q2 (20/21) performance is detailed below:  

Bromley Well Performance Update 

Single Point of Access(SPA)  

• The single point of access (SPA) is the triage point for people accessing the 8 Bromley Well 
service pathways. A key function of the SPA continues to be providing assistance at the point 
of contact to reduce onward referrals to the pathways, where the issue can be dealt with 
following triage.. For Q2 there has been a 40% increase in the number of calls to the SPA 
(8,240) compared to 4,900 calls in Q1 with over 70% of this being covid-19 related queries 

  
SPA Key Challenges and mitigation 
 

Challenge  Mitigation 
Dealing with increasing demand on the SPA Service reconfiguration including a drive to recruit more 

volunteers 

Reducing isolation as online provision increases Increasing the number of zoom meetings for staff 

 
SPA Outcomes 

 

• Retention of volunteering staff through reconfiguration of services-this has been an ongoing 

piece of work prior to the covid-19 outbreak 

• Significant (in excess of £200k) income maximisation actions for residents for Q2 compared to 

£64k for Q1 

 
Key Actions for next Quarterly include:  

 

• Evaluating access of clients to services and identification of at risk cohorts that SPA will have 

to do more engagement work with 

• Continual evaluation of demand for services 

 
 
Adults with Long Term Health Conditions (LTHC) 
 
There has been positive engagement with GP Surgeries, stakeholders & Future Partnerships and 
the LTHC service has recruited a Community Engagement Officer who previously worked within 
the Dementia Hub and is making excellent progress within the LTHC team.  

 
The fibromyalgia support group continues to be facilitated twice each month and the health & 
wellbeing programme continues to be facilitated as well. To compliment this, the service has 
uploaded all eight workshops on YouTube to engage with clients who are not able or wish to 
participate in the virtual groups. Further detail is provided below 

 

• Week 1 - What is good health: https://youtu.be/UNnH_IoEJKI  

• Week 2 - Eating well & drinking sensibly: https://youtu.be/TWCfUYcoCd0  

• Week 3 - Physical activity: https://youtu.be/yrd575C_1UE  

• Week 4 - Sleep & mindfulness: https://youtu.be/q4QTmRqMBmo  

Page 19

https://youtu.be/UNnH_IoEJKI
https://youtu.be/TWCfUYcoCd0
https://youtu.be/yrd575C_1UE
https://youtu.be/q4QTmRqMBmo


  

6 

• Week 5 - Stress Busting: https://youtu.be/TWpkmcTulTg  

• Week 6 - Pain management: https://youtu.be/YBM0aMOljss  

• Week 7 – Ensuring good medical care - https://youtu.be/ZYmAq9FdjfU  

• Week 8 – Planning for the future - https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=13Vh6Ti6Z0I  
 

Alongside 1:1 engagement, the Lifestyle Support Workers also run a number of virtual support 
groups for participants who have completed the health & wellbeing workshops. An online version 
of the LTHC directory is now available with associated fact sheets and hyperlinks on each relating 
to NHS Choices and other signposting organisations and the long-term health conditions page on 
the Bromley Well website has been also updated to reflect additional the specific services offered. 

 
Challenges  

 
LTHC Challenges and mitigation 
 

Challenge Mitigation 

Finding balance between COVID support & 
long-term health condition support 

Conitinued engagement with service users to 
understand longer term impact of covid-19 and 
how service can be revised to reflect these 
changes in need. 

Supporting clients in need of urgent food 
supplies whilst in isolation following track & 
trace. 

Linking in with food banks/assistance and 
volunteer services to support clients in isolation 
as required.  

 
 
LTHC Outcomes  
 
There has been a slight increase in referrals (65) compared to  59 for Q1 (20-21) while the 
number of clients receiving ongoing emotional support continues to rise (1493 for Q2) compared 
to 1472 for Q1 and when compared to a quarterly average of 1365 last year. This highlights a long 
term trend of increasing numbers of clients who are being retained by the service. .  
 
Actions for next quarter 

• Review links with food banks and Test and Trace/Assistance and Volunteer services to 
ensure effective support of residents required to self isolate. 

 
 
 
Elderly Frail Pathway (EFP) 
This pathway provides a range of services and is designed to aid older frail patients to plan and 
access support services provided across the voluntary and statutory sector. The Frailty Navigator 
service is based in the Transfer of Care Bureau with Care Managers, Discharge Co-ordinators, 
Therapy, Administrative support and Discharge to Assess multi-agency teams.  
 
For Q2 the Fraitly Navigator has been liaising with Transfer of Care Bureau to assist with 
discharges and has also been attending the High Intensity Service User (HISU) Leads meeting to 
discuss support provided to service users frequenting the pathway 
 
 
EFP Outcomes 

A key action from the last quarter was to continue working alongside the High Intensity Service 

User Lead (HISU) with Service Users who are frequently admitted to A&E as well as those who 

require assistance with discharges, support in the community and those who are homeless. This 

work has been disrupted by covid-19, howvere overall EFP activity remains high with an increase 

Page 20

https://youtu.be/TWpkmcTulTg
https://youtu.be/YBM0aMOljss
https://youtu.be/ZYmAq9FdjfU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=13Vh6Ti6Z0I


  

7 

in the number of clients accessing information and advice as well as practical support offered 

continue to increase from Q1 to Q2. 

 

Actions for next quarter 

• To continue building connection with Discharge Coordinators, working with the care 

managers, ward staff and Transfer of Care Bureau staff to ease the discharge process for 

patients.  

• Supporting Winter planning activity 

 

Employment and Education (E&E) 

The link between this pathway and the single point of access, particularly around employment and 

education advice has been strengthened. On average, the service runs 3 online workshops a 

week with a total weekly attendance of 15-20 people.  The workshops continue to cover a range 

of subjects, including online job search, completing application forms and interview techniques.    

Other topics have included assertiveness, prioritising, life skills, behaviours in the workplace, 

bullying and timekeeping. Other service developments for Q2 include:  

 

• The restart of the Job Search drop-ins at Cotmandene for 1:1 and small groups. (This included 

a risk assessment exercise being completed)   

• The delivery of a skills workshop for the Physical Disabilities pathway and  a face to face 

workshop at the Lodge.  

• The engaging with employers including Job Centre,  Tesco, Morrisons, Debenhams, 

Poundland, M&S, Boots, The Entertainer, Berry Recruitment, Zoom Recruitment, Swan Staff, 

Amazon, Maximus, Coop, St Christopher’s Hospice, British Red Cross, Bromley Green Gym, 

CCRC, Kentwood Centre, Wilkinsons, Primark, Riverside School, McDonalds, Jarrett and Lam 

Web Services, for the purpose of creating job and volunteer opportunities for clients 

 

 

Challenges  Mitigation 
The main challenge for Q2 has been finding 
suitable paid work, and volunteering 
placements for clients.  With the furlough 
scheme coming to an end and tight restrictions 
in place within the working environment, the 
service has found it difficult finding employers.. 
  
The service has identified that there has been a 
continued low number of referrals for people 
with mental health to Recovery Works  

 
E&E have continued to provide virtual workshops for 
those clients that were confident in setting up virtual 
meeting platforms and advisors were on hand to support 
with downloading the right apps to devises 
 
The service will also continue to make contact with 
clients to support with their mental wellbeing 
 
The service will also make contact with LBB business 
services to explore any opportunities for local employers 
to take on local people 

 

 

 

E&E Outcomes 

Outcomes for Q2 have exceeded the target for the same period,  

 

Actions for next quarter 

• Continue to support our clients through weekly contact through the Covid-19 crisis and 

ongoing engagement with employers to increase opportunities for residents to work and 

volunteer.  

Page 21



  

8 

 

 

Learning Disability (LD) Pathway 

The Learning Disability outreach service continues to be conducted virtually .This includes the 
delivery of online workshops, on Internet Safety and Anxiety with attendance for these sessions 
higher than the pre-COVID face to face sessions. 

 
 

Challenges  Mitigation 
Challenges this quarter 
This quarter 142 clients contacted the service, many 
of whom have ongoing issues or support needs.. 
This is leading to increased ongoing complex 
casework for some individuals  

Continue to reconfigure the sevice offer to ensure 
client needs are met 

 

 

LD Outcomes 

 

LD employment outcomes continue to exceed targets and the existing caseload continues to rise 

as detailed above.  

 

Physical Disabilities (PD) 

The Pathway continues to receive a large number of referrals.  The number of people remaining 
on the caseload has increased as well and due to covid-19 lockdown, the service has increased 
its online provision 
 

During this quarter contact has been made with the Social Prescribers team to fully explain the 
service role role and the clients that can be supported via this pathway.   

 
The following five workshops have been delivered via Zoom:-  
 
Sleep Management – This is for clients struggling to sleep issues due to their health condition and 
is aimed at helping clients develop ways to improve their sleep quality. Some clients have 
reported they have tried some of the tips discussed, changed their routines and have seen their 
sleep improve which has also helped improve their mental wellbeing. 
 
COVID catch-Up -With the stresses of living with Covid-19, the service has been supporting 
clients to ensure they were all aware of and following the rules and guidelines.  

 
Mental Health during Covid-19- Bromley Well mental health pathway delivered a session on how 

Covid-19 is having an effect on mental health and how to deal with this.  
 

Trading Standards Talk- Bromley Trading Standards joined via Zoom to make clients aware of 
scams within the borough and nationwide. 

 
Scam emails and internet safety- At this workshop the service continued to provide advice on 
email scams in more detail.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



  

9 

Challenges  Mitigation 

 Some clients have continued to self-isolate due 
to their health conditions and concerns about 
leaving their homes. The service has continued 
to keep in touch with clients via telephone, 
email, Zoom and supporting with emergency 
shopping, picking up prescriptions and remote 
form filling.  

Continue to engage with clients and provide 
support to them. 

 

 

PD Outcomes 

New referrals, face to face support sessions and numbers employed are all in line with anticipated 
activity for Q2 
 
Mental Health Pathway (MH) 

 

• 485 new clients have been successfully referred to the service this quarter – which is 243 

more referrals since last quarter (a 50% increase on the previous quarter) and an increase of 

26% YOY (360 referrals in Y3 Q4).  

• Referrals were received this quarter from: resident self-referral (203), Bromley GPs (183), 

Hospitals (1), Early Intervention (1), Social Care (6), other Bromley Well Pathways (49) and 

BLG Mind (2).  

• Clients referred into the service have presented with the following conditions: Anxiety (75), 

Depression (105), Stress (59), Bipolar Disorder (7), OCD (7), PTSD (16), Psychosis, 

Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder (7), Phobia (6), Personality Disorder (11), Autism 

(7), COVID-RELATED (15).  

• 2113 individual client contacts have been made during this quarter (278 hours of support), 

delivered via zoom, telephone, web chat, text and email-based appointments.  

 

Challenges  Mitigation 

A noticeable increase in the number of 
clients that are coming back into the service 
who may have accessed help back in 
2017/2018 when we first launched Bromley 
Well. Issues arising with how these clients 
are actioned to our pathway by SPA,  
 
Increase in referrals for people with financial 
and housing related problems, seeking 
written evidence that they have accessed 
our services for mental health support.  
 
Increase in referrals for Older Adults 
experiencing social isolation and loneliness 
as a result of many community groups and 
befriending services stopping during the 
pandemic period.  
 
Increase in young males experiencing drug 
and alcohol dependency with related 
psychotic symptoms.  

New Tier 5 Level introduced within the Mental 
Health & Wellbeing Service – Case Review. 
The introduction of this tier is for the Mental 
Health Triage Advisor to identify when a client 
has come back into the service having received 
support previously.  
 
A new Crisis Management Training Toolkit has 
been developed by the Senior Mental Health 
Advisor and is being prepared to provide as a 
training package for staff within the Bromley 
Well SPA and ILAG teams to help their staff 
and volunteers when supporting clients 
experiencing a mental health or social crisis.  
 
 

Page 23



  

10 

 
Increase in referral queries from the SPA 
and ILAG teams for adults experiencing 
mental health crisis  

 

MH Outcomes 

• Continued achievement by the team to provide the full service to clients via remote delivery.  

• Successful recruitment of a new Mental Health Triage Advisor, and successful facilitation of 

interim support with a sessional worker who assisted in the management of incoming referrals 

during that recruitment period.  

• Successful trial of new Tier intervention: assessment + 3 x 50-min sessions with Senior Mental 

Health Advisor. Trial has supported 39 clients in the last 6 months with 70% being referred 

successfully onto a more appropriate service, and 80% reporting an improvement in their  

• Successful completion of the Surviving Well project, which included: coordination and delivery 

of a final celebration event (attended by 17 survivors, 7 professionals and 2 volunteers), and 

submission of the final project reports. Project legacy has led to new partnership working with 

the Recovery Works/Peer Support Hub to establish peer support groups for survivors, Safe 

Lives to compare national data to our local findings to support future funding, and increased 

collaboration with LBB to contribute to the new DV Strategy.  

 

    Carers Pathway 
  

• The service has launched a new virtual drop-in service for carers to provide a safe and 
confidential space to talk to their Mental Health Carers Support Advisor. This support is to 
welcome new carers into the service, and to support existing carers.  

• The service will continue to deliver Caring during COVID-19 CBT sessions with this involving a 
4-week programme of support for carers, delivered by the PWP (Psychological Welfare 
Practitioner) and debriefing sessions are delivered by a volunteer with lived experience of 
caring.  

• The service has also launched a new carers bulletin, with key updates and information for 
carers on how to support their wellbeing throughout winter and the year ahead.  

 
Adult Carers-the current service offer includes the following: 
 

• Online Peer support groups and workshops 

• E-bulletins and social media information briefings and raising awareness of other 
organisations that can be accessed for support as well as promoting any new or additional 
support elements from the AC service 

• Mindfulness and financial workshops 

• Applying for carers grants and making sure that carers have access to online support as 
required 

• The service continues to maintain very regular contact with LBB on individual client cases and 
areas of concern to mitigate risk to our clients and to safeguard them. 

 
 

Mutual Carers 
      Support includes the following: 

 

• Encouraging clients to have a flu vaccination 

• Continue to provide specialist support to clients, ensuring their needs are met within the 

current restrictions, along with planning and prioritisation of those in greatest need.  

Page 24



  

11 

• Deliver lunch and informative information to carers that attend the Older Carers workshop and 

lunch 

• Deliver remote cookery ingredients to facilitate remote cooking sessions 

• Continue outreach in new areas in order to generate more referrals 

 
 

Young Carers 
Support includes the following: 

• To deliver a broad range of services via a range of platforms, to ensure all young carers 
continue to be supported during this challenging time. 

 

• To plan and deliver Young Carers Awareness sessions in schools 
 

• Recruit and induct a new Young Carers Support Worker 

 

• Contacted Carers by telephone and /or electronically on a regular basis to     
check on Physical Health  

  
 

 
    Challenges 
  

Challenges  Mitigation 
The biggest challenge for the service this quarter has 
been the increase in numbers of referrals as well as the 
number of clients being retained by the service. 

The service is exploring how to provide support for carers 
in Q3. 

 
 
Key Actions for next quarter 

• Complete review of the COVID delivery design to assess its effectiveness, and sustainability.  

• Complete review of alternative service-user groups likely to experience challenges in 

managing their mental health post-lockdown e.g. high-risk groups (shielding groups etc.), 

people with learning disabilities, people with long-term health conditions and physical health 

conditions, older people. Work with BTSE to see if a focus group could be established with 

other BW pathways to speak with professionals and service-users on the impact of 

COVID/lockdown and what support or advice would be helpful from our pathway moving 

forward.  

 

The Support to the sector update 

Information, Advice and Guidance  

• Supported 3 successful Innovation Fund applications: CASPA; Advocacy for All & Destiny, 
Children Carers and SEN Club. This resulted in an investment of £59,483. 

• Direct Line As previously reported that the service had received a grant from Direct Line fund 
to support local charities during the pandemic. This funding has now been allocated. In total 
CLB received 54 applications to the fund requesting a total amount of £356,254. In addition, 
several other applications were registered on the CLB portal but not progressed.   

• Awards were made to 38 local charities to deliver a range of services for children and young 
people, people with mental health and learning difficulties, and BAME organisations. Awards 
were from £750-10,000 with an average award of £4534. 

Page 25



  

12 

• During Q2 CLB also launched a Big Local Grant Funding round for both big and large grants. 
This process was managed via the CLB Awards Force platform. Applications were submitted 
for £490,000 from 16 charities/organisations of whom 4 were Associate Members.    

• Training and Learning Workshops 
Training and network events were held. This included two for Volunteer Managers, one with a 
focus on getting volunteers back to undertaking tasks safely (in the light of COVID-19), the 
other with a dual focus of looking at innovative ways of creating volunteer roles in the event of 
a local lockdown and building on previous work undertake to begin the development of a 
volunteer management quality framework for the borough. 
 

• Five one-to-one e-mail, telephone or Zoom sessions were held with local volunteer involving 
organisations seeking support in the development of their volunteer programmes. 

 
 
4.6 Dementia Hub update 

Progress Summary 
The Dementia Post Diagnosis Support Service (Dementia Hub) has suspended all face-to-face 
delivery. One to one telephone support to service users is being provided by staff working 
remotely at home. However, the nature of the support has been adapted during COVID to meet 
the needs of the users. Many people who use the service have reported feeling anxious and 
isolated, with additional support provided as required.  
 
New referrals are triaged over the telephone and new online support groups have been set up via 
Zoom and private Facebook groups. 

 
BLG Mind has continued to deliver all aspects of the service with slight modifications to the 
delivery method where necessary. 
There was a high demand for the service during the COVID wave 1 period, however, there has 
been a drop in demand/referrals.  Staff are returning to the offices occasionally, following 
government guidance. The Hub are looking to provide more ‘in person’ support where possible. 
Risk assessments are in place and staff are equipped with PPE to provide tailored support for 
carers. 

 
ONLINE TRAINING  
Online courses are working well but still work in progress and improvements are being made. 
Work needs to be done around the competency monitoring after training has been completed.  

 
CARERS COMPONENT – in discussions with Age UK and Bromley Well about this area.  
 
IMPLEMENTATION TIMELINE FOR NEW CONTRACT –  

• New KPI monitoring dashboard to be agreed by end of October 2020. (discussions ongoing) 

• Sub-group meetings for Dementia Pathways, Young Onset Dementia and Extra Care, Care 
and Support and Training components to be concluded by Mid-December 2020.  

• Final implementation meeting to be scheduled Mid-December 2020.  

• A joint Q1 & Q2 (July to December 2020) contract meeting will take place in January 2021.  
 
 
4.7 Update on progress for Integration of Health and Social Care 

 
The High Intensity User Liaison Lead is now in post.  This is a new post is based upon the 
Blackpool model where the focus includes early intervention of homeless persons, self-harmers 
and medical/social presentations who are not accessing scheduled services and therefore rely 
heavily on unscheduled services for their health care.  

Page 26



  

13 

  
 

4.8 Update on iBCF Schemes 
 

Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE) Lead and Placements       
Coordinator 

 
The ASYE Lead continues to meet with all newly qualified Social Workers (NQSW) and is 
working closely with line managers to ensure all aspects of the programme are adhered to 
including ensuring that 100% of NQSW’s have all learning agreements and probation forms in 
place. The role involves support, advice and guidance.  

 
.  

4.9 Wake up to Care 
Bromley Workforce Development commission an independent practice educator to oversee the 
new carers’ practice during the first 6-12 months of their employment.  

  
 

4.10 Process and Systems  
The aim of this work stream is to improve social care process and systems.   This involves the 
Project Officer working across the integrated care networks, continuing care and assistive 
technology.  The post continues to work closely with all Managers and staff in Adult Social Care 
as systems and processes have to be constantly reviewed and updated to ensure fit for purpose.   
Will be a main link into the new IT system by advising and participating in the development to 
ensure systems are streamlined, effective and efficient for staff to use. 

 

Progress 

An IT champion has been appointed Adult Social Care and has commenced  training with 
consultants on the new IT system as well as being part of the testing of systems.   The Adult 
Social Care Website has also been dedicated as a main area to redesign and improve the 
information for the public.  This work also feeds into the new IT system in regard to the designing 
of portals etc. 

 
 

4.11 Integrated Care Networks (ICN) 
 

As part of the Covid 19 operational risk guide, risk assessments have been completed by staff 
and we  also received the operational guidelines for each ICN hub from Bromley Health to reflect 
alongside LBB.   Each community team also provided their internal guidelines on social distancing 
etc.   Covid 19 protocols for home visits have also be issued to staff. Further detail is provided on 
the page below. 

 

Page 27



  

14 

 

 

LBB Staff commenced in the ICN 
Hubs from April 2018 

Apr- 
Jun ‘20 

Jul- 
Sept ‘20  

 

Oct –  
Dec ‘20 

 

Jan - 
Mar ‘21 

Based on data from ICN Co-ordinator which is actual data of people accept to ICN 

 

Contacts with ICN in 
Quarters 

No contacts 
due to 

Covid19 
211   

 

Referred to Adult Social 
Care 

 2%   

 

Referred to Care 
Navigators  
(Age UK) 

 5%   

 

Referred to Bromley 
Health Care  

 7%   

 
Referred to Oxleas  0%   

 

Referred to St 
Christopher’s 

 0%   

 

Total contacts with ICN 
since January 2020 

 786   

Bromley Health Care data is imported through a boxi report on CareFirst.  
This show 71 contacts but these are based on NHS Numbers and 65% of these are on CareFirst  

 

Received a care 
package who had not 
previously 

No contacts 
due to 

Covid19 
13%   

 
Unchanged care 
package in Quarters 

 16%   

 

Increases in care 
package in Quarters 

 4%   

 

Decrease in care 
package in Quarters 

 7%   

 

Independent Carer’s 
Assessments 

 1   

 

Average age of users  83   
are Females  58%   

are Males  42%   

Page 28



  

15 

4.12 Adult Social Care Systems 
There has been the introduction of a new referral and assessment format within the Early 
Intervention Team and the introduction of an online assessment form.   
 
 

4.13 Red Bag Scheme 
The Red Bag scheme is designed to enhance communication and information sharing when 
residents move between care settings and hospitals.  
 

4.14 Enhanced Health in Care Home  
Bromleag Care Practice mobilisation is underway – 36 homes have registered their patients with 
the new practice  
 

4.15 Discharge to Assess (D2A) 
There are 14 step-down flats at 3 sites.  
 

4.16 Disabled Facilities Capital Grant 
We are continuing to review how the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is used across the borough, 
with the aim of publishing a revised discretionary grants policy in accordance with the Regulatory 
Reform Order; and make sure information and advice on aids and adaptations is accessible and 
provided in appropriate locations.  

 

4.17 Market Development and Support and Care Homes 
The Market development and Support project continues to be coordinated by the joint LBB/CCG 
care homes project which has the following three work streams:  

 
 (a) Strategy development  
 (b) Health and social care offer to care homes 
 (c) Quality 

 
 The Market Position Statement for Care Homes is in development and was due to be tabled at 
PDS. However, this will now require revision following the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic so will 
be delayed.  

 
    

5. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE PEOPLE AND CHILDREN 

5.1 All services are designed to avoid people who are vulnerable reaching the point of crisis where 
they would be seeking support of statutory services and/or requiring unplanned admission. 
 

5.2 The Improved Better Care Fund is for investment into adult services and will have a positive 
impact on vulnerable people through investment into safeguarding and adult social care.  
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 BCF underspends of £645k during 2019/20 were carried forward into the 2020/21 financial year 
to be used against BCF projects. 
 

6.2 The 2020/21 budget and projected expenditure for both the Better Care Fund and the Improved 
Better Care Fund are detailed in the tables below: 
 

Page 29



  

16 

BCF 2020/21 QUARTER 2

Description
2020/21 

budget

Forecast 

Apr to 

Jun

Forecast 

Jul to 

Sep

Forecast 

Oct to 

Dec

Forecast 

Jan to 

March

Forecast 

Outturn
Variation

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Reablement capacity 883 221 221 221 221 883 0

Winter Pressures Discharge (CCG) 669 167 167 167 167 669 0

Winter Pressures Discharge  (LBB) 1,064 266 266 266 266 1,064 0

Integrated care record 391 98 98 98 98 391 0

Integrated care record - staffing 

contribution

57 14 14 14 14 57 0

Intermediate care cost pressures 648 162 162 162 162 648 0

Community Equipment cost pressures 437 109 109 109 109 437 0

Dementia universal support service 539 135 135 135 135 539 0

Dementia diagnosis 641 160 160 160 160 641 0

Extra Care Housing cost pressures 433 108 108 108 108 433 0

Health support into care homes/ECH 325 81 81 81 81 325 0

PSIS Contract 1,740 435 435 435 435 1,740 0

Risk against acute performance 1,395 349 349 349 349 1,395 0

Transfer of Care Bureau 584 146 146 146 146 584 0

Transfer of Care Bureau - staffing 

contribution

49 12 12 12 12 49 0

Protecting Social Care 9,292 2,323 2,323 2,323 2,323 9,292 0

Disabled Facilities Grants - CAPITAL 2,153 538 538 538 538 2,153 0

Carers Funding 546 137 137 137 137 546 0

Reablement Funds 986 247 247 247 247 986 0

Reablement Funds 326 82 82 82 82 326 0

Contract reduction 155 39 39 39 39 155 0

Programmes Team 38 10 10 10 10 38 0

Community Equipment cost pressures 161 40 40 40 40 161 0

Development of joint initiatives 669 167 167 167 167 669 0

Unallocated - additional BCF above 

inflation

673 168 168 168 168 673 0

Total Recurrent Budget 24,854 6,214 6,214 6,214 6,214 24,854 0

 
 

 
 
 

Page 30



  

17 

2020/21 IBCF - POOLED BUDGET STATEMENT

2020/21

2019/20 Improved

Improved Better Care

Better Care Fund

Fund (Projected)

£000 £000

Income

4,636 Revenue grant funding - recurrent 4,636

1,677 Revenue grant funding - additional * 1,677

1,191 Winter Pressures Grant ** 1,191

3,967 Carry forward from 2019/20 2,766

11,471 Gross Income 10,270

Expenditure

8,705  Revenue expenditure 9,103

8,705 Gross Expenditure 9,103

Deficit / (Surplus) for the Year

(2,766)  Revenue (1,167)

(2,766) (1,167)

* Additional (non-recurrent) funding of £1,677k has continued for a 4th 

year in 2020/21

** Winter Pressures Grant funding is required to be pooled into the 

Better Care Fund via the Improved Better Care Fund from 2019/20.  
 
6.3 Any underspends or unallocated amounts on each project can be carried forward into the next 

financial year if necessary. Quarterly reports are required by Government to show the progress 
of the BCF/IBCF schemes. 

 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The Care Act 2014 amended the NHS Act 2006 to provide the legislative basis for  the Better 
 Care Fund. It provides the mandate to NHS England to include specific requirements relating to 
 the establishment and use of an integration fund. NHS England and the Government allocate 
 the Better Care Fund to local areas based on a framework agreed with Ministers.  

7.2 The amended NHS Act 2006 gives NHS England the powers to attach conditions to the 
 payment of the Better Care Fund. For 2017-19 NHS England set the following conditions to 
 access the CCG element of the funding: 

 • The requirement that the Better Care Fund is transferred into one or more pooled funds  
 established under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. 

 • The requirement that Health & Wellbeing Boards jointly agree plans for how the money 
 will be spent with plans signed off by the relevant local authority and clinical 
 commissioning group(s). 

7.3 Under the amended NHS Act 2006, NHS England has the ability to withhold, recover or direct 
 the use of CCG funding where conditions attached to the BCF are not met, except for those 
 amounts paid directly to local government. 

7.4 For 2017-19, NHS England require that BCF plans demonstrate how the area will meet the 
 following national conditions: 

 • Plans to be jointly agreed; 

Page 31



  

18 

 • NHS contribution to adult social care is maintained in line with inflation; 
 • Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services, which may include 7 day 

services and adult social care; and 
 • Managing Transfers of Care 
7.5 The Improved Better Care Fund Grant determination is made by the Secretary of State under 

 section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. The grant may be used only for the purposes of 
 meeting adult social care needs; reducing pressures on the NHS, including supporting more 
 people to be discharged from hospital when they are ready and ensuring that the local social 
 care provider market is supported. 

7.6 The Council is required to: 

• Pool the grant funding into the local Better Care Fund, unless the authority has written 
ministerial exemption 

• Work with the relevant Clinical Commissioning Group and providers to meet National 
Condition 4 (Managing Transfers of Care) in the Integration and Better Care Fund Policy 
Framework and Planning Requirements 2017-19 (revised 2019-20) 

• Provide quarterly reports as required by the Secretary of State 
 

 
  
 

Non-Applicable Sections:  

Background Documents: 
 

None 

 

Page 32



  

1 

Report No. 
ACH20-065 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Date:  Thursday 3rd December 2020 

Title: BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 2019/20 
ANNUAL REPORT  

Contact Officer: Bulent Djouma, Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Manager  
Adult Services, London Borough Bromley  
Tel:  020 8313 4176   E-mail: bulent.djouma@bromley.gov.uk 

Ward: Borough-wide 

 
1. Summary 

1.1  Under the secion 43 (1) of the Care Act 2014 the Local Authority is required to establish a 
Safeguarding Adults Board. The primary objective of the Board is to help and protect adults in 
Bromley by co-ordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of Board partners. The Board has an 
unrestricted remit in what it is able to do to achieve its objectives. 

1.2  The Board is required, under Schedule 2 (4) the Care Act 2014 to produce an annual report 
outlining its achievements and those of its members in relation to the Board’s strategic 
objectives. The Board must send a copy of the annual report to the Chief Executive of London 
Borough of Bromley, the Leader of the Council, the Bromley Metropolitan Police Service 
Borough Commander, CEO of SEL NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (Bromley), Chair of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and Healthwatch. 

1.3  Under section 44 of the Act the Board is required to publish any findings and recommendations 
from any Safeguarding Adults Reviews undertaken. The Board took the decision in February 
2019 to commission a SAR relating to a care home in the borough, the completion of which is 
still ongoing. 

 

2. Reason for Report going to Health and Wellbeing Board 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an overview of 
Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board’s (BSAB) 2019/20 Annual Report. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

3. SPECIFIC ACTION REQUIRED BY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AND ITS 
CONSTITUENT PARTNER ORGANISATIONS 

3.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to take note of the Bromley Safeguarding Adults 
Board’s 2019/20 Annual Report. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



  

2 

Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

1. Related priority: Not Applicable 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

Financial 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  

3. Total savings: Not Applicable  

4. Budget host organisation: Safeguarding Adults Board 

5. Source of funding: Grant Funding 

6. Beneficiary/beneficiaries of any savings: Not Applicable 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

Supporting Public Health Outcome Indicator(s) 

Not Applicable   

 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 34



  

3 

4. COMMENTARY 

4.1 Lynn Sellwood was the Independent Chair of the Board until September 2020 having taken on 
this role in March 2017. The Board fulfils its statutory obligations in ensuring that 
representatives from SEL NHS CCG (Bromley) and the Metropolitan Police Service attend the 
Board. The Board is facilitated by a broad range of representatives from the private and 
voluntary sector across the Borough as well as Lay Members. 

4.2 The Board’s 2019/20 Annual Report provides information regarding the work that has been 
undertaken during the year. Specific reference is made to the key priorities for the past year, 
which were Fire Safety in Homes, Self-Neglect, Hoarding and Domestic Abuse.  

4.3 The Board’s partners have provided information on their work in respect of adult safeguarding. 
Further information is provided outlining the safeguarding picture in Bromley, adult safeguarding 
statistics, board structure and financial contributions. 

4.4 The report acknowledges the completion of its first Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR), where 
the findings have helped shaped the work of the Board. The commissioning of the Board’s 
second SAR is also acknowledged. 

4.5 The report outlines the process taken to develop the 2020-23 three year strategy. This was 
developed in consultation with all BSAB partners, and incorporated the voice of the service 
user.  

4.6 The Board is required to collect safeguarding data and submit this to the NHS Digital 
Safeguarding Collection (SAC). The information provided helps NHS Digital gain an 
understanding of the safeguarding landscape for England. This data is outlined in the report 
appendices.  

 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on Vulnerable People and Children, Financial and 
Legal Implications, Implications for other Governance 
Arrangements, Board and Partnership arrangements, 
including any policy and financial changes required to 
process the item, and comment from the Director of Author 
Organisation 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board 2019/20 Annual Report 

 

Page 35



This page is left intentionally blank



Listening.

Empowering.

Safeguarding.

www.bromleysafeguardingadults .org

"By listening we will
empower all communities

to work together to
prevent abuse and neglect"

2019 TO 2020
ANNUAL REPORT
BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD

DRA
FT

Page 37



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 20202 Page 38



Contents

Executive summary

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020 3

4

Foreword

6

Who lives in
Bromley?

8

Who uses services in
Bromley

9

The national context

10

Priority:
Hoarding

13

Priority:
Domestic abuse

14

Key priorities for
2020 to 2021

56

Appendices

60

Priority:
Self-neglect

12

Our key priorities

11

Work of our 
subgroups

29

Work of our Board
members

36

Our key achievements
for 2019 to 2020

17

Priority:
Fire safety in homes

15

Page 39



We held regular multi-agency panel meetings to discuss areas of concern, whilst disseminating
any lessons learned. The findings from our first Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) have
progressed to the development of a self-neglect pathway.

Our sub-group committees continue to drive and deliver the work of the Board, as well as
quality assure that good safeguarding standards and practises are maintained. Our policies and
procedures are regularly reviewed and updated, whilst local safeguarding practices are also
monitored.

Communication and engagement remain an integral part of the work that we do. This year we
committed to the development of a re-branding exercise, which included the introduction of a
new BSAB logo, website and safeguarding awareness material. We also reached out to the
community with various consultation and promotional exercises.

Our typical service users are those aged over 65 who suffer from neglect or self-neglect.
However, one in four of  our service users are aged from 18 to 64. This is a picture that is
consistent  with the rest of the country.

A total of 1,041 safeguarding concerns were raised in Bromley, 63% of which progressed to
enquiries. 59% of the individuals involved were female.

We continued to support our vulnerable residents by focusing on our key priorities:

Executive summary

4 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

The London Borough of Bromley continues to
grow with a population of over 332,000, one of
the largest  in London.  

Domestic abuse Fire safety in homes

HoardingSelf-neglect

Page 40



5Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our training programme offer to professionals covered a range of safeguarding subjects, which
were delivered by both classroom-based and online learning sessions. A combined total of 2,682
training sessions were completed this year.

Our Board members, who include representatives from both the private and voluntary sectors,
have continued in their support for safeguarding practices, highlighting their key achievements for
this year and priorities for the year ahead. They also played a pivotal role in the development of our
new strategy for 2020 to 2023.

We continue to work with the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership team in tackling issues
surrounding vulnerable individuals who transition  into adulthood. To further support this, we held
a joint event on transitional safeguarding arrangements, with Dez Holmes from Research in
Practice as a guest speaker. We also continue to co-fund training on domestic abuse and 
honour-based violence.

As we end the year entering a pandemic, we are mindful of the many challenges we expect to face
from the impact of COVID-19. Our goal will be to continue working together with members so
that they have the resources and support in place to keep the community safe from harm.

Making Safeguarding Personal, which ensures that a person-centred outcome is achieved for all
safeguarding enquiries, will remain at the forefront of the work that we do.

Page 41



Foreword

I am delighted to
present the Bromley
Safeguarding Adults
Board (BSAB)
annual report for
2019 to 2020.

6 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

The Board has focused on agreeing our new
three year strategy and thematic priorities. To
that end several consultations took place. The
strategy was launched in January 2020.

This can be found on our new website, which
has also taken a huge effort from partners to
bring to fruition. The creation of the website
has been part of our drive to bring the
community into our work enabling the Board
to inform and influence safeguarding practice
in Bromley.

Our annual conference took place in October
2019 and was an opportunity to come
together as practitioners and managers to
properly address priority areas identified by
the Board at local, London and National level.

We wanted to increase the amount of
interaction with each other and created the
opportunity to listen to users. The video of
the conference can be found on our website.
We also had well-attended events during
National Safeguarding Week, which covered a
range of topics including Self-Neglect,
Domestic Abuse, Modern Slavery, and
Disability Awareness and Safeguarding.

By Lynn Sellwood,

Independent Chair

Please note:
Lynn Sellwood left her role as Chair at
the time of the publication of this report

Page 42



A Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) for Ms A was published in June 2019. Board members
understand that learning from this process is paramount and we can demonstrate that things will
change as a result. Bromley was also part of a SAR for Mr Michael Thompson, which was
commissioned by Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board. This was published in October 2018 and
can also be found on the website.

The Board took the decision to commission a SAR relating to a care home in the borough. It has
been a challenge to compile and it is hoped that it will be published in early 2021.

We should all be aware that SARs are not an exercise in apportioning blame but are commissioned
so that lessons can be learned, and good practice applied in the future.

The Board is proud to address issues around Homelessness and Rough Sleeping, Modern Slavery,
Domestic Abuse and transitional care for young adults. Some of the work planned was overtaken
by events brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic but I have been guided by colleagues in the
Council and South East London Clinical Commissioning Group and those on the London and
National Boards of Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Chairs.

I would like to thank everyone involved in the work of the Board. Their time, passion and
professionalism are the reason why I am so confident that the Board will achieve its objectives. I
look forward to another year where we work together to keep the vulnerable people of Bromley
safe from harm.

7Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020Page 43



Who lives in Bromley?

332,000+

8 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

18%

49,600+
people live with a
long-term illness

39,700+
adults aged 18-64 
have a mental health
diagnosis

19%
from a BAME*
background

41.5
years, average age
compared with national average of 40.2 years

people live here

are aged 65+

* 
Bl

ac
k,

 A
sia

n 
an

d 
m

in
or

ity
 e

th
ni

c
4,900+
adults aged 18-64 
have a learning 
disability

72.5%
of those expected to
have dementia are
diagnosed

Page 44



9Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Who uses services in bromley?

14,166
people accessed services
from Bromley Well

9,170
of these were
new clients

9,589
came via the 
Single Point of Access

20,500+
calls received by Adult
Early Intervention Service

1,700
calls per month, 
on average

6,400+
referrals to 
adult social services

3,000+
aged 18+ accessing 
long-term support

606
adults in
residential care

254
adults in
nursing care

90%+
residential and nursing
home providers in
Bromley are graded 
Good or better 
by the Care Quality
Commission

Page 45



The national context

As professional conversations continue up and down the
country, Making Safeguarding Personal is at the forefront
of these discussions with local and national initiatives
implemented to unite best practice. Engaging service
users is integral to this.

10 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

The Safeguarding Children, Young People and Adults at Risk in the NHS: Safeguarding Accountability
Assurance Framework by NHS England and NHS Improvement was revised in August 2019. This is
intended to clarify the roles and responsibilities of those we work with in a system that is
developing rapidly. It also provides the flexibility needed at local level to support professional
practice and the partnerships needed to promote healthy behaviours to keep individuals and
communities safe from harm.

Regionally, the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) continue it's work in tackling the
safeguarding issues which impact on boroughs across London. The London Tackling Violence
Against Women and Girls strategy addresses one of the most important issues facing our city. 

With their recent plan of commissioning a review into stakeholder engagement with victims and
survivors of Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) across London, MOPAC strengthens the
vision of making safeguarding everybody’s business.

Increase in awareness on other issues such as Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking reinforces
the importance of exposing this abhorrent organised crime. Regular coverage by mainstream
news items help inform the nation of what is going on around us, another step towards making
issues such as these our business. A regular feed of stories on the BBC web page dedicated to
Human Trafficking reveals the impact this issue is having on the victims involved. The hard-hitting
documentary aired in September 2019 told the story of some of the 300 victims from Poland who
were lured to the UK.

Page 46



Our key priorities
for 2019 to 2020

Domestic abuse Fire safety in homes

Hoarding

11Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Self-neglect

Page 47



PRIORITY
SELF-NEGLECT

Self-neglect is a behavioural condition in which an individual neglects to attend to
their basic needs, such as personal hygiene, appropriate clothing, feeding or
tending appropriately to any medical conditions they have. This can result in poor
health and wellbeing, as well as impacting on those surrounding the individual
including the public.

Disseminated the learning from our first SAR where self-neglect was the key theme of
this evaluation. As a result, we are working towards developing a self-neglect pathway
for frontline professionals together with neighbouring boroughs.

Included self-neglect as a workshop topic in our annual conference held in October
2019. Professionals from all backgrounds worked together to discuss their views on
this and compare their individual perception of this issue.

Continued raising the awareness of self-neglect through various professional training,
which was also included in our Safeguarding Awareness Week in November 2019.

12 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

In extreme cases self-neglect can be the primary cause of an individual’s death. Self-neglect
makes up approximately 22% of safeguarding enquiries in Bromley, an increase of 10% compared
with the previous year.

In response we have:

22%
of safeguarding
enquiries relate to
self-neglect

Page 48



PRIORITY

HOARDING

13Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Hoarding is the compulsive collection of items that are typically stored in a chaotic
manner. Although items collected often have little value, these are perceived as
being useful or valuable by the adult.

The impact of hoarding can affect the health of the individual as well as their personal
relationships. It can also put their life, and others, at risk with some incidences resulting in fires.

In response we have:

Continued with addressing individual cases through  our Self-Neglect and Hoarding
Panel whilst also providing specialist multi-agency advice and support to all agencies.

Reviewed 26 cases with attendees representing at least six different organisations,
including health partners and the Council.

Included hoarding in our self-neglect poster campaign to raise awareness.

Page 49



PRIORITY

DOMESTIC ABUSE

14 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Domestic abuse affects people of every age, race, disability, gender or sexuality, and
can either be physical, emotional, sexual or financial, or it can be a combination of all
of these. It can include an incident or a pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive,
degrading, threatening and violent behaviour.

Domestic abuse is not only towards a partner, it can also take place between family members or
by carers. Although most domestic abuse is committed by men towards women, there are an
increasing number of victims who are men. 4,780 cases of domestic abuse were reported to the
Metropolitan Police in Bromley during 2019.

In response we have:

Raised awareness of domestic abuse within the deaf community during our annual
Safeguarding Awareness Week in November 2019.

Worked with partner organisations in identifying areas of domestic abuse training given
to staff.

Developed safeguarding posters that highlight awareness of domestic abuse.

Worked with the Early Intervention and Family Support Services in Children’s Services
to distribute our awareness posters on their social media and across remote locations
within their service.

4,780
cases of domestic
abuse were reported
to the police

Page 50



PRIORITY

FIRE SAFETY IN HOMES

15Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

The most effective way of keeping residents safe from fire is to help them
understand the common risks in order to reduce these.

Working together with the London Fire Brigade, we continue to refer people for a home fire
safety visit where we have concerns that a person’s living conditions may pose a risk to them.

In response we have:

Conducted 3,278 Home Fire Safety visits, with an average of 273 each month.

Provided an online safeguarding training package for all station-based staff across the
borough.

Developed safeguarding posters that highlight awareness of fire safety at home.

Provided valuable feedback on fatal fire reviews.

Page 51



16 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Seeing our impact: Story 1

The Council were so concerned by this suggested approach that they took the case to the Court
of Protection. This involved instructing counsel and then attending several hearings as well as
having round table discussions. The Court required specialist reports from an independent social
worker and then an independent occupational therapist together with a Section 49 (of the Mental
Capacity Act 2005) report regarding her capacity from her GP. The Court agreed with the Council
that Miss A should remain in a nursing care home in her best interest.  

Her daughter then wanted to move Miss A to a different care home. Again, the Council did not
think this was in her best interest. So a further decision was required from the Court of
Protection together with new statements from her daughter, the Council's adult services and the
care home as well as Mrs A's GP.  Miss A then had to have the official solicitor acting on her
behalf. 

The Court process now involved three solicitors and their Official Solicitor and evidence was
heard at Court in addition to statements provided. Several round table meetings also took place
with the above prior to the Court hearing. 

The Court of Protection agreed with the Council's recommendation for her to remain in the same
nursing home.

Miss A was living in a care home and her funding status changed from continuing health care to
social care.  The daughter had Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA). Her daughter wanted to take
Miss A home and provide care to her there. 

The Council were concerned that this was an unsafe approach. However, her daughter was
adamant that she could provide care and was insistent that this happened. Miss A did not have
capacity due to an advanced dementia. 

The situation

What we did

Page 52



Our key achievements

17Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

for 2019 to 2020

Engagement Communication
Annual

conference

Safeguarding

awareness week

Board membership

& structure

Safeguarding

Adult Reviews

Joint working

with BSCP
Audits

Local

consultations

National

consultations

Page 53



We delivered a series of presentations on Safeguarding Awareness to the community.
Safer Neighbourhood panels at Hayes & Coney Hall and Plaistow & Sundridge were
among those who hosted the BSAB.

We developed a service user consultation questionnaire on Safeguarding Awareness,
which was made available on the Council’s website and shared with partners for
distribution. This was also promoted by the Council through a series of tweets on
their social media platforms.

Engagement

18 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

We delivered a presentation to BSAB members on the remit of the Board at our
annual Safeguarding Awareness Week in November 2019. Attendees were given the
opportunity to share their views and experiences.

Our aim to engage with the wider community extended to consulting service users on
Safeguarding Awareness at a drop-in centre for people who have a learning disability
organised by Bromley Mencap. By having a direct conversation, as well as using easy
read questionnaires, we gained a further understanding of what safeguarding meant
to this cohort. This helped to shape our new strategy.

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

Page 54



A re-branding exercise took place where we consulted our partners on a new BSAB
logo, which is now featured on all communication materials. Careful thought was
given to the design and choice of colour to reflect hope and strength.

Safeguarding Awareness posters were developed, which covered our key priority
areas. These were distributed digitally to all partners, and over 370 printed copies
were sent to 45 GPs throughout Bromley, as well as 15 different locations including
libraries, Bromley Adult Education College and Day Centres. Our colleagues at the
Early Intervention and Family Support team (Children’s Services) also supported with
the distribution of these, and as a result these reached in excess of 400 people in a
short space of time via the the Bromley Children Project Facebook page.

As we approached winter 2019, we shared the ‘Keep Warm Keep Well’ information
booklet produced by HM Government with all BSAB partners. This provided practical
guidance to vulnerable adults during the cold winter months.

We also updated our Self-Neglect leaflet and distributed this along with Modern
Slavery and Human Trafficking material produced by the Home Office and Salvation
Army.

Communication

19Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

We began the procurement process for a BSAB independent website. A working
group, which included representatives from the Council and Bromley health partners,
helped to drive this project, with the expected launch to take place in 2020.

A seasonal newsletter was produced to update partners on the work of the current
safeguarding climate both locally and nationally. We also supported Bromley Well by
sharing with partners information they produced such as their Mental Wellbeing
Newsletter.

Page 55



We held our annual conference on 8 October 2019 at The Warren, Bromley. The
theme for this year was ‘Think-Share-Exchange’ and focused on creating an event
shaped around interaction, brainstorming, networking, self-assessment and reflection.

Mental Capacity and the Knotty Problem of Fluctuating Capacity
Modern Slavery
Trading Standards: A multi-agency approach

Our guest speakers covered the following topics:

We also had the privilege of hearing a service user’s perspective from Bright
Deafblind, Bromley Mencap and The A Team

Living in care homes: Older people’s sex, sexuality and intimate relationships
Homelessness and safeguarding
Developing a shared professional understanding of self- neglect and multi-agency
interventions
What supports the process of effectively embedding learning from Safeguarding
Adult Reviews (SARs)

The four extended sessions included topics on:

“I was very impressed with the breadth of information presented and its relevance
to my daily role”
“Good range of information shared, all of interest and applicable”
“All areas of the content were informative and thought provoking with regard to
how I undertake safeguarding adults’ procedures”

The conference was attended by 123 professionals across the borough from various
organisations. The overall feedback was good/excellent, and the following are some
of the comments that were made:

Annual conference

20 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

Page 56



Self-Neglect
The structure of the Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board
Bromley, Lewisham, Greenwich (BLG) MIND – Services
Learning from Tragedies – Alcohol Change
Domestic Abuse in the Deaf Community
The Work of the Independent Domestic Violence Advocate
Modern Day Slavery in the UK and the Role of Local Authorities
Disability Awareness and Safeguarding

Our Safeguarding Awareness Week ran from 25 November and was held in various
locations. This provided bitesize one-hour learning sessions relevant to the work of
the Board and included the following topic areas:

Types of abuse and neglect and Section 42 safeguarding threshold decision making.

12 separate sessions were held, with a total attendance of 107, representing 41
different departments across the Board. We had representation from core partners,
health services and the voluntary sector partners. 

Safeguarding Awareness Week

21Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

Page 57



We reviewed the existing membership of the Board and welcomed new delegates
from existing partner organisations. We also evaluated the structure of the BSAB and
its sub-groups, and where possible reviewed the frequency of annual meetings in
order to streamline the number of these held throughout the year. As a result, we can
focus on delivering key projects, such as the implementation and management of the
new BSAB website, which bring all members together and encourages regular
interaction outside of meetings.

We reviewed all referrals made to the Safeguarding Adults Review committee and
looked for opportunities to disseminate any learning across the borough.

Board membership & structure

22 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR)

We commissioned the borough’s second SAR, which relates to a care home in the
borough. This is expected to be completed during 2020.

The SAR policy was updated to reflect learning from our first SAR published in March
2020.

We continue to look at local and national SARs and share relevant information with
members as learning.

Page 58



We held a joint event on 31 October 2019 to discuss issues around those who
transition from Children’s Services to Adult Services. Our guest Speaker Dez Holmes,
from Research in Practice, led the discussion on our transitional safeguarding
arrangements. The objective is to ensure that those citizens transitioning age specific
provisions and/or between different services can access the uninterrupted support
they need.

We worked with the BSCP with the development of the FGM protocol, which has
seen an update on genital piercing; identifying non-consenting women and/or girls
who are likely to raise safeguarding concerns and should be reported.

Joint working with the Bromley

Safeguarding Children

Partnership (BSCP)

23Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

We continue to work with the BSCP to co-fund staff training on domestic abuse and
honour-based violence training.

We provided support and guidance in relation to adult safeguarding with a Learning
Review that was undertaken by the BSCP.

Together with the BSCP, we formed a working group to begin developing a Modern-
Day Slavery policy and toolkit, with input from the Human Trafficking Foundation –
expected to be completed in 2020.

Page 59



The BSAB continues holding regular challenge events with its members, which
encourages individual organisations to complete the self-audit ‘Safeguarding Adults at
Risk Audit Tool’ (SARAT) and present to the Board. We audit agencies across the
private, voluntary and independent sectors. The objective is to share internal
processes and practises that form the basis of a discussion, where any key learning is
identified and disseminated.

A regional consultation took place to test a pan-London audit tool, the ‘Safeguarding
Adults Partnership Audit Tool’ (SAPAT), designed to streamline the original process.
The SAPAT focuses on Making Safeguarding Personal, Application of the Mental
Capacity Act, Liberty Protection Safeguards, and SARs. This new audit tool will be
used for future audits.

The Council's Adult Services Quality Assurance Team audited 80 cases internally, the
findings showed good compliance with Adult Social Care Recording guidance. The
standard reflected person-centred casework, with good evidence of clear rationale of
all key decisions made.

Audits

24 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

We support adults to fully understand and engage with our work by ensuring that
help is offered to those with communication difficulties, as well as advocacy when
needed.

Page 60



There is evidence that care managers demonstrate professional curiosity to explore
safeguarding concerns to establish an understanding of the situation. This includes the
adult's wishes and the outcome they want to achieve.

There is good evidence that the risks which trigger safeguarding procedures have
been addressed in line with Council’s Adult Social Care Safeguarding Policy and
Procedures. Case files evidence that care managers consider the adult’s capacity to
make specific decisions at all key points of the safeguarding concern (or the risk
identified), using the five statutory principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005.

We are in the process of developing a Self-Neglect pathway for frontline
practitioners, together with neighbouring boroughs.

We supported the development of the Suicide Prevention Plan together with the
Bromley Public Health team.

25Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

Local consultations

We started conversations on how to address safeguarding rough sleepers in the
borough. A preliminary meeting was held (pre-lockdown), which was widely attended
by multi-agency partners with representation from Bromley Councillors.

Page 61



The BSAB Board manager is a member of the London Safeguarding Adults Board
Managers Network and attends regular meetings. The Board Manager participates in
consultation projects such as the pilot of the SAPAT tool previously mentioned. The
Board’s Chair is a member of the London SAB Chairs and National SAB Chairs
networks.

We are a member of the Modern-Day Slavery Leads Group, where we regularly
receive and disseminate information surrounding this increasing issue.

We attended the NHS London Region Safeguarding against Violence Against Women
and Girls (VAWG) workshop on 10 December 2019, which held a range of discussions
around Domestic Abuse. Guest speaker Luke Hart shared his compelling experience
of a story which gripped the nation in 2016.

26 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

We attended the London ADASS Annual Safeguarding Conference on 6 February
2020, which covered a range of safeguarding topics and had Dr Adi Cooper and
Professor Michael Preston Shoot as guest speakers.

National consultations

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

Page 62



We developed our new three-year strategy, which incorporates our findings from our
public engagement consultations. We held an Away Day on 30 September 2019 to
finalise the strategy. The event was attended by 17 Board members from 15
departments across 13 different organisations, which included core partners and a
service user. 

Our new strategy was also documented in the Council’s Draft Community Safety
Strategy.

Our Vision: 
By listening we will empower all communities to work together to prevent abuse and
neglect.
 
Our Mission:
To drive effective multi-agency working, placing the adult at risk at the centre of all that
we do.
 
Our strategic statement: 
We will work together with people in our communities and partner agencies to achieve a
positive and safe life for all adults to live free from abuse and neglect.

BSAB strategy for 2020-23

27Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Our key achievements for 2019 to 2020

domestic abuse
financial abuse
self-neglect
modern day slavery
transitional care of children into adulthood
vulnerable adults in specialist care and residential homes

Our work will cover all areas of safeguarding concerns with a focus on key
safeguarding issues:

Page 63



28 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Seeing our impact: Story 2

The LPA became quite challenging and demanded a further change in care manager and he was
also in conflict with their siblings – there has been a history of family conflict – who also believed
that Miss B’s needs would best be met in a care home. 

The Council's Adult Services arranged an urgent Court of Protection hearing.

After further assessments and reports as well as round table meetings with the Official Solicitor,
this resulted in a decision for a transition to a named care home. 

This was an interim decision and the decision will return to the Court of Protection under a
challenge to the DOLS decision for which legal aid is available. 

The Council had to bear the cost of the Official Solicitor prior to this as well as the costs for their
own legal representation at court.

Miss B was discharged from hospital to an extra care housing scheme. She had dementia and was
quite demanding, wanting to leave the building many times per day as well as other challenges.

The cost of the support became prohibitive and unsustainable due to the amount of one to one
care that was required to manage these behaviours.

One of her children had Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA) for health and welfare and was adamant
that Miss B should return home. Miss B did not have the mental capacity to make the specific
decision about where she should live or about her care provision.

The Council agreed to trial a return home with a live-in carer for several weeks to assess if a
return home would reduce the behavioural challenges and enable a sustainable support plan to be
put in place. It soon became evident that this was not going to be sustainable despite the LPA
being adamant that she should remain at home.

The situation

What we did

Page 64



Work of the Subgroups

29Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Policies and

Procedures

Performance, Audit

and Quality

Training and

Awareness

Communications and

Service User Engagement

Self-Neglect and

Hoarding Panel

Page 65



30 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Policies and Procedures

Chair:
Paul Sibun
Adult Safeguarding Manager - NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group (Bromley)

A scheduling exercise was commenced in relation to BSAB policies, to highlight those due
reviews and to assist prioritisation of tasks. The group agreed a standard format that Policies
will adopt to ensure there is a professional, consistent organisational approach to Policy
development.
Group members contributed to The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) Policy on Crimes
Against Older People; it recognises that older people are often targeted because of their age
and a perception that they are vulnerable, and this can have a devastating impact on them.
A revised Pressure Ulcer Protocol (PUP) was created that complements the guidance from the
‘Safeguarding Adults Protocol Safeguarding Adults Protocol - Pressure Ulcers and the
interface with a Safeguarding Enquiry’ issued by the Department of Health and Social Care
(DoHSC).
Changes to the BSAB Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) policy were commenced to reflect
learning during the Ms ‘A’ SAR process. These include highlighting the flexibility required
when asking providers to complete chronologies and/or Individual Management Reviews
(IMRs), bringing the BSAB manager more into the referral and authorisation process. We also
identified that contributors to SARs would welcome specialised IMR training.
Police presented guidance clarifying local procedures on:

How to report Adult Safeguarding incidents which are crimes or suspected crimes to
Police,
How to obtain advice from Police where it is unclear if the threshold for a crime has been
met or make a request for Information Sharing, and
The role of Police in Adult Safeguarding investigations.

The NHS Safeguarding Children, Young People and Adults at Risk in the NHS: Safeguarding
Accountability and Assurance Framework (SAAF) document was presented to the group. Its
importance to Safeguarding in the NHS makes it worthy of mention - it sets out clearly the
safeguarding roles and responsibilities  of all individuals working in providers of NHS funded
care settings and NHS commissioning organisations. It also acknowledges the changing
landscape of place-based system leadership with the introduction of Integrated Care Systems
(ICSs) and Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and indicates that Safeguarding must be considered
in these new integrated systems.

Page 66



31Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Chair:
Heather Payne 
Head of Adult Safeguarding - King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

The group collates safeguarding referrals and areas of concern from partners to understand
the local picture. Agencies are required to provide a regular activity update.
Information from the Commissioned Service Intelligence Group is regularly discussed for
oversight as well as sharing best practice.
An overview of the Council’s internal case file audits is shared with this group.
Monitoring of the Safeguarding Adults at Risk Audit Tool (SARAT) challenge events takes
place within this forum. The recent consultation of the new pan-London audit tool is also
discussed with this group.
Learning from our first SAR has progressed to the development of a tri-borough self-neglect
pathway. Ensuring this does not duplicate the work of the existing Self-Neglect and Hoarding
Panel, this group oversees the implementation of this project.
Local policies relevant to the work of this group are presented for discussion and oversight, as
well as national Learning Reviews for dissemination.
The group ensures that Making Safeguarding Personal is embedded into practice and is
promoted at all opportunities.

Performance, Audit and

Quality

Page 67



32 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Training and Awareness

Chair:
Antoinette Thorne
Head of Workforce Development - London Borough of Bromley

The BSAB training programme (2019-20) offer included both classroom-based and online
learning session, which were accessible to the following target groups:

London Borough of Bromley
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Bromley Healthcare
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Metropolitan Police
Educational staff
Members of the private, community and non-profit sectors
Other health professionals

The total number of places on offer was 635 of which 613 places were taken up. Of the 613
places, the highest proportion (65%) of attendance was by Council staff.
During Safeguarding Awareness Week, due to an enhanced marketing strategy, 107 further
places were taken up bringing the total course attendance to 720.
Our E-Learning offer made a further 16 courses accessible for Adult Safeguarding within the
borough. A total of 1,962 E-learning courses were completed by professionals and volunteers
in the borough who work with adults at risk.
The feedback collated from evaluations, completed by delegates at the end of each course,
has been very positive with 75% scoring ‘Excellent’ and 22% scoring ‘Good’.
A new E-Learning course ‘Coronavirus Awareness’ was commissioned and added to the suite
of Safeguarding training during lockdown in March 2020.
Four courses were postponed at the end of March 2020 due to COVID-19. Workforce
Development gave trainers the option to deliver this training using virtual methods, for
example live webinars, however the content needed to be redesigned. New lesson plans have
now been submitted for delivery in this format going forward.
The Board agreed that the 2020-21 BSAB training programme will be redesigned and
delivered through virtual means.

Page 68



33Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Communications and Service

User Engagement Group

(CSUEG)

Chair:
Mary Mason
Head of Innovation & Partnerships: Health - Hestia

The group prioritised communication with its Members, Partners and Bromley Residents and
procured, tendered and commissioned a new BSAB website which would facilitate
information sharing and partnership working. An editorial subgroup has been set up to
approve and monitor content and ensure our campaigns are targeted and effective in line
with the BSAB strategy and key annual priorities.
A BSAB newsletter was launched and is now published seasonally. Partners are encouraged
to produce editorial content to share best practice around safeguarding and news and items
of interest that will promote safeguarding awareness across the Borough.
New awareness raising materials were designed using a collaborative approach; imagery used
in the final published posters was selected by engagement with our members and partners at
the annual BSAB conference.
A ‘Safeguarding Champions’ model is being developed to empower community groups to
communicate key safeguarding messages to the wider community.
A Social Media presence has been launched to complement the website to again promote
wider knowledge and understanding of Safeguarding to our residents.
Membership of the CSUEG Subgroup has been expanded to incorporate key members who
can offer wider access to hard to reach groups in the community.
A survey was undertaken to achieve baseline data to assess general understanding about
Safeguarding prior to the launch of the group’s initiatives. This will be refreshed periodically
to evaluate progress in achieving our aims of greater understanding, safeguarding prevention
and excellent safeguarding practice in Bromley.
Our editorial sub-group has sought representation from service users with lived experience to
advise and vet all new materials before we publish to ensure all media produced will be in a
format that is accessible to all.

Page 69



34 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Chair:
Sara Bean
Tenancy Sustainment Team Leader - Clarion Housing Group

The panel continues to meet monthly and is well attended by all agencies. We have received
referrals from a variety of organisations, with more services becoming aware of our presence
and role.
We have successfully raised the profile of self-neglect as more referrals in this area are now
received.
Feedback from referrers on our input is encouraged as we continue to emphasise the remit of
this forum, which is an advisory role.
We have highlighted the need for further services for this complex cohort of clients and raise
to the SAR panel any concerns relating to the death of those referred to panel.
Multi agency working is the key to assisting those who self-neglect and/or hoard, and the
panel has been able to break down some of the barriers allowing this to happen more freely.
We have become better at understanding how dynamic agency systems are, and the use of
terminology to describe individual scenarios.
A total of 26 cases were referred to the panel for discussion in 2019-20, with regular
representation from Bromley Adult Services, Clarion Housing, Bromley Healthcare, Oxleas
NHS Trust, BLG Mind, The London Fire Service and our SEL CCG Named GP.

Self-Neglect and Hoarding

Panel

Page 70



35Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Seeing our impact: Story 3

An investigation by Trading Standards resulted in a conviction in February 2020 of a rogue trader
for fraud offences. His sentencing has been delayed due to the COVID pandemic outbreak in
early 2020. What's more, no compensation has been awarded – and is unlikely to do so as no
assets were found during a thorough financial investigation.
 
In a victim impact statement, the resident said:

“Before this incident I was very trusting. I am a lot less trusting of people that I don’t know now. The
money that was taken from me was my life savings that I was hoping to pass on to my son. I now live
solely off my pension and have no money to fall back on if needed. Two years have gone by since this
happened to me and I still feel anxious. I will never feel comfortable at home because of these men.”

In December 2017 an 86-year-old Bromley resident phoned Trading Standards to report that he
had been cold called by someone who said they had worked on his roof previously and wanted to
check the work. He was told further essential work was required.

He went on to pay £17,500 by way of cash and bank transfers over the course of a couple of
weeks for work which should have cost no more than £1,600; however, the work done was so
poor it had no value and would need to be repaired at a further cost.

During the investigation a second elderly victim was identified who had also paid a significant
sum for bogus roof repairs. She had also been cold called by the trader and falsely advised that
essential roof works were needed on her property.

The situation

What we did

Page 71



The work of our Board

members

36 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

London Borough of Bromley:

Adult Social Care

Dirk Holtzhausen 
Head of Service: Safeguarding, Practice and Quality Improvement

As the lead agency, Adult Services is responsible for receiving all safeguarding referrals and will
make enquiries, or cause others to do so, if it believes an adult is experiencing, or is at risk of,
abuse or neglect. Working within the principles of Making Safeguarding Personal, officers work
with individuals, their families, friends and carers, as appropriate, to establish whether any action
needs to be taken to prevent or stop abuse or neglect and if so, by who.
 
Adult Services has a well-established case file audit process in place. The auditing of safeguarding
enquiries takes place at all stages of the safeguarding process. It combines a peer audit process
with an element of external scrutiny.

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Safeguarding audits showed that person centred approaches are utilised and that adults are
asked what outcomes they want. Staff are working with the adult and relevant stakeholders
to support the adult to achieve their identified outcomes.     
Mental Capacity Act 2005 audits showed that mental capacity assessments are appropriately
completed using the five statutory principles of this Act. Our staff are utilising advocacy and
relevant support services for the adult including Independent Mental Capacity Advocates.
Audits also evidence that care managers have considered the adult’s mental capacity to make
specific decisions at all key points of the safeguarding enquiry process, using the five
statutory principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005.
From the file audits there is good evidence that the risks which trigger safeguarding
procedures are being addressed in line with relevant safeguarding policies and procedures.
The Adult Services Principal Social Worker post was established.

Page 72



37Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

What we plan to do

Review and update the Council's safeguarding policies and procedures.
Review and update the Adult Services supervision policy.
Finalise the restructuring of the Adult Early Intervention Service.
Implement the new Liquidlogic social care information system which will replace CareFirst
and is designed to be used by a range of workers across children’s and adults’ services.
Appoint a Principal Social Worker to lead on, oversee and develop excellent social work
practice.
As part of our Transformation Programme to work closely with Social Care Institute for
Excellence (SCIE) to develop and publish our Strengths Based Framework.

We have created a new post and recruited a Head of Service for Safeguarding, Practice and
Quality Improvement to provide professional leadership, advice, guidance and development
for safeguarding adults across the department with responsibility for the management and
oversight of individual complex safeguarding cases, audits, and ensuring lessons learnt from
audits are embedded in practice.
A permanent Service Manager for the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Team was recruited
to act as the Local Authority Lead Practitioner for the Mental Capacity Act ensuring that the
Council fulfils its responsibilities under the Mental Capacity Act 2005.

Page 73



38 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

NHS South East London Clinical

Commissioning Group – Bromley

Claire Lewin 
Head of Safeguarding

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Pro-actively contributed to, and supported the work of, the Bromley Safeguarding Adults
Board (BSAB) by providing oversight, from a Health perspective, of all the functions of the
Board through our statutory member status including:

Chairing and membership of all meeting processes
Statutory reviews i.e. Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs)
The new BSAB website procurement process

Further Reviewed and updated the following policies to ensure that we, and the services we
commission, are compliant with current legislation and statutory guidance, with regards to
safeguarding adults at risk:

Safeguarding  Adults through Commissioning Policy, Standards and Guidance
Mental capacity and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) policy
Domestic abuse in the workplace policy

Continued to obtain assurance that safeguarding arrangements of healthcare services,
including GPs, are effective. The CCG has acknowledged the changing landscape of 

Strengthened safeguarding practice in Primary Care through the named GP for Safeguarding
Adults:

Delivering GP Training covering a variety of safeguarding topics including -
Prevent (radicalisation)
Safe Surgeries (an initiative promoting safe registration at GP Surgeries for vulnerable
patient groups.) and
Raising awareness of homelessness  and its contributing factors.

Supporting and representing GPs in statutory review processes, such as SARs and
Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs)

place-based system leadership with the introduction of Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) and
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) - Safeguarding must be considered in these new integrated
systems; however, currently, the responsibility to provide assurance of such safeguarding
services still sits with CCGs.

Page 74



39Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

What we plan to do

The NHS has been facing unprecedented challenges during the COVID-19 crisis.
Safeguarding has been identified as a business priority area in the response to the pandemic.
It has highlighted vulnerabilities nationally and we will concentrate our efforts to ensure that
vulnerable groups are not disadvantaged in their health provision and that they are protected
from harm and abuse.
On 1 April 2020, the NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group (SELCCG) was
established. The new CCG is made up of the previous six South East London CCGs in Bexley,
Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham  and Southwark.
CCG Safeguarding services and the support of local Boards, such as the BSAB, will continue
to be delivered locally.
Prepare for the implementation of the new Mental Capacity Act (Amendment Bill), due for
enactment on 1 October 2020 (now delayed by the Government), by continuing with our
delivery plan
Ensure that health representation is effective and visible through the Domestic Abuse
victim/survivor journey i.e. that they are in an environment where they are confident to
disclose to staff, who take them seriously and show understanding, and that the local health
system supports them to do so.

In March 2020, the CCG established a COVID-19 control centre to provide control and
command, co-ordination and decision-making across the integrated care system (ICS).
Workstreams included: primary and community care; acute care; demand and capacity;
discharge; estates; and PPE and supplies. In addition, subject matter expertise (SME) support
was identified in mental health and learning disabilities services, information technology and
care homes. Safeguarding was identified as a business priority area and continued to support
and contribute to the pandemic response.

Page 75



40 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

London Borough of Bromley:

housing

Tracey Wilson
Head of Compliance and Strategy

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

We have published the Housing Strategy 2019-29 which sets out what the Council plans to
do over the next ten years to address housing pressures in the borough and provide good
quality housing for its residents, both now and in the future.
We secured funding to facilitate specialist support for rough sleepers, enabling us to work
closely with charity partners and provide additional access to advice, support and
accommodation over the winter months.
We, along with our Housing Association partners, have re-established the Bromley Federation
of Housing Associations Strategic Group and created a newly formed Development Group to
share best practice, engage in joint projects and support the development of existing and new
affordable housing stock.

What we plan to do

We will be working closely with households effected by the COVID-19 pandemic: those
whom the Council is supporting via the Government's “Everyone In” initiative. We have
formed a multi-agency rough sleepers response group and are undertaking assessments and
providing a support offer for all rough sleepers temporarily housed between March and June
2020 in order to assist them to access the services they need and secure settled
accommodation.
We will be progressing the work of the housing transformation agenda in order to increase
the volume of affordable accommodation. The first modular housing scheme to be built in
borough was approved by Committee in July 2020 and is hopefully the first of many such
schemes.
We will continue to strengthen our Housing Options and Prevention services by increasing
the level of early intervention and outreach work we do in conjunction with our partner
agencies. We will expand upon the success of the prevention work undertaken with Clarion
Housing Association to other Housing Associations operating within the borough and we will
be reintroducing the Sanctuary Scheme in order to keep people experiencing violence safe in
their homes.

Page 76



41Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Bromley Healthcare

Charlotte Dick
Named Adult Safeguarding Lead

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

We identified and raised our first modern day slavery case in Bromley borough, which was
successfully coordinated with the Council and Bromley Metropolitan Police. The victim was
successfully placed in a safe house and has thanked all involved for their contribution to
ensuring her safety. Our Named Adult Safeguarding Lead will continue to be a member of the
Modern-Day Slavery Working Group contributing to developing a policy and pathway.
We have started to deliver revised face to face Level 3 adult safeguarding training in line with
the intercollegiate document requirements. Safeguarding adults training compliance at all
levels has maintained a high level of compliance and continues to increase.
There has been an increase of staff awareness and identification of patients that are 
self-neglecting. This has been evidenced by the 67% increase in safeguarding concerns
relating to this that have been raised within BHC in 2019/2020 compared to 2018/2019.

What we plan to do

The Named Adult Safeguarding Lead will continue to work with BHC’s Head of Learning and
Development to meet trajectory targets for training, ensuring compliance of 80% and above
at all safeguarding levels is maintained. This will continue to be monitored through the BHC
Safeguarding Adults Strategy and Learning Group.
Bromley Healthcare to ensure compliance with the new legislation in Mental Capacity
Act/Deprivation of Liberty Protection Safeguards as set out in the code of practice when
passed. The Named Adult Safeguarding Lead will continue to update BHC’s Safeguarding
Adults Strategy and Learning Group and Executive on the position.
We will work with service leads to ensure all clinical staff complete MCA training in line with
the new changes to the Mental Capacity Act and will be added to the mandatory training
requirements for all relevant staff.
We will agree a strategy to give assurance that Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is
embedded in all safeguarding concerns that are raised.

Page 77



42 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

South London and Maudsley NHS Trust

David Lynch
Safeguarding Adult Lead (Interim)

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) provides a range of community and
inpatient psychiatric care across South London. Royal Bethlem Hospital is based in 270 acres of
green space in Bromley. The hospital is home to several specialist services for people from across
the UK such as our anxiety disorders residential and a forensic unit. The hospital also provides
psychiatric inpatient care for Croydon residents.
 
Over the last three years, the Council and SLaM have worked constructively to improve our
working relationship and provide assurance of our ability to safeguard our patients from harm and
improper treatment. This commenced with a joint project which concluded in 2019 and has now
transformed into a productive working relationship.

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Improved the quality of safeguarding practice - reflective practice sessions were instigated
across the Bethlem site.  These were complemented by training workshops which included
support and co-facilitation by the local authority safeguarding team.
Carried out an audit of 10 referrals – the outcome provided assurance that that principles of
Making Safeguarding Personal were being embedded into practice.
Improved data reporting – the accuracy of safeguarding data has improved and is reviewed by
both organisations on a quarterly basis.

What we plan to do

Implement the Intercollegiate guidance on Safeguarding Adult Competencies ensuring that
inpatient staff have the required competency to address safeguarding concerns.
To improve our partnership with the Council we have employed a full time named
safeguarding practitioner lead based at the Bethlem Hospital site to help achieve this priority.
To review our safeguarding adult documentation to enable staff to report concerns to the
Council in a concise and timely manner.

Page 78



43Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

 SLaM and the Council have adopted a joint approach to investigating a whistleblowing
incident. This enabled both organisations to undertake enquiries in an efficient manner and to
achieve appropriate outcomes for the person raising the concern and the person at risk,
which provided assurance to both organisations.
The Council's safeguarding team have contributed to the induction of new ward managers
and have in-reached on the wards to offer one-to-one support and guidance, which the new
managers really appreciated.
Members of the Council's safeguarding team were invited to join an internal Serious Incident
investigation panel. This improved interagency working and provided a degree of
transparency in relation to the Serious Incident process adopted within our organisation.

Examples of positive joint working:

Age UK Bromley & Greenwich

Mark Ellison 
Chief Executive

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

In the last 12 months we have continued to ensure that all new staff and volunteers have
undertaken safeguarding training, and that existing staff and volunteers have undertaken
update training to ensure that knowledge and skills are kept relevant.
We continue to ensure that safeguarding is a topic in all staff team meetings and new
information is passed on as quickly and effectively as possible.
All staff are clear as to their roles and responsibilities in the safeguarding process.

What we plan to do

The COVID-19 pandemic has left a lot of older people vulnerable and isolated; we will ensure
that staff are aware of the strains placed on older people and their carers and how this may
lead to increasing safeguarding issues.
It is likely that our services are going to be accessed via phone and internet rather than face-
to-face for the foreseeable future. Staff will be trained in the online process and will be aware
that safeguarding issues may be more difficult to detect virtually.
We will develop a process to deal with carer stress throughout the lockdown period, which
will hopefully reduce the need for safeguarding referrals.

Page 79



44 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust

Stacy Washington
Trust Lead Safeguarding Adults and Prevent

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

We have successfully rolled out face to face level 3 safeguarding adult workshops which
include sessions on domestic abuse, modern day slavery and awareness of safeguarding adult
boards and local safeguarding adult reviews for our staff in mental health and community
health services. These sessions have been evaluated and received very good feedback.
In 2019 we developed an initiative “Safeguarding Superstars” which identifies exceptional
practice in safeguarding by our staff. Each month a member of staff is the safeguarding
superstar and are given a certificate. Their manager is also informed, and their work is written
up as a case study to be used in our training and as good practice examples.
We have improved the data quality in our reporting, utilising the Trust’s informatics system
ifox. This has enabled us to improve our reporting to local authorities for their annual
safeguarding adults collection (SAC) and to CCGs for the Trust’s performance monitoring. In
2019/20 we have seen an increase in staff raising safeguarding adult concerns on our
computerised record system RIO, this we believe has come from improvements made to our
electronic forms and from being able to analyse our data through iFox to identify trends. This
supports further development of our staff in following the process.

What we plan to do

From April 2020 our safeguarding children and safeguarding adults teams have been
reconfigured to become one team. We now have a joint quarterly safeguarding committee
and will be developing further joint projects such as training, events and resources.
Due to the increasing number of SARs and DHRs that the organisation is involved with, we
aim to develop a SAR escalation plan in our boroughs to co-ordinate the roles of corporate
and directorate staff in the process. This will enable us to embed the actions and effectively
learn locally and share the learning across the organisation.
To utilise our Domestic Abuse task and finish group that will develop the Trust’s work
through an updated policy. This will include a handbook on DA for staff, local resources and
additional training for through a new E-learn package and additional updates in level 3 SGA
workshops. We are also involved in a national programme around sexual safety on mental
health wards.

Page 80



45Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

London Fire Brigade

Terry Gooding 
Bromley Borough Commander

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Safeguarding training: We have implemented a new online safeguarding training package for
all our station-based staff across the borough. We have also given face-to-face inputs at out
yearly borough training days on several potential safeguarding issues such as modern-day
slavery, dementia awareness and exploitation.
Reviewed our SARAT: An experienced member of the central safeguarding team, in
conjunction with our borough lead, has undertaken a review of our safeguarding procedures
using the SARAT tool. The SARAT was presented to the local authority and feedback given.
We have implemented several changes to our processes considering our own review and
from the feedback from the Council.
Hoarders: We have reviewed our process for identifying and recording hoarders both
internally and externally. We have a dedicated lead within the borough that sits on the
hoarding board and takes both proactive and reactive actions where required.
Additional support: we installed specialist fire alarms for those with impaired hearing, and
issued fire retardant bedding where appropriate.
It is worth noting the positive feedback received from the independent chair as a result of our
fatal fire review, and the subsequent domestic homicide review, for the double fatality at Cray
Avenue in Orpington

What we plan to do

We are keen to offer more training and quality assurance around domiciliary care workers as
it is our view this is the key to preventing fire related deaths. It was suggested that more
training was required to help staff recognise and respond accordingly to fire safety risks.
We will attend more safer neighbourhood boards to help us establish wider connections with
the community. We are particularly keen to explore better links with the faith community and
other community-based organisations, such as Neighbourhood Watch.
We will explore a more structured approach when communicating to our fire safety messages
to those in the community who typically do not use computers.

Page 81



46 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

London Borough of Bromley:

Trading Standards

Rob Vale
Head of Service

Tackling fraud against older people

Bromley Trading Standards have several strategies to help reduce the risk of residents becoming
victims of fraud. We provide advice and education, raise awareness through presentations at
public events and group meetings; we deliver training to stakeholders such as care professionals,
police officers and bank staff. We also have a dedicated rapid response number which can be
used to raise alerts about rogue trader incidents in progress.

In 2019/20 we installed 12 call blocker units to some of our most vulnerable victims of telephone
scams. We have now installed 25 units since 2016.

These units have identified and blocked nearly 3,000 nuisance calls in the
past year, averaging around 28 per month. Ofcom say the average across the UK is 18 per month.
 
According to trueCall statistics, we estimate that over the 5 year life of these units they will have
blocked 40,939 nuisance calls (of which 8,235 will have been scam phone calls), prevented 49
scams, saved vulnerable households £90,470 and led to a reduction of £81,870 in NHS and
health & social care costs.
 
Officers can look at the numbers who have been calling the resident and identify any numbers
which are linked to frauds. These are often rated harassing or dangerous, often looked up and
checked by many thousands of people.
 
In April we recruited a new team Manager, Graeme Preston, a former regional doorstep crime
lead. Graeme is already looking to enhance our relevance in the safeguarding field and is leading
on an electronic Trading Standards alert which we will launch at the end of year. This was
developed during lockdown when we couldn’t get out to our communities and instead sent out
several scam awareness alerts to help keep residents informed about COVID19 related scams.
 
We also prosecuted a rogue trader in February 2020 who pleaded guilty to two counts of fraud,
both involving gross overcharges for building work for two elderly Bromley residents.

Page 82



47Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

BMI Healthcare

Matthew Ashman
Director of Clinical Services

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Development of dementia champion in pre-assessment clinic. This champion is a registered
nurse who has put together dementia friendly equipment and a resource box for other staff
to use for patients with dementia and is the link for staff to go to for support.
Chaperoning in the Outpatient Department has been improved especially with gynaecology
and paediatrics.
We have been proud of our COVID-19 response with regards to management of vulnerable
groups; we introduced telephone appointments to start with, and video conferencing for
those over 70 years of age, which reduced the footfall through the hospital very quickly
based on PHE guidance. This has meant, although we have stopped Day Case and In-Patient
activity, we have been able to keep our outpatient services functional for those who still
require consultations and diagnostics.

What we plan to do

Continue to develop the chaperoning in The Outpatient Department with stamps in every
room to document chaperones used or declined signed by consultant and nurse.
Continue to improve safeguarding training access all levels (1, 2 & 3) and compliance for staff
working with patients with the target of more than 95% complete.
Support the Interim Director of Clinical Services within the Safeguarding Lead role.

Case example

Mrs R is 91 and has had a trueCall unit installed for some time. Scam lead officer Bev catches up
with her every now and then and Mrs R assures her all is well, and she hasn’t had any scam calls.
Mrs R rang in June this year to report she had a problem with her phone and had unplugged the
call blocker unit.  During the short time her unit was unplugged she had 2 calls, one of which was
the Amazon subscription scam, where she was informed that she would need to pay £39 per
month for the Amazon subscription! Fortunately, she is well informed and did not fall for the
scam or proceed with the call. The other number was known to us as being a harassing scam call.
Mrs R wanted to let us know that she is very happy with her unit as she doesn’t usually get any
scam calls reaching her and jokingly said she ‘lives in fear that we’ll take it away’ – Bev obviously
assured her this wouldn’t happen.

Page 83



48 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Bromley Mencap

Eddie Lynch
Chief Executive

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Bromley Mencap provides services to disabled adults, carers and families across the London
Borough of Bromley. This year we delivered a range of workshops and awareness raising
sessions covering issues including rogue traders, financial abuse and safety around social
media use. Our workshops included mutual carers, adults with a learning disability, adults with
a physical disability and our day service and training and employment clients.
We chaired the Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Communications and Service User
Engagement Sub-group and sat on both the Board and Executive committees. We helped
develop the new safeguarding strategy for the BSAB and the new publicity campaign, tender
for a new website and worked on a new Champions Network for the Board. This partnership
working has helped us to further reinforce our kudos as an example of a strong,
knowledgeable and proactive organisation.
At the start of lockdown, as we began to redesign our services to take account of COVID-19.
We reviewed and overhauled our safeguarding policies and combined both our children and
adults safeguarding policies. With expert advice from SAFEcic our new policy takes account
of COVID-19 including providing services on-line, safer recruitment during lockdown and
new procedures for staff driving clients. We have identified a new Lead for Safeguarding
amongst our trustees and the policy has been rolled out across the organisation. We held a
staff meeting to discuss the new policy and implications around lockdown and changes to
services.
Trustees and staff refresh their training on a regular basis and this year we have continued to
deliver staff training in MCA, DOLs and PREVENT depending on the requirements of specific
roles. Safeguarding is discussed in every supervision meeting and team meetings where
dialogue is encouraged at every opportunity.
We have continued to deliver disability awareness sessions with prospective employers
where safeguarding features within the programme.
We facilitated a session at the annual BSAB conference this year focusing on Safeguarding
from a Service User’s Perspective.

Page 84



49Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Bromley Well Service

- Bromley Third Sector Enterprise (BTSE)

Toni Walsh
Partnership Manager

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

BTSE takes its responsibility for ensuring that safeguarding is a top priority across all Bromley
Well services very seriously.  We monitor safeguarding training and refresher uptake across
our five sub-contracted service delivery organisations.
All Bromley Third Sector Enterprise staff have completed ‘safeguarding adults at risk and
children & young people’ training.  BTSE ensure that all staff and volunteers working on the
delivery of Bromley Well services have at least Level 1 training, which is monitored on our
database. 
The BTSE Partnership Manager is responsible for assisting staff with any safeguarding referral
queries and for reporting on the number of referrals made.

What we plan to do

Continue to monitor safeguarding training uptake.
Continue to ensure that safeguarding is discussed at our regular Bromley Well Operational
Services Group meetings.
Ensure that safeguarding both adults at risk and children and young people in Bromley
remains a top priority and focus for BTSE and the Bromley Well Service.

Page 85



50 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Bromley, Lewisham & Greenwich Mind

Dominic Parkinson 
Head of Services

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Policy Review - Our Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Policy was reviewed in 2019 in
consultation with London Borough Bromley and Bromley CCG to ensure it fits with all local
and national expectations and protocols. The new policy has been implemented and
highlighted to all staff. Safeguarding matters are closely followed/scrutinised by the BLG
Mind Board of Trustees.
Monitoring of Safeguarding Issues - Close monitoring of all incidents through our Quality &
Performance Committee, which reports directly to our Board of Trustees.
Training - Central records of CPD (continuous professional development) are kept for all staff
to ensure they have up to date training, with a minimum requirement of refresher training
within the last 3 years on mandatory/core training. Volunteers working closely with
vulnerable adults are also provided with Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults training. In addition,
Safeguarding is covered as a standard item in all new staff induction programmes. We provide
in-house training to ensure staff are aware of the different types of abuse and our familiar
with the common behaviours and effects and being proactive in recognising early warning
signs. Their responsibilities are outlined in our organisational policies and local/national
guidance and requirements; working closely with local partners. We also utilise the face to
face and online training relating to Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults provided through LB
Bromley.
DBS Checks - We closely follow the guidance regarding DBS checks for staff and volunteers,
ensuring that wherever appropriate people are subject to an enhanced DBS check/Vulnerable
Adults Barred list check prior to taking up a position with Bromley, Lewisham & Greenwich
Mind. In recent months we have reviewed our spreadsheet detailing the appropriate checks
for each role within the organisation to ensure we are implementing this effectively.

Bromley, Lewisham & Greenwich Mind provide community-based mental health services, mental
wellbeing services and dementia support services including Dementia Support Centres, Respite
Support in the home and Advice and Guidance for those recently diagnosed through the Bromley
Dementia Support Hub. We also provide a range of Dementia Training for Healthcare
Professionals and Family Carers.

Page 86



51Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

What we plan to do

We need to continue to ensure that all new staff receive Safeguarding Adults training within
the first 2 months of their appointment, and that all existing staff training is up to date.
With the impact of COVID-19 staff are having to work differently and often remotely,
therefore we need to continue to closely monitor and explore any safeguarding concerns and
report accordingly.

Clarion Housing

Sara Bean
Tenancy Sustainment Team Leader

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

The Self-Neglect and Hoarding multi-agency meetings continue to be represented and
chaired by Clarion Housing.
Awareness of self-neglect is promoted, and referrals to the Board’s SNaHP panel are made
where necessary.
Encouraged ongoing joint working between agencies

What we plan to do

Contribute towards developing the tri-borough self-neglect pathway.
Publicise and promote the Self-Neglect and Hoarding Panel to other housing providers in
Bromley.
To continue encouraging joint working between health and social care services and promote
its success.

Page 87



52 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

St Christopher's Hospice

Vincent Docherty 
Head of Patient & Family Support

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Completion of the Safeguarding Adults Risk Assessment Tool (SARAT). This audit of
safeguarding practice and culture within the organisation was very time consuming but
productive. We followed the structure of the BSAB audit tool which focusses on 7 key
standards with a Red, Amber and Green rating. We do not view a current green rating as
indicating no further work is needed, indeed a great deal of effort and commitment is needed
to ensure we do not rest on self- perceived laurels.
Held Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) – Education Sessions. These Wednesday morning
sessions have been invaluable in bringing together doctors, nurses, physios, OTs, social
workers, Speech and Language Therapy, chaplaincy and therapy staff. There have been
regular sessions on DoLS, Mental Capacity Act issues (i.e. decision specific capacity
assessments), the structure of best interest meetings and both adult and child safeguarding
issues.
Focussed on Best Interest Decisions. For those patients who lack capacity a best interest
approach is taken. These meetings can be challenging to arrange as the Mental Capacity Act
states a decision maker is clearly identified. As the COVID-19 restrictions hit home in quarter
4 there has been a significant challenge in holding Best Interest Meetings. The use of secure
Zoom meetings has helped. Often the specific decision in question is about accepting
reasonable care and treatment, usually in the patient's own home. There were 64 best
interest meetings held in 2019-20 in comparison to 38 the previous year.
There were a further 201 family meetings held, a significant increase from the 61 on the
previous year. This increase is almost certainly down to the recording practice within System1
and the practice guidance that was developed with practitioners. The figures do evidence the
commitment of the organisation to listening to the thoughts, feelings and hopes of both
patients and family members.

Page 88



53Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

What we plan to do

The integral role of guardianship plans within the Advance Care Planning (ACP) process is a
priority for development work in the next year.
Implementation of the Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) which was identified pre 

Continue to improve education and training compliance internally and provide ongoing
support to care and nursing homes via the Zoom-based ECHO learning and development
programme.
Monitor the impact of COVID-19 on the safeguarding statistics

COVID-19.

Metropolitan Police

David Williams
Detective Chief Inspector

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

Improved attendance by Senior Police officers at Board meetings throughout the year, which
helped to improve multi-agency approach.
Operation Nogi: further engagement and support for vulnerable/isolated adults by local
police officers to offer support during the COVID-19 Crisis.
Improved the use of the SAR referral process by the police, which offers better understanding
and early notice to help improve and shape good practice.

What we plan to do

To gain a better understanding around mental health for local officers around the impact of
COVID-19 on the vulnerable population, through further training.
Stronger links to be developed between mental health and missing portfolios, bringing them
both under one strand lead, to help focus demand reduction and improve support networks.
Improve links between the SIM officers and health providers to bring reduced demand and
enhanced support for high volume users who are regularly in crisis.

Page 89



54 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation

Trust

Heather Payne
Head of Adult Safeguarding

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

2019/20 has been another busy year for the KCH Safeguarding Adults Service. There has
been an increase in Deprivation of Liberty applications and Learning disability notifications
continue to rise each quarter. There has been a focus on service development; including the
Learning Disability service provision and alignment with the Child Safeguarding service as part
of the ‘Think Family’ ethos.
The three highest categories of abuse concerns for KCH are Neglect, Self-Neglect and
Domestic abuse.
The service has continued to engage with the local Safeguarding Adults Boards (SAB) and
actively participates in the sub-groups of these boards contributing to the wider safeguarding
agenda.
The last two weeks in March 2020 saw the Adult Safeguarding service adapt to new ways of
working to ensure business continuity through the COVID-19 pandemic.

What we plan to do

Safeguarding adults remains a priority and is everyone’s responsibility. The priorities for
2020/21 for the SGA team are outlined below:

Continue with the engagement/support plan for the PRUH site
Resume planned work to prepare for the legislative changes when the Liberty Protection
Safeguards are implemented
Complete the Learning Disability strategy
Complete population of reasonable adjustments flag for people with a learning disability
Disseminate lessons learned/outcomes from safeguarding enquiries to KCH workforce
Work with the Safeguarding Children team to develop an updated safeguarding strategy
for the Trust

Page 90



55Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

What we plan to do

We will invite a representative from Adult Social Care to give a presentation to Bromley staff
of the current Safeguarding picture in Bromley.
We will undertake a presentation to Adult Social Care to increase understanding of our role
and the challenges faced.
We will continue prioritising Safeguarding Adults in the context of COVID-19.

National Probation Services

Katie Nash 
Head of Service

main achievements during 2019 to 2020

We worked with Adult Safeguarding to secure a consistent representative on the MAPPA
panel, which has improved the National Probation Service and MAPPA Duty to Cooperate
agencies knowledge of the processes and thresholds for Adult Safeguarding.
We have a dedicated single point of contact who has attended local authority training and
disseminated that information to the rest of the Offender Management team.
Our staff have shared learning and knowledge through complex case discussion meetings.

Page 91



Key priorities

for 2020 to 2021

The COVID-19 pandemic will inevitably impact on us all,
whether this is on a personal or professional level, or
both. As we navigate our way through an uncertain
future, we will stay committed to our new strategic
statement where:

We will work together with people in

our communities and partner agencies

to achieve a positive and safe life for

all adults to live free from abuse and

neglect.

56 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

We will begin by consulting our partners on how we can best support them during this
challenging period, whilst we adapt to a new way of working. Our ambition of achieving
predefined milestones will remain as we endeavour to focus on key safeguarding issues: 
domestic abuse, financial abuse, self-neglect, modern day slavery, transitional care of children
into adulthood, and vulnerable adults in specialist care & residential homes. The impact that
COVID-19 has on this will be at the forefront of strategic decisions made.

We are committed to achieving the following in the forthcoming year:

Page 92



Develop and publish the new BSAB website. This will be used as a platform to share live, 
up-to-date information with the community. Partners will be encouraged to contribute to its
content, so we can engage both the public and professionals.

57Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Working closely with Trading Standards, we will dedicate an area of the site to share
information important for the safety of Bromley residents.

We will continue developing our communication plan. Our safeguarding awareness poster
campaign will be updated and distributed widely – easy read options will also be produced and
shared. We will remain mindful that all residents may not have access to digital media, and
therefore would be catered for.

We will explore alternative methods of delivering key Board meetings and projects. The use of
online remote meetings will be the norm, and webinars important to the delivery of
information.

Our training will focus on virtual delivery, ensuring that topics covered are relevant to the
existing climate and Board objectives. We will leverage on opportunities to share resources
amongst partners.

Learning from local and national SARs will support our strategic plan. Should the current
pandemic present many cases meeting the threshold for a SAR, consideration will be given to
whether these are best commissioned together with neighbouring boroughs as thematic
reviews.

Work with the voluntary sector to enable volunteering to be safe for the recipient and those
that receive a volunteer service, as well as for volunteers.

The Independent Chair will attend key Council Committees: Policy, Development & Scrutiny
(PDS) Committee, Health Scrutiny, Health and Wellbeing, Safer Bromley Partnership.

Further connection will be made with the wider community including faith groups, third sector
and voluntary sector events.

Page 93



58 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Seeing our impact: Story 4

Miss A is in her 30s and has a medical history of rectal cancer, HIV/AIDS Positive and Chronic
Viral Infections. These have caused Miss A to have reduced mobility alongside poor balance and
bilateral weakness. She was previously known to the Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust for
depression but is no longer receiving mental health support from them.
 
Miss A was referred to St Christopher's Hospice by a local hospital unit for pain control and
emotional support. A nurse and social worker from St Christopher’s visited her flat and reported
that, on entering her property, it was evident that Miss A needed immediate support with
managing her pain and her flat was in a squalid condition.

The situation

Staff from St Christopher’s arranged for the Housing Association who manages the property to
arrange for a deep clean to her home while she was admitted to their Inpatient Unit for pain
control.
 
The deep clean was completed and Miss A was supported back to her home. When the nurses
visited her a few days later for a post discharge review, they observed that Miss A was self-
neglecting as she wasn’t taking her medication, not maintaining her habitable environment and
the house was back to the state it was previously before the deep clean. In addition, Miss A
appeared to lack the physical ability to self-care or prepare her meals.
 
The Social Worker at St Christopher’s made a safeguarding referral because she felt Miss A was
self-neglecting and appeared to have given up on herself. The information gathered confirmed
that Miss A had care and support needs and appeared to be at risk of self-neglect and unable to
protect herself from this risk. Consequently, a Section 42 safeguarding inquiry was started.
 
In line with making safeguarding personal, Miss A was contacted to discuss the safeguarding
concerns and to determine her desired outcome. However, at the beginning Miss A declined any
form of support and did not want to engage. She explained that she was able to independently
manage and, in her view, at the time the nurses visited she was in pain but was feeling better and
would be able to clean the property. 

What we did

Page 94



59Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Based on the magnitude of risk presented and Miss A’s non engagement, the Enquiry Officer
asked Miss A if she wanted an advocate to support her and explained to her the reasons why she
need appropriate support in place. It took a while before Miss A engaged with the safeguarding
enquiry.

The Enquiry Officer continued to liaise with the vising District Nurse, St Christopher’s Social
Worker, the Scheme Manager and the GP in order to gain Miss A’s trust and to secure 
multi-agency support.

Miss A disclosed she did not want her family to know about her situation as she claimed they had
abused her financially in the past. The Enquiry Officer was able to alleviate Miss A’s fear with
regards to confidentiality.

Miss A also reported that the other people living in her building are very young and having carers
visiting her would affect her self-esteem. The Enquiry Officer was able to allay Miss A’s fears by
assuring her that the carers would not divulge their identity to other residents nor wear uniform
when they visit her. With this assurance, Miss A agreed with a care and support needs
assessment which resulted in a robust support plan being put in place to mitigate the presenting
risks.

Miss A now receives support with medication, nutrition, a habitable home environment and
personal hygiene.

Page 95



Appendices

Appendix 1
Income and expenditure

Appendix 2
Training figures

Appendix 3
Membership

Appendix 4
Data collection

Page 96



61Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

1. Income and expenditure

Spend Income

Temporary/Agency Staff - £30,217
Training Expense - £29,356
Printing & Stationery - £4
Conference Expenses - £6,781
Publicity - £31
Safeguarding Adult Review - £4,516
Miscellaneous - £2,192

TOTAL SPEND - £73,097 TOTAL INCOME - £93,989

Balance brought forward from 2018/19 - £39,844
Contributions:

Bromley Council - £7,702
NHS Bromley CCG - £7,702
Health partners - £28,241
Metropolitan Police Service - £5,000
Other departments - £5,500

Page 97



Safeguarding Adults: Raising Awareness
Management Responsibilities for Safeguarding Adults (for
service provider managers)
Deprivation of Liberty in the Community
DOLS Application to Practice
DOLS Core Awareness
Domestic Abuse Foundation
Domestic Abuse Intermediate
Domestic Abuse Advanced
Enquiry Skills
Managing the Adults at Risk Process
Mental Capacity Act (MCA) Application to Practice
MCA Core Awareness
MCA for Team Managers
Safeguarding Awareness Week
Safeguarding Responsibilities  under the Care Act
Self-Neglect & Hoarding
What is Sexual Violence?

Title
Number

Delivered
Attended

4
1

1
2
3
4
2
2
4
3
3
3

C-19
12
1
1
1

C-19 = Course postponed due to COVID-19

58
17

20
25
55
32
18
15
70
52
40
58

N/A
107
19
20
7

TOTALS 47 613

Bromley Council
65%

Private or third sector
22%

Oxleas
8%

King's College
2%

Bromley Healthcare
1%

0 25 50 75

Excellent 

Good 

Satisfactory 

Poor 

2. Training figures

Classroom-based training
The below table represents the number of classroom-based training sessions held and the uptake of attendees.

62 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

The multi-agency representation of those who attended
classroom-based training:

Other health professionals
2%

Overall feedback received from attendees
of all classroom-based training

Page 98



Title

63Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Number

completed

144
291
172
29
78

142
41
24
31
91
28

31
48

467
100
245

TOTALS 1,962

Autism Awareness
Care Act*
Data Protection Law, Definitions and Principles
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
Domestic Abuse
Female Genital Mutilation
Handling Violence and Aggression at Work
Hate Crime
Human Trafficking and Modern-Day Slavery
Mental Capacity Act
Mental Health, Dementia and Learning Disability
(Awareness) for Health and Social Care
Online Safety for Parents and Carers
Safeguarding Awareness
Safeguarding Adults - Level 1
Safeguarding Adults - Level 2
Safeguarding Against Radicalisation - The Prevent Duty

Me Learning
The below table is a breakdown of the number of courses completed on the Me Learning site between April 2019-
March 2020

Page 99



3. Membership

64 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Independent Chair

Lynn Sellwood

Core partners

London Borough of Bromley

Adult Social Care - Interim Director Adult Social Care Kim Carey
Housing Services - Director: Housing, Regeneration and Planning Sara Bowrey 
Public Health - Director: Public Health Dr Nada Lemic
Public Protection - Head of Trading Standards and Community Safety Rob Vale

NHS South east London CCG

Director of Quality, Governance & Patient Safety Sonia Colwill

Metropolitan Police Service

Detective Chief Inspector David Williams

Other partners

Health services

Bromley Healthcare - Director of Nursing Fiona Christie
GP/Primary Care - Named GP for Adult Safeguarding Dr Tessa Leake
Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 

Deputy Chief Nurse Jo Haworth
Head of Adult Safeguarding Heather Payne

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust - Trust Lead Safeguarding Adults & Prevent Stacy
Washington
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust - Deputy Director Forensic Offender
Health Emma Porter

Emergency services

London Ambulance Services - Head of Safeguarding Alan Taylor
London Fire Brigade - Borough Commander Terry Gooding

Probation services

CRC Probation - C&P Manager AJ Brooks
National Probation Service - Interim Head of Service Katie Nash

Page 100



65Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Private health, care and housing sector

BMI Healthcare - Director of Clinical Services Lucy Jefcoate
Priory Group Hospital - Director Denise Telford
Registered Social Landlords - Sara Bean (Clarion Housing)
St Christopher’s Hospice - Head of Patient and Family Support Vincent Docherty

Education

Bromley Adult Education College - Head of Centre Elena Diaconescu
London South East Colleges - Head of Safeguarding and Designated Lead Officer
Clive Ansell

Independent organisations

Department for Work and Pensions - Borough PA Manager Liz Waghorn
Lay Members - Fasil Bhatti

Elected members

Portfolio Holder Adult Care and Health Cllr Diane Smith
Portfolio Holder Public Protection and Enforcement Cllr Kate Lymer

London Borough of Bromley

Representatives from other partnerships

Bromley Safeguarding Children Board - Independent Chair Jim Gamble
Community Safety Partnership - Chair Cllr Kate Lymer
Health and Wellbeing Board - Chair Cllr David Jefferys

Voluntary sector

Advocacy for All - Chief Executive Jon Wheeler
Age UK Bromley and Greenwich - Chief Executive Mark Ellison
Bromley and Croydon Women’s Aid - Chief Executive Constanze Sen
Bromley, Lewisham & Greenwich Mind - Head of Services Dominic Parkinson
Bromley Mencap - Chief Executive Eddie Lynch
Bromley Third Sector Enterprise - Partnership Manager Toni Walsh
CGL Bromley Drug and Alcohol Service - Service Manager Jonathan Williams
Community Links Bromley - Chief Executive Christopher Evans
Kent Association for the Blind - Chief Executive Eithne Rhynne

Page 101



66 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

4. Data collection

The data in this section was collected by the London Borough Bromley’s Performance and Information Team, as all
councils in England are required to submit their safeguarding data to NHS Digital – the national provider of
information for commissioners, analysts and clinicians in health and social care.
 
NHS Digital is responsible for compiling the Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC), which provides an overview of
safeguarding trends across the country.

A concern occurs where a safeguarding matter is first raised with Adult Care Services through our Adult Early
Intervention Service, where it will be reviewed, and risk assessed. If the concern is deemed to be sufficiently serious
then it will be escalated as a section 42 enquiry under the Care Act. This will allow safeguarding staff to undertake a
full review and take formal action to safeguard an adult at risk.
 
Where a concern does not meet the threshold for enquiry this will usually be managed using a different mechanism,
such as via our care management teams, health teams and local support services.

What are safeguarding concerns and enquiries?

A total of 1,041 concerns were received in 2019/21, of which 658 progressed to safeguarding enquiries; a conversion
rate of 63%. This represents a 6% increase in the number of concerns raised compared with the previous year, with a
64% increase in the number of safeguarding enquiries compared with 2018/19.

Safeguarding referrals into Bromley Council

The safeguarding picture for Bromley has remained consistent, with those most at risk of neglect or acts of omission;
however, an increase in those who self-neglect was recorded. Most of these victims are likely to suffer abuse in their
own home or by someone known to them.

What is the picture for Bromley?

Page 102



67Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

The graphs compare the number of safeguarding enquiries & concerns raised over the last 5 years. Although this year
saw the highest number of enquiries over the 5 year period, the number of concerns raised was less than the peak
seen so far in 2016/17. However, 2019/20 did see a 6% increase of the number of safeguarding concerns raised
compared with the previous year. 2019/20 also had the highest proportion of safeguarding concerns progressing to
safeguarding enquiries over the last 5 years.

4.1 - Concerns and enquiries

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

1,250 

1,000 

750 

500 

250 

0 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

750 

500 

250 

0 

Concerns raised

enquiries started in year

1,123 804 677 982 1,041

345 422 297 401 658

Percentage Of Concerns Progressing To Enquiries

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

75 

50 

25 

0 
31% 53% 44% 46% 63%

Page 103



41%59%

Female
59%

Male
41%

0 25 50 75 100 125 

2015/16 

2016/17 

2017/18 

2018/19 

2019/20 

The proportion of male safeguarding enquiries fell
from 43% in 2018/2019 to 41% in 2019/20.
However, the overall pattern is in line with national
statistics, where most safeguarding enquiries are
amongst the female population.

4.2 - Gender of

individuals involved

in safeguarding

enquiries

The age of individuals involved in safeguarding enquiries remains variable. Over the last 4 years there is a decline in
the number of safeguarding  enquiries for those in 18-64 age group; most of the adult population. However, there is a
steady increase of enquiries in those aged 75 years and over. A contributing factor is the increase of the ageing
population here in Bromley.

4.3 - Age of individuals involved in

safeguarding enquiries (%)

68 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

18 to 64 75 to 8465 to 74 95 and over85 to 94

Page 104



15% of safeguarding enquiries raised in 2019/20 were for those of an ethnic minority group; who make up 19% of
Bromley’s demographic. The majority (63%) of enquiries involved those of white ethnic origin.

4.4 - Ethnicity of individuals involved in

safeguarding enquiries (%)

0 25 50 75

White 

Mixed/multiple 

Asian/Asian British 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 

Other ethnic group 

Undeclared/Not known 21%

69Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

63%

1%

2%

4%

8%

Neglect and acts of omission, followed by physical and financial abuse, continues to be most prevalent in Bromley.
However, there is a notable increase in the number of self-neglect incidences compared with previous years.

4.5 - Types of abuse

0 25 50 75 100

2015/16 

2016/17 

2017/18 

2018/19 

2019/20 

Discriminatory FinancialDomestic Abuse Neglect and Acts of OmissionInstitutional

Physical Self NeglectPsychological Sexual ExploitationSexual

Page 105



Most safeguarding incidences occur in the victim’s own home, which has seen an increase in 2019/20. This is followed
by incidences in a care home setting; however, this has seen a downward trend over the last 5 years.

4.7 - Location of abuse for concluded

enquiries

Most safeguarding incidences occurred to those in the other vulnerable people group, followed by those with mental
health care & support needs and those who have a learning disability.

4.6 - Primary support reason and primary abuse

0 50 100 150 200

Discriminatory 
Domestic abuse 

Financial 
Institutional 

Neglect and Acts of Omission 
Physical 

Psychological 
Self Neglect 

Sexual 
Sexual Exploitation 

Learning disability

2016/17

70 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Nature of Primary Abuse (Enquiries Concluded during 2019/20)

*Concluded  Cases only, NOT individuals. PRIMARY abuses ONLY

Mental health (65+)Mental health (18 - 64) Dementia

Physical Disability and Sensory Impairment Substance misuseOther vulnerable groups

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Own home

Community

Care home

Hospital

Other

194

15

103

18

49

211

12

87

22

50

197

9

101

8

103

443

19

130

26

124

379 382 418 742TOTALS

2015/16

169

2

89

8

45

313

Page 106



The number of enquiries substantiated (24.5%) was almost the same as those that were not substantiated (24.9%),
with a smaller proportion partially substantiated (8.8%). 16.2% of cases were not investigated, with 12.8% of enquiries
found to be inconclusive.

4.8 - Outcome for enquiries concluded in

2019/20 (%)

71Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

* Concluded Cases only, NOT individuals.
Unknowns shown as 'Inconclusive'.0 25 50 75 100

2015/16 

2016/17 

2017/18 

2018/19 

2019/20 

Not Investigated

Investigation ceased at
individuals request

Inconclusive

Partially Substantiated

Not Substantiated

Substantiated

In 91% of enquiries concluded from 2019/20 the individual or their representative was asked whether they had any
desired outcomes. Where a desired outcome was expressed, this was fully or partially met in 95% of enquiries; an
increase of 3% from the previous year.

4.9 - Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP)

Fully achieved
73%

Partially achieved
22%

Not achieved
5%

Page 107



72 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

Risk reduced
55%

Risk removed
32%

Risk remained
13%

32% of the safeguarding enquiries that concluded in 2019/20 had the initial risk removed, whereas 55% had the risk
reduced, and in 13% the risk remained.

4.10 - Risk outcomes, where risk was identified (%)

Page 108



No further action was needed for many (48%) of the concluded enquiries, whereas 17% of cases required increased
monitoring. A small proportion of victims received Community Care Assessments and Services or moved to different
care services. 1% of concluded cases required an application to the Court of Protection.

4.11 - Outcome for victims involved in the

safeguarding enquiry

73Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

2016/17Application to Court of Protection

Community care assessment and services

Guardianship/Use of Mental Health Act

Increased monitoring

Management of access to finances

2016/17Moved to increase/different care

No further action

Other

Referral to advocacy scheme

Referral to counselling/training

Restriction/management of access to
alleged perpetrator 

TOTALS

D
IS

CR
IM

IN
A

TO
RY

D
O

M
ES

TI
C 

A
BU

SE

FI
N

A
N

CI
A

L

IN
ST

IT
U

TI
O

N
A

L 

N
EG

LE
CT

 A
N

D
 A

CT
S 

O
F 

O
M

IS
SI

O
N

PH
YS

IC
A

L

PS
YC

H
O

LO
G

IC
A

L

SE
LF

 N
EG

LE
CT

SE
XU

A
L

SE
XU

A
L 

EX
PL

O
IT

A
TI

O
N

0 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

0 0 5 1 15 4 0 28 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

0 2 17 1 43 31 3 20 5 0

0 0 12 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

0 3 3 2 13 8 4 4 2 0

0 1 63 1 126 61 12 77 6 0

0 1 14 0 27 12 5 27 2 0

0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

0 0 1 0 2 0 0 2 2 0

1 1 7 0 5 15 4 0 6 0

1 8 127 5 232 131 28 163 24 0

Page 109



Following the conclusion of all safeguarding enquires in 2019/20, 59% of the perpetrators involved required no
further action, whereas 15% required continued monitoring. A small minority (4%) required police intervention,
however none of these resulted  in criminal prosecution.

4.12 - Outcome for perpetrators involved in the

safeguarding enquiry

74 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

2016/17Action by Care Quality Commission

Action by commissioning/placing authority

Action by Contract Compliance

Action under Mental Health Act

Carer's Assessment offered

2016/17Community care assessment and service

Continued monitoring

Counselling/Support/training/treatment

Criminal Prosecution

Exoneration

D
IS

CR
IM

IN
A

TO
RY

D
O

M
ES

TI
C 

A
BU

SE

FI
N

A
N

CI
A

L

IN
ST

IT
U

TI
O

N
A

L 

N
EG

LE
CT

 A
N

D
 A

CT
S 

O
F 

O
M

IS
SI

O
N

PH
YS

IC
A

L

PS
YC

H
O

LO
G

IC
A

L

SE
LF

 N
EG

LE
CT

SE
XU

A
L

SE
XU

A
L 

EX
PL

O
IT

A
TI

O
N

0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 2 0 4 2 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 1 5 2 1 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 7 2 2 3 0 0

0 1 0 0 2 2 0 10 0 0

0 1 17 0 41 20 5 9 2 0

0 1 2 0 7 1 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

0 0 1 1 3 2 0 1 1 0

Cont'd on next page >

Page 110



75Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019 to 2020

2016/17
Management action 
- Disciplinary, Supervision etc

Management of access to Vulnerable Adult

No Further Action

Police Action

Referral to POVA/ISA list

2016/17Referral to registration body

Removal from property/service

TOTALS 1 8 128 5 228 130 28 92 24 0

D
IS

CR
IM

IN
A

TO
RY

D
O

M
ES

TI
C 

A
BU

SE

FI
N

A
N

CI
A

L

IN
ST

IT
U

TI
O

N
A

L 

N
EG

LE
CT

 A
N

D
 A

CT
S 

O
F 

O
M

IS
SI

O
N

PH
YS

IC
A

L

PS
YC

H
O

LO
G

IC
A

L

SE
LF

 N
EG

LE
CT

SE
XU

A
L

SE
XU

A
L 

EX
PL

O
IT

A
TI

O
N

0 0 3 1 22 5 0 0 0 0

1 1 6 0 2 16 4 1 3 0

0 3 86 0 132 70 12 67 8 0

0 0 9 0 0 4 3 1 6 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 1 0 2 1 0 0 0

0 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 0

Page 111



Produced by:

Adult Services
London Borough of Bromley
Civic Centre
Stockwell Close
Bromley BR1 3UH

November 2020 - A product of the Strategy, Performance and Corporate Transformation Division

www.bromleysafeguardingadults .org

Page 112



  

1 

Report No. 
CEF20031 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Date:  Thursday 3rd December 2020 

Title: BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 
 

Contact Officer: Joanna Gambhir or Kerry Davies, BSCP Partnership Manager 
Tel:  020 8461 7041   E-mail:  Joanna.Gambhir@bromley.gov.uk  

Chief Officer: Jim Gamble, Independent Chair BSCP 

Ward: n/a 

 
1. Reason for report 

 The annual report of the Bromley Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (BSCP) covers the period from 
April 2019 to March 2020. It is a statutory requirement for safeguarding partnerships to publish this report 
under Working Together 2018. In line with statutory guidance and best pratice, this report will be submitted 
to the Chief Executive, Leader of the Council, the local police and crime commissioner and the Chair of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and the What Works Centre for 
Children’s Social Care. 
 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 That the Health and Wellbeing Board notes the content of this report and in particular the BSCP’s focus 
on co-ordinating the safeguarding work of agencies and to ensuring that this work is effective 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 10



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: n/a  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable  
 

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre:       
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £      
 

5. Source of funding:       
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):         
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:         
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:       n/a 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):        
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        
 

Page 114



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

 
The annual report of the Bromley Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (BSCP) covers the period from April 
2019 to March 2020. This report is a transparent assessment of the effectiveness of safeguarding and the 
promotion of child welfare in Bromley.  This year, Bromley has put in place multi-agency partnership 
arrangements in response to the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together 2018, which 
replace Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) with new local multi-agency safeguarding partnership 
arrangements. Our safeguarding partnership arrangements have been improved to form the new Bromley 
Safeguarding Children Partnership (BSCP) and its sub-groups.  

The reporting year has been a year of transition and change, beginning with the implementation of new 
partnership safeguarding arrangements and ending with the arrival of the COVID-19 pandemic. This report 
details much of the routine work that has continued throughout the year as well as the beginnings of 
contingency oversight by the partnership in response to the pandemic, which has continued since March 
2020. 

The Chair’s Foreword highlights the achivements and challenges of the year. The detail of the report sets out: 

 

 the governance and accountability arrangements for the BSCP. This provides information about the 
structures in place that support the BSCP to do its work effectively, as well as the roles of our partners, 
including Designated Professionals and lay members. 

 

 the context for safeguarding children and young people in Bromley.  It highlights progress made by the 
partnership across a range of areas (e.g. Early Help, Private Fostering, CSE, Missing and Gangs and the 
work of the Local Authority Designated Officer), as well as the challenges going forward. 

 

 the lessons that the BSCP has identified through its Learning & Improvement Framework, including 
Learning Reviews and multi agency audits. This section also details the actions taken to improve child 
safeguarding and welfare as a result of this activity. 

 

 the range and impact of the multi-agency safeguarding training delivered by the BSCP, including e-
learning, face-to-face, briefings (such as lessons from local learning reviews) and the BSCP annual 
conference – this year on FGM. 

 

 the priorities going forward: The Local Safeguarding Context; Early Help and Early Intervention; Strong 
Leadership and Strong Partnership; and a Healthy Workforce. There are also important messages from 
the Independent Chair of the BSCP to key people involved in the safeguarding of children and young 
people. 
 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

n/a 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

n/a 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

n/a 

Page 115



  

4 

7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

n/a 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

n/a 

9. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

n/a 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: [List non-applicable sections here] 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

[Title of document and date] 

 

Page 116



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 1Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Annual Report 
2019 - 2020

P
age 117



The Partnership 2

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Year on year the annual report consolidates and reflects upon the work carried out by safeguarding partners across the London Borough of Bromley. 
This partnership of professionals from different statutory and non-statutory bodies, charities and local organisations, collaborate where and when 
they can to make young people’s lives better and safer. Whilst this report looks back at what they did in the year gone by, it would be remiss of me, 
given the present pandemic, not to acknowledge where we are at this moment in time and the debt of gratitude we owe to everyone working in and 
supporting our frontline safeguarding services. 

As the Independent Chair of this safeguarding partnership, one of my principal concerns has been the health and wellbeing of frontline staff.  Without a 
healthy workforce we cannot deliver the services children and their families need.  The fact is that against all the odds, those in the frontline rallied and 
as the COVID-19 crisis has deepened, their resilience and resolve to keep doing what they do, has strengthened.  

Reflecting on this reporting year, I believe it could be accurately described as a year in transition and change. It began with work concerning the 
implementation of new partnership safeguarding arrangements brought about by the Children and Social Work Act (2017) and ended with the arrival 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. That said it also saw much of the necessary routine work continue. Oversight and 
scrutiny of referrals, case management, education and our work supporting children looked after and those with 
special needs continued. We are working hard to improve services for those suffering with their mental health 
and to improve our understanding and responses to vulnerable adolescents, serious youth violence, domestic 
abuse, offender management and more.  Information on each of these important subjects is contained in the 
pages that follow. 
 
One of the challenges with the present system of annual reporting is that by the time it is published, we have 
moved on. Therefore, whilst the information in the pages of this report are an important record of what we 
achieved, the lessons we have learnt and the improvements we aim to make, its publication is generally too late 

Foreword by the Independent Chair  

FO
R

E
W

O
R

D
 B

Y
 T

H
E

 IN
D

E
P

E
N

D
E

N
T 

C
H

A
IR

P
age 118



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 3Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

to inform an immediate operational response. We therefore need to consider how the system of reporting might be better developed to deliver a timely 
and contemporary risk assessment, that highlights emerging and immediate risks and will do just that in the coming year.

Looking ahead, I know we are moving further into unchartered territory and I am in no doubt that the partnership will be further tested.  However, I 
believe that the work we did in the early stages of lockdown and since will stand us in good stead.  As we developed contingencies and reviewed 
practice, I saw evidence, first-hand, of partners adapting their approach and developing new ways of working, an enthusiasm to engage new 
technology and above all else, an absolute commitment to reach, engage and support our most vulnerable children and young people.   In these 
difficult times we all need to play our part.  We need to pull together, support our frontline safeguarding professionals and do everything we (the public) 
can to help them, help us.

Jim Gamble QPM
Independent Chair

FO
R

E
W

O
R

D
 B

Y
 T

H
E

 IN
D

E
P

E
N

D
E

N
T 

C
H

A
IR

P
age 119



The Partnership 4

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Contents

Foreword by the Chair 2

About the Annual Report 5

The Partnership 9
Context 10

Key Roles and Relationships 10
Governance and Membership 12
BSCP Structure 14
BSCP Sub Groups 15
Financial Arrangements 18

Communication 27

Safeguarding Context in Bromley 29
MASH 31

Children on Child Protection Plans 31

Adoption 32

Youth Offending 33

Domestic Abuse 36

Elective Home Education 37

Private Fostering 38

Young Carers 39

SEN and Children with Disabilities 39

MAPPA 41

Alcohol and Substance Misuse 41

Progress in Bromley 42
Early Help 43

CSE, Missing Gangs 46

Missing from Education 47

Local Authority Designated Officer 48

Learning & Improvement 49
The Child's Voice 50

Reviews of Practice 51

Auditing 55

The Child Death Overview Panel 56

Training & Development 58

Priorities for 2019-20 & Progress 69

Technology & Social Media 74

What You Need to Know 76

BSCP Membership 79

Modern Day Slavery 48

Children in Need 31

Children Looked After  32

Children’s Mental Health 40

Glossary of Terms 7

Partner Safeguarding Achievements 19

P
age 120



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 5Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

About the 
Annual Report

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

P
age 121



The Partnership 6

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The BSCP Annual Report 2019-20 is a transparent 
assessment of the effectiveness of safeguarding and the 
promotion of child welfare in Bromley

Pages 9 to 26  set out the governance and accountability arrangements for the BSCP. 

They provide information about the structures in place that support the BSCP to do its 

work effectively.

Pages 29  to 48 set the context for safeguarding children and young people in 

Bromley, highlighting the progress made by the partnership over the last year and the 

challenges going forward.

Pages 49  to 55  highlight the lessons that the BSCP has identified through its 

Learning & Improvement Framework and the actions taken to improve child 

safeguarding and welfare as a result of this activity.

Pages 58  to 68  describe the range and impact of the multi-agency safeguarding 

training and briefings delivered by the BSCP.

Pages 69  to 73  set out the priorities going forward and the key messages from the 

Independent Chair of the BSCP to key people involved in the safeguarding of children 

and young people.

In line with statutory requirements and best practice, the BSCP annual report 2019-20 

has been sent to the following:

• Chief Executive LBB

• The Lead Member for Children’s Services

• The Director of Children’s Services

• The Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board

• The Chair of the Safer Bromley Partnership

• The Independent Chair of the Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board

• Bromley Youth Council

• The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime

• Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel

• What Works Centre for Children’s Social Care

This Annual Report covers and reports on activity 
between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020

A
B

O
U

T 
TH

E
 A

N
N

U
A

L 
R

E
P

O
R

T
P

age 122



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 7Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Glossary of Terms 

P
age 123



The Partnership 8

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

ABH   Actual Bodily Harm

BCCG  Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group

BAME   Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic

BCU  Basic Command Unit

BSCP   Bromley Safeguarding Children Partnership

CAF   Common Assessment Framework 

CAFCASS  Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service

CAIT  Child Abuse Investigation Team 

CAMHS  Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CCG   Clinical Commissioning Group

CDOP   Child Death Overview Panel

CHIN   Child in Need

CME  Children Missing Education

CP  Child Protection

CPP   Child Protection Plan

CRIS   Crime Reporting Information System

CSC  Children’s Social Care 

CSE   Child Sexual Exploitation 

DBS   Disclosure and Barring Service

DfE   Department for Education

DSL   Designated Safeguarding Lead   

DVIP   Domestic Violence Intervention Project

ECHS  Education, Care and Health Services

ED  Emergency Department

EWS  Education Welfare Service

EHE  Elective Home Education

EIFS  Early Intervention and Family Support

FGM   Female Genital Mutilation

FJR   Family Justice Review

GP   General Practitioner

ICPC   Initial Child Protection Conference

IHA  Initial Health Assessment

LA   Local Authority

LAC  Looked After Child

LADO   Local Authority Designated Officer

LBB  London Borough of Bromley

LSCB   Local Safeguarding Children Board

MAP   Multi Agency Panel

MAPPA  Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements

MARAC  Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference

MASE   Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation

MASH   Multi Agency Support Hub

MEGA  Missing Exploitation and Gang Affiliation Panel

MISPER Missing Person

NHS   National Health Service

NSPCC  National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children

OFSTED  Office for Standards in Educ, Children’s Services & Skills 

PF   Private Fostering

PCI   Performance, Challenge & Impact Subgroup (formerly the QAPM Subgroup)

PPU   Public Protection Unit

PRUH  Princess Royal University Hospital

PSHE   Personal, Social and Health Education

PSP   Pupil Support Plans

QAPM   Quality Assurance and Performance Monitoring Sub Grp

RAS/R&S Referral & Assessment Service 

RHI  Return Home Interviews 

SCR   Serious Case Review

SDVC   Specialist Domestic Violence Court

SEND   Special Educational Needs and Disability

SRE   Sex and Relationship Education

TAC  Team Around the Child 

UASC   Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children

VAWG  Violence Against Women and Girls

YOS  Youth Offending Service

G
LO

S
S

A
R

Y
 O

F 
TE

R
M

S
 

P
age 124



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 9Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership

The Partnership

P
age 125



The Partnership 10

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

CONTEXT

This year, Bromley has put in place multi-agency partnership arrangements in 

response to the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together 2018, which 

replace Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) with new local multi-agency 

safeguarding partnership arrangements. Our safeguarding partnership arrangements 

have been improved to form the new Bromley Safeguarding Children Partnership 

(BSCP) and its sub-groups. 

The safeguarding partnership is held accountable by the Safeguarding Children’s 

Partnership Executive (BSCPE) which is formed of the three statutory safeguarding 

partners: the Police; the Local authority; and the Clinical Commissioning Group.  The 

new multi-agency partnership arrangements, published in June 2019, can be found on 

the BSCP website.  

This year has been shaped by the transition from Bromley Safeguarding Children 

Board (BSCB) to Bromley Safeguarding Children Partnership (BSCP).  For the 

purposes of this report, the partnership will be referred to as the BSCP for the full 

reporting year.

KEY ROLES AND RELATIONSHIPS

THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR AND THE BSCP TEAM

Jim Gamble QPM has been the Independent Chair of the BSCP since January 2017. 

The Independent Chair is tasked with leading the Partnership and ensuring it fulfils its 

statutory objectives and functions. Key to this is the facilitation of a working culture 

of transparency, challenge and improvement across all partners with regards to their 

safeguarding arrangements. The Chair was accountable to the Chief Executive of the 

London Borough of Bromley in 2019-20. The Executive Director of ECHS (Education, 

Care and Health Services)  and the Director of Children’s Services also continued to 

work closely with the Chair on related safeguarding challenges.

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 126



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 11Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The BSCP is supported by one Business Manager (job share) and one full time 

Business Support Officer. They ensure the smooth running of the Partnership’s day to 

day business.

Whilst being unable to direct organisations, the BSCP does have the power to 

influence and hold agencies to account for their role in safeguarding. This influence 

can touch on matters relating to both local and national arrangements that impact 

directly on the welfare of children and young people.

DESIGNATED PROFESSIONALS

The Designated Doctor and Nurse take a strategic and professional lead on all aspects 

of the health service contribution to safeguarding children. Designated professionals 

are a vital source of professional advice.   The Designated Dr and Nurse have 

continued to demonstrate their value by offering challenge and support to partners.  

This includes the escalation of cases as recommendations for learning review, 

development of the Health Economy Dataset and leading on health contributions to 

the BSCP dataset.

PARTNER AGENCIES

BSCP Strategic Priority 3: Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership

Actions 2017-19: To consistently promote the importance of effective and swift 
information sharing, promoting a culture that puts the protection of children 
before the protection of information

All partner agencies across Bromley are committed to ensuring the effective operation 

of the BSCP. This is supported by a Constitution that defines the fundamental 

principles through which the BSCP is governed. Members of the Partnership hold a 

strategic role within their organisations and are able to speak with authority, commit to 

matters of policy and hold their organisation to account.

Awareness of the escalation process has been raised at monthly BSCP Multi Agency 

Partnership Events, via the BSCP app and during training events.

  

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 127



The Partnership 12

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER STRATEGIC BOARDS

BSCP Strategic Priority 3: Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership

Actions 2017-19: Continue to strengthen the governance interface between the 
BSCP and other key strategic forums and Chairs.

The Independent Chair of the BSCP is a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

and has developed links between the two boards with regard to the strategic use 

of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  The Business Manager is also a member 

of CSC’s Practice Improvement Board to ensure that the BSCP is part of the 

improvement journey. 

The BSCP Chair chairs an Inter Board Chairs Group which brings together the 

Chairs of the BSCP, the Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board, the Community Safety 

Partnership (Safer Bromley Partnership) and the Health and Wellbeing Board.  This 

meeting is responsible for the coordination of leadership, collective awareness, and 

the coherence of respective plans when reporting back to individual Boards and will 

consider the strategic risks and key issues across safeguarding including children, 

young people, families, adults, those leaving care, and communities.  

A Transitional Safeguarding Workshop was held in October 2019, led by Research 

in Practice. This was attended by senior representatives across the above strategic 

partnerships in Bromley to explore the effectiveness of transitions in Bromley and how 

this could be improved.

GOVERNANCE AND MEMBERSHIP 

BSCP Strategic Priority 3: Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership

Outcome: The BSCP leads the safeguarding agenda, is professionally curious 
and challenges the work of partner organisations, and commits to an approach 
that learns lessons, embeds good practice and is continually influenced by 
children, young people and their families. 

BSCP EXECUTIVE
The children’s safeguarding partnership is held accountable by the Bromley 

Safeguarding Children’s Partnership Executive (BSCPE) which was put in place in 

June 2019 as part of new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. The Executive 

is chaired by the Independent Chair. The Executive is attended by the three statutory 

safeguarding partners as defined in Working Together 2018. Locally the three are:

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 128



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 13Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

• Metropolitan  Police (South BCU) – represented by the Borough Commander.

• Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group – represented by the Managing Director.

• Bromley Council (Children’s Services) – represented by the Director of Children’s 

Social Care.

Between June 2019 and March 2020 the BSCPE met twice.  The Executive’s purpose 

is to:

• hold the Partnership to account for the performance in ensuring vulnerable 

children and young people are safe

• allow discussion of priorities and commitment of resource amongst partners to 

promote safeguarding

• identify any major concerns or areas for further investigation by the Partnership

• agree funding arrangements and budgets for the BSCP.

Extraordinary meetings take place as and when required.

BSCP BOARD
The Partnership Board met four times during 2019-20. It is held accountable by the 

BSCP Executive and has a membership made up of representatives from all statutory 

partners as well as a range of key health, probation, education and community 

representatives.  A list of current Board Members is set out at the back of this 

report. The Board oversees the work of the subgroups which meet between the 

quarterly board meetings and scrutinises agency reports from across the Partnership. 

The agenda offers opportunities for information sharing and discussion, but also 

encourages questioning and challenge. The BSCP captures all challenges raised by 

the Independent Chair and partners inside and outside of Board meetings in an Impact 

Log. 

The BSCP now regularly reviews performance through reference to its risk register, 

self-assessment process and partner agency updates submitted to each Board 

meeting.  During 2019-20, key risks identified as having the potential to impact on the 

BSCP’s ability to carry out its statutory objectives included the abolition of LSCBs via 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the merging of six Clinical Commissioning 

Groups to form one covering South East London and  early signs of the corona virus 

outbreak in February/March 2020.

There were some fluctuations around attendance rates sometimes associated with 

changes of staff changes within agencies.  Attendance rates remain subject to 

ongoing monitoring and agencies are robustly challenged if attendance decreases. 

This has been a key area of focus for the Chair.  The attendance rates by agency for 

2019-20 to the four main Board meetings are set out below.  

PARTNERSHIP BOARD ATTENDANCE – APRIL 
2019 TO MARCH 2020

Attendance
Number of 
seats per 

organisation

Independent Chair 100%

London Borough of Bromley, Children’s Social Care 75%

London Borough of Bromley, Education 75%

London Borough of Bromley, Youth Offending Service 50%

London Borough of Bromley, Public Health 100%

London Borough of Bromley, Learning & Development 50%

National Probation Service 50%

London Community Rehabilitation Company 100%

Lay Members 100%

Children & Family Court Advisory & Support Service 25%

Bromley Secondary School Representative 100%

Bromley Primary School Representative 25%

Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 100%

Kings College Hospital 100%

Metropolitan Police Service – Bromley Borough BCU 100%

Bromley Healthcare 100%

Oxleas NHS Trust 100%

Children & Family Voluntary Sector Forum 50%

Change, Grow, Live 50%

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 129



The Partnership 14

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BSCP STRUCTURE – JULY 2019

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

Education & EY 
Safeguarding 
Advisory 
Committee

Bromley 
Safeguarding 
Adult Board

Bromley Safeguarding 
Children’s Partnership 

Board (BSCP)

Performance, 
Challenge & 
Impact 
Subgroup

Safeguarding 
Practice 
Review 
Subgroup

Training 
Subgroup

Time limited 
Thematic 
Groups

Schools 
Safeguarding 
Forum

Bromley, 
Lambeth, 
Southwark & 
CDOP

Safeguarding 
Children’s Health 
Economy Forum

CLA HEalth 
Economy

Bromley 
Health & 
Wellbeing 

Safer Bromley 
Partnership

Subgroups include: 
- Domestic Violence / VAWG
- Anti-Social Behaviour

Strategic Inter Chairs Forum

Youth Offending Partnership 
Board

Corporate Parenting Board

MAPPA

PREVENT Board

MACE

MARAC Steering Group

BCFSV

Family Justice Board

Bromley Safeguarding 
Children’s Executive 

(BSCPE)

The Partnership

P
age 130



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 15Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BSCP SUBGROUPS

BSCP Strategic Priority 3: Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership

Actions 2017-19: The BSCP and partners successfully deliver against the BSCP 
subgroups / working groups
 

Below is an outline of each subgroup, its priorities and its achievements over the last 

year.

PERFORMANCE CHALLENGE AND IMPACT SUBGROUP

The Performance Challenge and Impact (PCI) Subgroup is central to the effective 

functioning of the BSCP.  PCI superseded the Quality Assurance and Performance 

Monitoring Subgroup in September 2019 and new terms of reference were agreed in 

keeping with the Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA).  The subgroup 

met 4 times during 2019-20. The subgroup is chaired by the BSCP Business Manager. 

The PCI subgroup takes responsibility for monitoring standards in safeguarding 

arrangements and other operational aspects of local safeguarding. It checks how well 

single agency safeguarding arrangements are working and is able to provide robust 

challenge to improve practice and outcomes for children and young people. 

This year the work of the PCI subgroup included:

• A multi-agency audit on FGM referrals to MASH

• Scrutiny of single agency audits, including safeguarding supervision, Was Not 

Brought/DNAs, GP recording, MASH cases, YOS standards and of children in 

Adult Mental Health Services electronic records.

• Scrutiny of the multi-agency dataset every quarter with subsequent challenges 

over: health checks for children looked after; increase in serious incidents at a 

setting; increase in LADO referrals at a setting, decreasing CAF numbers from 

particular sectors.  There was additional focus on elected home education data, 

attendance at unscheduled care settings following incidents of self-harm, suicidal 

ideation  and/or overdoses.

• Challenge, escalation and resolution of operational issues such as quoracy of 

Child Protection Conferences, communications between CSC and health agencies 

particularly GPs, discrepancies in Practice Standards.

• Scrutiny of Year 10 survey results with further discussion and challenge at Board 

level.

• Learning from a FII (fabricated induced illness) case from a neighbouring borough 

to enable learning and comparison to local learning review case.

• Scrutiny of regional datasets, including the GLA data on serious youth violence 

and FGM data.

TRAINING SUBGROUP

The BSCP Training Subgroup is chaired by the Head of Workforce Development at 

LBB and it met 3 times this year. The Training Subgroup consists of a multi-agency 

mix of managers who commission the BSCP multi-agency training programme and 

monitor the quality of said programme, which consists of formal classroom-based 

training, online learning and less formal briefings, seminars and workshops throughout 

the year.  In 2019-20 there was also the usual large annual conference (FGM), as well 

as one half day conference (Early Intervention). 

A detailed summary of training is provided in the Training and Development section.  

In brief:

• 3179 people completed one of our 17 online children’s safeguarding modules. 

This continues the year on year increase.

• BSCP ran 20 different, multi-agency, classroom-based courses - run in 44 

different sessions, attended by a total of 581 people across the different agencies.

• A further 314 people attended a multi-agency learning seminar, workshop or 

briefing session.

• BSCP also commissions two DSL courses on behalf of schools. This single 

agency training was attended by 81 teachers in 5 separate sessions.

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 131



The Partnership 16

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW SUBGROUP (PREVIOUSLY SERIOUS 
CASE REVIEW SUBGROUP)

The Safeguarding Practice Review (SPR) Subgroup is chaired by the Independent 

Chair of the BSCP and meets quarterly. In addition, extraordinary meetings are held 

when the unexpected death/significant harm of a child requires further enquiry and 

cross-partner investigation. The purpose of the subgroup is to: consider instances of 

significant harm to, or the death of a child that may meet the criteria for a statutory 

review; to agree how learning can best be captured, distilled and shared; to act as the 

core group when a SPR is initiated and to maintain critical oversight of action plans 

resulting from SPRs and learning reviews.

The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) now reports directly to the SPR Subgroup.  

CDOP and Rapid Response/JAR updates are a standing item of the SPR Subgroup.

During 2019/20, the SPR Subgroup:

• Completed a joint Serious Case Review (SCR) with Lambeth regarding the murder 

of a five-year-old boy 

• Completed a SCR on child sexual abuse 

• Completed a Learning Review on FGM

• Continued working on two Learning Reviews – (suspected fictitious illness and 

also cross borough working for children with disabilities)

• Commissioned a joint Domestic Homicide Review / Learning Review where the 

children suffered significant harm.

Multi agency action plans have been agreed for all completed Serious Case Reviews 

and Learning Reviews and these are monitored by the PCI subgroup. Lunchtime 

learning sessions have been delivered to share the learning and recommendations.

Learning from these reviews is detailed in the ‘Reviews of Practice’ section.

EDUCATION SAFEGUARDING ADVISORY COMMITTEE
BSCP Challenge: As the national COVID-19 lockdown was announced and 

schools promoted online learning materials, the BSCP Team noted a high profile 
education provider had a scheme of work about a deadly pandemic. This had 
potential to cause great distress to young people as it was very realistic.

BSCP Action: BSCP contacted the provider outlining concerns and the material 
was removed and blocked from all portals on the same day.

The Education Safeguarding Advisory Committee (ESAC) is a sub-group that reports 

to the BSCP and is led by schools’ Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSLs) and Early 

Years Professionals. The subgroup is chaired by a Secondary School DSL. 

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 132



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 17Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The purpose of ESAC is to:

• Champion safeguarding across all education settings in Bromley, by promoting 

understanding of the need to safeguard the welfare of children

• Provide a communication channel between education settings and Bromley 

Safeguarding Children Partnership to share information and as a source of peer 

support in meeting safeguarding responsibilities, making it clear this is a two-way 

communication

• Respond to and act on learning from serious case reviews and BSCP audits.

ESAC priorities are:

• Members of the forum share resources

• Model safeguarding policies, that are endorsed by ESAC / BSCP

• Develop supervision models for DSLs 

• Support implementation of revised Keeping Children Safe in Education

• Learning from serious case reviews

The Early Years Safeguarding Forum has been established for pre-schools, nurseries 

and childminders to develop and facilitate multi-agency working. Between March 2019 

and  March 2020 there have been two forums; one was regarding LADO procedures 

and the other was about Early Help.

 

Two Schools Safeguarding Forums (SSSF) have taken place. The purpose of one 

of these was for Primary Schools to share safeguarding and SEN concerns with the 

child’s new Secondary School before transfer. The DSLs from Primary and Secondary 

Schools find this a positive forum as evidenced in previous feedback forms. The 

other SSS Forum focused on Children Missing from Education, the new Bromley 

Relationship Model and Local Authority Updates. 

This year, the Education Safeguarding Officer (ESO) has provided telephone 

consultations to DSLs, head teachers and Education Staff on complex cases in 

relation to safeguarding risk, policies and procedures. The ESO has provided guidance 

and advice around good practice and keeping schools updated through the new 

Education Matters Website, as well as attending the Gateway Panel to offer support 

around safeguarding. The ESO also provides the link for schools and social care when 

tracking referrals.

The ESO has also assisted LADO cases.  This might include visiting supporting 

schools in relation to concerns raised by Ofsted.  The ESO chairs six weekly DSL 

forums, in order to share updates and provide DSL learning opportunities. 

ESAC is developing an improved online safeguarding audit tool to be completed 

by Bromley Schools to improve future take up.  Schools fed back that the format 

of the existing audit tool was a reason for not participating.  Overall the schools are 

promoting safeguarding effectively in their schools but the data gathered did indicate 

areas for development. The ESO will be providing feedback to schools around the 

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 133



The Partnership 18

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

audit finding and following up with those who did not provide evidence.

Ongoing work is to:

• Promote schools using the Bromley Thresholds of Need and BSCP Escalation 

Policy  in local policies and training. 

• Promote attendance at BSCP training as this includes local thresholds, context of 

safeguarding and early intervention.

• Promote reference to the BSCP Protocols, Guidance and Procedures. 

• Promote schools’ attendance at LADO lunch time briefings.

HEALTH ECONOMY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN FORUM
The Health Economy Safeguarding Children Forum is chaired by the Bromley Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG); since April 2020 BCCG has merged to form the 

NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group which includes five other 

Boroughs within SE London. The Health Forum is chaired by the  Designated Nurse 

and Designated Doctor.  It provides a professional network for named safeguarding 

professionals (nurses and doctors) across the NHS and private sectors. The Forum 

helps support these professionals to link the work of South East London CCG, BSCP, 

NHS England and the National Network of Designated Professionals and informs their 

work plans, training, supervision and their Boards. The Safeguarding Health forum is 

tasked with reviewing practice, such as bruising in non-ambulant babies and children, 

through policy, audit, feedback and sharing of learning.

There have been audit presentations from each organisation throughout the year as 

well as guest speakers on specialised safeguarding topics e.g. Bromley Health Care 

(BHC)  Community Paediatrician (Was Not Brought audit) and a presentation relating 

to Bereaved Parents; King’s College Hospital (KCH Maternity Services and  Domestic 

Abuse); Bromley Y (Audit of  Bromley Well-being  service); SEND (Update on OFSTED, 

CQC inspection).  Kent House Hospital have also presented to raise awareness of 

their services, and the different tiers of admissions and their impact on its service 

provision. There was also a BHC, Oxleas, KCH and Urgent Care Centre (UCC) audit on 

the Emergency Department (ED) information sharing pathway. The Health Forum also 

welcomed speakers from the Local Authority on the role of LADO and from integrated 

commissioning in relation to the mental health strategy. 

FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS
A range of partner agencies continued to contribute to the BSCP’s budget for 2019-

20, in addition to providing a variety of resources, such as staff time, accommodation 

and IT for the BSCP Team, and free venues for meetings and training. Agency financial 

contributions totalled £123,850.  Income was £38,000 less than the previous year 

due to less training income and a return to the standard income from some statutory 

partners following two years of increased contributions due to the high number of 

reviews undertaken.  This year’s contributions together with prudent reserves set aside 

from last year and income from training ensured that the overall cost of running the 

BSCP was met.

Income

Bromley CCG 17,836

Oxleas NHS Trust 17,836

Bromley Healthcare CIC 17,836

Kings College Hospital NHS Trust 17,836

Metropolitan Police 5,000

Bethlem and Maudsley Hospital School 615

CAFCASS 550

National Probation Service 800

Community Rehabilitation Company 1,000

London Borough of Bromley 44,041

London Fire Brigade 500

Training income (including annual 

conference)

26,630

TOTAL INCOME 150,480

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 134



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 19Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

EXPENDITURE
A significant number of Serious Case Reviews and Learning Reviews have taken place 

since 2017-18 and reserves have been put aside in recent years for this purpose.  The 

costs of some of these reviews has continued in to 2019-20.

Expenditure

BSCP SALARIES, including Independent Chair, lay members 

expenses and BSCP 2.2fte staff 

156,868

TRAINING COSTS, including e-learning and annual conference 21,657

SCR/ Learning Review/CSPR COSTS 13,718

OTHER costs, including general office expenses, venue hire, 

printing, professional development 

909

TOTAL SPEND 193,152

PARTNER SAFEGUARDING ACHIEVEMENTS AND CHALLENGES 2019-2020
At the time of writing this report, the Coronavirus pandemic inevitably dominates 

the work of partners while they strive to continue to ensure that safeguarding 

children remains a priority.  The reporting year ended in March 2020 and therefore 

the achievements and challenges captured in this report are not centred around 

COVID-19, although the seriousness of the crisis was becoming apparent and 

contingency plans were being put in place by March.  In order to adequately capture 

the impacts of the pandemic and more contemporary information, the BSCP will 

be producing a Strategic Threat Assessment by December 2020 to reflect on the 

achievements and challenges of that calendar year, including COVID-19.

BSCP Challenge: The Independent Chair challenged partners on their 
contingency planning for the Coronavirus Pandemic in March 2020.

Action: The BSCP Board meeting swiftly changed its focus on 11th March 2020 
requiring verbal updates during the meeting from all partners.  Partners were 
then required to send their Business Contingency Plans to the Chair to provide 
assurance.  A new BSCP Contingency-Partnership Oversight Meeting (CPOM) 
was set up with key leads from across the Partnership with the first meeting 
taking place on 25th March.

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE
Children’s Social Care (CSC) has continued to demonstrate its considerable strengths 

throughout 2019-20. A significant cultural shift from statutory compliance to the 

quality of social work has been strengthened through the further development and 

embedding of the Bromley Relationship Model and the launch of a strategic vision of 

excellence. A regular cycle of Getting to Excellence seminar events and Managers 

Forums have supported this progress and the successful Children’s Social Care Staff 

Conference saw a range of guests demonstrate how the quality of relationships affects 

outcomes of social care interventions with children and their families. The ongoing 

cycle of Practice Assurance Stocktakes conducted by independently appointed social 

care experts has cited evidence of good quality relationships with children and their 

families underpinning good and timely outcomes seen for children. Senior managers 

are regularly challenged at the Performance Improvement Board about the progress 

of different service areas and recommendations that have been made, led by an 

independently appointed Chair. 

The Bromley Relationship Model emphasises the importance of practitioners’ 

relationships with children and parents/carers as the vehicle through which CSC’s 

intervention is delivered. Authoritarian relationships, characterised by telling people 

what to do, will be discouraged in favour of motivating people to behave more 

appropriately.

Leaders, managers and practitioners will be enabled to work with each other and 

with children and families; with an emphasis on listening, self-reflection, enabling, 

motivating and creating the contexts for excellent practice to thrive.

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 135



The Partnership 20

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The most common reasons that children are identified as needing a social care service 

continues to be concern around the impact on children of domestic abuse, parental 

mental ill health, neglect and substance misuse.

CSC continues to invest in the safeguarding skill set of its social workers and their 

managers, providing a comprehensive and high-quality training and development offer 

that is underpinned by the continued embedding of its Social Work Academy. 

Some of the key achievements in 2019-20 to highlight include:

• CSC has continued to have a lower than London and national average referral rate 

and numbers of children who require social care support. The evidence from the 

ongoing cycle of practice reviews and assurance stocktakes gives confidence that 

threshold decisions by managers are safe for children through our services from 

the MASH ‘front door’ onwards.

• CSC has strengthened its senior leadership and recruited to its post of Assistant 

Director of Children’s Services. 

• The Quality Assurance Framework findings support that threshold is being well 

applied in decisions to undertake Section 47 enquiries and to convene Initial Child 

Protection Conferences. There is confidence the right children are being identified 

from assessment to receive this level of intervention and the number of children 

with a Child Protection Plan rose to 290 at the end of 2019-20 while 448 Initial 

Child Protection Conferences were convened during the year. 

• Similarly, the legal gateway panel applies robust decision making to ensure that 

children whose safety requires escalating further than a Child Protection Plan is 

addressed in a timely way for children. The panel process has been commended 

by our local judiciary for the benefits it achieves in supporting timely outcomes 

of care applications to the Court. CSC continues to achieve timescales of care 

proceedings that compare well in the London and national context. 

• The Staying Together team has launched and has achieved success during 

the year in working intensively with families to prevent young people becoming 

looked after by improving family relationships and young people’s safety. Across 

safeguarding services, the use of safety plans with families has grown and 

become embedded.

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 136



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 21Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

• The Bromley Pledge to our children in care and care leavers was launched during 

the summer of 2019 at the annual Corporate Parenting fun day. This outlines 

the key priorities for corporate partners to ensure our children are supported to 

achieve their full potential. 

• Change for Care Leavers was launched as a forum for our care leavers to address 

their concerns and challenge Children’s Social Care and our Active Involvement 

team lead a highly successful residential trip for six young parents.

CSC continues to face challenges that it has identified for the year ahead. These 

include:

• Managing caseloads through all our services at levels that give the best 

opportunity for social workers and their managers to demonstrate excellence 

consistently in their work with children and families.

• Recognising that the increasing complexity of referrals and need identified 

gives challenges to train and develop social workers to be better skilled in 

communicating with resistant parents, in enabling social workers to feel 

empowered in being clear in their professional authority and having a good 

knowledge of the legislative framework and statutory guidance that informs 

decisions. 

• CSC always continues to strive to enhance and build its collaborative working 

with its partners and is challenged to improve its strategy meeting practices.

• CSC is aware of the limitations of its recording system and are in the process of 

planning for a modernised recording system to improve the experience of social 

workers in evidencing the quality of their work. 

BSCP Challenge: The Partnership was advised of recent incidences where 
different professionals have chosen to dissent from a Child Protection Chair’s 
decision at Child Protection Conferences and not given a reason.

Action: The BSCP produced and circulated guidance on dissent and escalation at 
CP Conferences, reinforcing that partners always need to provide rationale and 
that this should be recorded in the minutes.

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 137



The Partnership 22

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

EDUCATION
The Safer Schools App has been rolled out to all Bromley schools in 2019-20.  

Bromley staff have been trained as Safer Schools Ambassadors and more of the 

workforce is benefitting from this excellent resource.  The Safer Schools App is 

designed to reinforce and enhance current safeguarding practices within schools 

by providing contemporary, credible and relevant resources to ensure the correct 

information gets to the right people at the right time and is never further away than 

their back pocket. The App provides dynamic continuous professional development 

for all school staff and also provides contemporary updates on emerging risks and 

threats via push notifications and the weekly updates from the Safer Schools Centre, 

both of which are highly regarded by local staff. The resources are available at any 

time, all from the convenience of a phone with the specific aim of creating a bond 

of safety among pupils, parents and teachers.   The aim for next year is to ensure all 

schools in Bromley have free access to this resource.

The Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) SEND Local Area inspection took 

place in September 2019.  Bromley was found to have made progress in a number 

of areas and was not required to submit a Written Statement of Action, negating the 

need for an inspection re-visit.  Bromley’s self-evaluation set out 18 key areas for 

improvement which will be monitored through the SEND Governance Board.

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 138



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 23Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

POLICE
Operation Aegis ran between October 2019 and March 2020 with input from child 

protection experts and KPMG. Front line officers were given additional training on 

child protection matters including “voice of the child”. There was bespoke input to 

the CSE/Missing Person teams, Child Abuse Teams and units that deal with indecent 

images. Information sharing has improved between departments as a result of 

the daily whiteboard used at the daily safeguarding meetings.  This has increased 

awareness and identification of risk around safeguarding for the children significantly. 

It has also greatly improved the quality of reports where children are victims and where 

safeguarding features prominently, rather than solely the crime aspect.

A bespoke Child Criminal Exploitation Team was set up in February 2020 in the South 

Basic Command Unit (BCU Sutton, Croydon and Bromley).  This aims to engage 

with children and partners in order to reduce risk and vulnerability around children 

becoming involved in County Lines. There have already been successful Operations 

around the country where lines have been disrupted, exploiters identified and arrested 

and children safeguarded.

In December 2019, a bespoke online Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation Team was 

set up to provide an enhanced and specialised response to referrals from the National 

Crime Agency relating to distribution and downloading of indecent images of children. 

Specialist trained and equipped officers with specific safeguarding training aim to 

not only disrupt and arrest offenders, but also identify risk and take part in Strategy 

Discussions.  The team also offers training and guidance to school officers around 

safeguarding in regard to peer to peer sharing.

OXLEAS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST (PROVIDER OF CHILD AND 
ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH SERVICE AND 0-4 HEALTH VISITING 
SERVICE IN BROMLEY)
There has been integration of the safeguarding children and safeguarding adults teams 

this year and governance to promote Think Family safeguarding throughout all Oxleas 

services.  Oxleas has also responded to concerns raised about the management of 

children with faltering growth through provision of training and clear pathways with 

partner providers. 

The documentation of children in the network of adult mental health service users in 

clinical records has improved following training, supervision and audits but this still 

remains a challenge. It will be further tackled through development of the new Record 

Keeping guidance and Ifox informatics reports which show clinicians and managers 

at a glance whether this has been completed and we will be able to gain senior 

management oversight of this.

BSCP Challenge: The Independent Chair challenged the increase in serious 
incidents at a tier 4 mental hospital for young people

Action: The Independent Chair has requested background on the incidents and 
has consulted with the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) on referrals. 
He has arranged a site visit to conduct an audit of policy and practice, once it is 
safe to do so following COVID-19.

KINGS COLLEGE HOSPITAL NHS TRUST (ACUTE SETTING: PRINCESS 
ROYAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AND SOUTH SITES)
King’s College Hospital (KCH) has robust process and procedures in place to 

safeguard children and young people accessing services and works closely 

with statutory partners.  Adhering to the “Think Child, Think Family” agenda has 

strengthened working relationships between adult and children safeguarding, a 

culture that safeguarding children and adults is everyone’s responsibility permeates 

across teams and services in the Trust with clear governance structure in place 

for safeguarding.  There are individuals with clearly defined leadership roles and a 

dedicated safeguarding children and adult teams which offers support to a wide range 

of clinical and non-clinical staff. 

Safeguarding staff at Kings College Hospital dealt with a case of Fabricated Induced 

Illness (FII) whereby a mother fabricated concerns for her toddler for a year and was 

subsequently sentenced to 8 years in prison.  This child was not a resident of Bromley 

but the learning is important across all boroughs so was shared by Kings with other 

partners via the PCI Subgroup.  The Safeguarding Lead committed to presenting 

a summary of learning at a Bromley event when the ‘George’ learning review is 

published.   This will ensure the Bromley workforce has case studies from across the 

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 139



The Partnership 24

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

age spectrum to inform their learning.

After significant turnover in the team, KCH has recruited into the permanent 

Safeguarding Children vacant posts. Additional resources have been agreed to recruit 

another Clinical nurse specialist for Safeguarding Children for a fixed term of 15 

months. This will enable and facilitate the support of children and their families as well 

as our staff. 

KCH is now able to provide and record Safeguarding Children Level 3 training virtually 

via Microsoft teams which will improve the support and education given to its staff.

BROMLEY HEALTHCARE (COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES)
Bromley Healthcare’s (BHC) Health Support for Schools Service provides support to 

those vulnerable children and young people who have been identified to the service, 

including those attending the Youth Offending Service (YOS). All schools in Bromley 

benefited from the work of a Named School Nurse. This means that education staff are 

able to seek advice and guidance if they are concerned about the social, emotional 

and mental health needs of children and young people in their settings. 

The Children Looked After (CLA) Nursing Team works with various professionals to 

provide advice and support to vulnerable children and young people in care. Each CLA 

Nurse has an area of interest, such as the Leaving Care Team (LCT) and the Children 

with Disabilities Team. This year, the CLA Nursing Team delivered a multi-agency 

training day for Young People Advisors (YPAs) and Social Workers in the Leaving Care 

(LCT) Team. This training day helped to facilitate a closer working relationship between 

the CLA Nurses, YPAs and Social Workers and helped to highlight which health related 

issues a CLA Nurse can and cannot help with. 

BHC’s Child Protection Paediatric On-Call Team receives calls from GPs for advice 

regarding safeguarding issues and concerns. It aims to respond to GP queries 

regarding child protection issues by telephone within one hour. This was achieved in 

all the seven cases during the past year. The pathway put in place for dealing with 

telephone calls for safeguarding advice has generally been successful.

BHC’s Children’s team continue their work within the Bromley MASH, providing health 

information and influencing decision making on referrals received into Children’s Social 

Care.  Bromley Healthcare has made efforts to ensure full time health cover in MASH 

and there is also remote cover from one of the Safeguarding Advisors on duty.

BSCP Challenge: BHC reported that the workload for the MASH Health 
representative has increased from 6-8 cases per day to 15-20, placing more 
demands on BHC’s Safeguarding Children’s team. Many of the cases are more 
complex and need more analysis.

Action: The partnership requested and analysed MASH data to understand the 
reasons for this and have agreed for a partnership MASH Steering Group to be 
set up. The role of the MASH Health representative will be reviewed this year.

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
The Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children and Young People has worked 

closely with CCG commissioning colleagues through the stages of procurement 

for new services. For example, the Designated Nurse worked on several different 

procurements to ensure safeguarding is an essential component of any commissioned 

service.  The Designated Nurse led on the commissioning of the Paediatric Liaison 

Nurse for Bromley and the role has been recruited to.  

Safeguarding training for Primary Care has remained strong. Led by the Named GP 

and the Designated Professionals, this year’s annual half day Safeguarding Children 

training was attended by record numbers with 317 delegates, helping to achieve 98% 

compliance with level 3 specialist training for GPs and contributing to a 40% increase 

in the number of members of the Primary Care Team trained in year.

The Designates for Children Looked After (CLA), over the past year, have further 

developed the structure of the quarterly multi agency Children Looked After Health 

Forum, raising the profile of CLA within health and other agencies, and contributed 

more effectively to the Corporate Parenting Board.

There have been changes and a shift in the safeguarding landscape due to changes 

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 140



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 25Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

in legislation as well as changes to the organisational architecture within Health and 

Social Care Systems. However, the Designated Professionals and Named GP have 

continued to deliver whilst demonstrating strong leadership skills and have delivered in 

discharging their safeguarding statutory functions.

On 1 April 2020, NHS South East London CCG was established. The new CCG is 

made up of the previous six south-east London CCGs in Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, 

Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark. To prepare for this, NHS England commissioned 

a mapping and gap-analysis exercise across Safeguarding Children & Young People, 

and Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults pathways in relation to the  six CCGs, with 

recommendations for future working.

YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE (YOS)
This year the YOS has developed its Youth Justice Strategy 2020/23 with a clear 

vision and focus on ‘child first, offender second’. The service has also developed an 

early help YOS Prevention Support Programme for children on cusp of offending or 

anti-social behaviour. The YOS Risk and Safeguarding Panel has continued to meet 

fortnightly, providing a partnership approach to managing risk and protecting the 

public.  There is an ongoing challenge around serious offending and gangs, with a 

focus on Contextual Safeguarding rather than just intelligence and information sharing.

PROBATION
This year the National Probation Service (NPS) has implemented a mailbox to ensure 

that all MASH queries coming into the probation service are dealt with expediently. 

There have been positive transitions for service users from Bromley Youth Offending 

Service to Bromley NPS with a clear transfer process and NPS has been represented 

at the Bromley Gangs Tasking meetings to ensure better information sharing and 

therefore risk management. 

There has been an increase in Child Safeguarding risk registers by the CRC 

(Community Rehabilitation Company) which is a positive sign that practitioners 

are recording the identified risks correctly. However, Safeguarding Assessments 

are underutilised. Work is underway to improve this and following the recent 

announcement around renationalisation of Probation, there are plans to align the 

TH
E

 P
A

R
TN

E
R

S
H

IP

The Partnership

P
age 141



The Partnership 26

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

practices of London CRC and the National Probation Service (NPS) ahead of 2021 

when the case management function of Probation comes under NPS control.

BSCP Challenge: Partners challenged the low compliance figures for 
safeguarding assessments completed by CRC

Action: CRC provided full written evidence to explain how the issue had arisen 
and what remedial actions are being put in place to ensure safeguarding 
assessments are captured alongside the new OMNIA system.  Progress will 
be monitored by the PCI Subgroup to ensure numbers increase as soon as the 
Exceptional Delivery Model ceases.

CHANGE, GROW, LIVE (BROMLEY CHANGES DRUG AND ALCOHOL 
SERVICE FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE) 
This year Bromley Changes has delivered in-house Safeguarding Workshops with the 

whole staff team; each workshop covers a different adult or child safeguarding theme, 

providing an opportunity to share experience, increase knowledge and develop further 

professional curiosity amongst the team.

The referral rate from children’s Social Care was lower than CGL expected and there 

was a rise in the number of inappropriate referrals. This was addressed on a case by 

case basis and the service  prepared webinars in order to explain the work that they 

do with young people.

The Partnership

P
age 142



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 27Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication

Communication

P
age 143



The Partnership 28

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BSCP communicates with partner agencies and Bromley residents via the BSCP 

website and Twitter account. We also produce a newsletter for the children’s workforce 

in Bromley and have a series of short videos explaining our work and priorities. 

THE BSCP WEBSITE

    www.bromleysafeguarding.org

The BSCP website includes separate sections for people working with children, 

for parents and carers, and for children and young people.  Issues including CSE, 

E-Safety, Gangs, Harmful Practices, Radicalisation, Emotional Health and Wellbeing; 

Domestic Abuse, Bullying, Substance and Alcohol Misuse and Sexual Health have 

their own sections of the website with advice, signposting to resources, tips and 

information tailored to the specific audience.   There are specific pages for young 

carers, children in care, licensed premises, and educational establishments.  We have 

videos embedded, a News section and a live Twitter feed.  The BSCP multi-agency 

training programme is accessed through the website and the Training and Resources 

section is a rich source of learning from audits, reviews and partnership events.

TWITTER

    @BromleyLSCP

BSCP’s Twitter account was launched in January 2017 and has been steadily 

increasing its number of followers.  BSCP uses Twitter to share information about local 

and national safeguarding campaigns and promote local learning events and BSCP 

products to the children’s workforce in Bromley as well as children, young people and 

families in the Borough.  BSCP has supported the following campaigns through Twitter 

and our website this year:  online safety, mental health, young carers, neglect, safer 

sleeping, homelessness, FGM, preventing suicide, private fostering, adoption, kinship 

care and Social Work Day.

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
AT

IO
N

Communication

P
age 144

http://www.bromleysafeguarding.org/
https://twitter.com/BromleyLSCP


BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 29Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Safeguarding 
Context in Bromley

Safeguarding Context

P
age 145



The Partnership 30

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY DEMOGRAPHICS SNAPSHOT

Approximately 80,000 children and 

young people are under 18.  Of these, around 

21,000 are aged less than five years.  

0-18 year olds make up 24% of the total 

population in Bromley.

Bromley’s largest ethnic group is white British. 

Our other ethnic groups are Black African (7%), White and Black Caribbean (3%) and 

Black Caribbean (3%).  Other White group, which include Gypsy or Irish Travellers, 

is 6%. Although only around 19% of Bromley’s population are from BAME, for our 

school population the percentage of BAME is much higher at 35%. 

The level of child poverty is better than the England average with15.5% of 

children aged under 16 years living in poverty.. 

The children and young people JSNA 2018 was published in July 2018: 

    Children and Young People Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) 2018

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 146

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/904/children_and_young_person_joint_strategic_needs_assessment_jsna


BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 31Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING INFORMATION

MASH ENQUIRIES AND REFERRALS
The number of monthly MASH enquiries received during 2019-20 has fluctuated 

throughout the year peaking at a high of 870 in July 2019.

The three biggest sources of enquiries to the MASH in this period were:

• Police - 43%

• Health - 19%

• Schools - 14%

44% of all children with MASH enquiries in 2019-20 were referred to Children’s Social 

Care (CSC) for an assessment. This conversion rate is the same as 2018-19; there has 

been an improved awareness of safeguarding and we continue to work with partners 

on their understanding of threshold. The highest conversion happened in October 

2019 (53%); with the lowest (33%) in March 2020.

BSCP Challenge: Data showed that a significant proportion of MASH contacts 
were passing through MASH without MASH input

Action: The partnership requested and analysed MASH data to understand the 
reasons for this and have agreed for a partnership MASH Steering Group to be 
set up.

SOCIAL WORK ASSESSMENTS
In 2019-20, 3588 Social Work Assessments (SWAs) were completed; compared to 

2957 in 2018-19. 87% of SWAs were completed within 45 days, above the previous 

year’s outturn of 81% and in line with our annual 2019-20 target of 87%. The 3 most 

common factors identified at SWA were:

• Domestic Abuse (of parent/carer)

• Mental Health (of parent/carer)

• Emotional Abuse (of child)

CHILDREN IN NEED
A child in need is defined under the Children Act 1989 as a child who is unlikely to 

reach or maintain a satisfactory level of health or development, or their health or 

development will be significantly impaired, without the provision of services, or where 

the child is disabled.

The Department for Education Child in Need Census includes all children referred 

to CSC and any that are currently open cases, except cases where children have 

reached successful permanence and are being monitored for funding purposes. 

Locally, our Child in Need cohort is those children who have been assessed as being 

in need by a completed Social Work Assessment (excluding Children Looked After, 

Care Leavers, Child Protection and Private Fostering). Children with a disability are 

categorised into further subcategories of Child in Need.

In 2019/20, 5421 children were open to Children’s Social Care at some point. At 31st 

March there were 2419 children in need. This is 322 per 10,000 children in the Bromley 

population, below the 2018/19 national average of 334 per 10,000. 

SECTION 47 INVESTIGATIONS AND INITIAL CONFERENCES
1166 Strategy Discussions were held in 2019-20 and 814 Section 47 enquiries 

commenced. This is a significant decrease from 2018-19.

446 children were the subject of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC) in 2019-

20. This is a 5% increase from 2018-19. The average monthly number for 2019-20 

was 37, ranging from the lowest number of 22 in January 2020 and the highest of 49 in 

June 2019. Per 10,000 children in Bromley, 59 children had an ICPC, the same as last 

year, but below the national average of 65.

87% of ICPCs have resulted in the child becoming subject to a Child Protection Plan 

in 2019-20, compared to 86% nationally. 79% of ICPCs were conducted within 15 

days of S47. This is the lower than the previous year’s outturn and in line with the 

national average.

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 147



The Partnership 32

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

CHILDREN SUBJECT TO A CHILD PROTECTION PLAN
There were 294 children subject to a child protection plan at 31st March 2020. This 

represents 39 per 10,000 population and is an increase from last year but below the 

national average rate of 44. 

The highest category of abuse for Child Protection Plans is Neglect (194, 66%); 

followed by Emotional Abuse (95, 32%).

In 2019-20, 10 children have ceased to be subject to a Child Protection Plan that was 

longer than 2 years. This is 2 less than the previous year and remains in line with the 

national average of 3%.

63 children (15%) were subject to a Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent 

time in 2018-19. This is lower than the national average of 21%. 

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER
At the end of March 2019, there were 331 Children Looked After (CLA). This is a 

decrease of 17 children compared to the end of 2018-19. This amounts to 44 per 

10,000 population and is significantly below the national average rate of 65 per 

10,000.

53% of the CLA cases were held in the CLA team and 15% in the Leaving Care Team 

(LCT). The remaining children were spread across 5 other Children’s Social Care 

teams.

At 31st March 2020, 21% of children were looked after under Section 20. This is a 

decrease from the previous year and can largely be explained by the reduction in 

unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children which has decreased from 50 to 22 at 31st 

March (2019 to 2020).

33 (10.0%) children were in 3 or more placements during 2019-20. This is the same as 

2018-19 and the national average of 10%.

56% of Children Looked After under the age of 16 have been in care for 2.5 years and 

in the same placement for two years. This is below the National average of 69%.

At 31st March 2020:

• 76% of CLA were in foster placements. Of these, 42% with in-house carers, 40% 

with IFAs, 18% in connected persons placements

• 20% in residential placements

• 1% in independent living

• 2% in adoptive placements

• 1% placed at home

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 148



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 33Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

17% of children are placed outside of Bromley and more than 20 miles from where 

they used to live. This is slightly above the national average of 15%. Of the 75 

care leavers aged 17 and 18, 74 were in touch, and of this , 93% were in suitable 

accommodation. 68% were in Education, Employment or Training (EET). The outturns 

for 19-21 year old care leavers are below the national average. 17% of the 169 care 

leavers were no longer in touch on their birthday compared to 7% nationally. 78% 

were in suitable accommodation, compared to 85% nationally. 47% were in EET.

Of those children continuously looked after for 12 months at 31st March 2020: 

• 91% of under 5s had up to date health checks completed within the statutory 

timeframe

• 91% of children had a health assessment completed within the statutory 

timeframe

• 88% of children had a dental check completed within the statutory timeframe

• 95% of children were up to date with their immunisations

ADOPTION
8 children were adopted from care in 2019-20. This is 12% of children ceasing to be 

looked after - above last year (9.5%) and just below the national average of 13%.

9 children have been newly placed for adoption in the year, a reduction from 22 in 

2017-18. At the end of 2018-19 there were 4 children placed for adoption and a further 

10 had had a decision for adoption and were waiting to be placed.

27 Children Looked After (14%) ceased to be looked after due to a Special 

Guardianship Order in 2019-20. This is an increase on the number from 2018-19.

The average number of days between a child entering care and moving in with an 

adoptive family in 2019-20 was 374. This is lower than the national threshold of 426 

days.

The average number of days between Bromley receiving court authority to place a 

child, and matching the child with an adoptive family, was 147 days in 2019-20. This is 

longer than the national threshold of 121 days. The 3-year average is also above this 

at 172 days.

The percentage of children waiting less than 14 months between entering care and 

moving in with their adoptive family was sustained at 61%; above the national average 

of 43%.

The published scorecard looks at data over the last 3 years. 

At the end of 2018-19, there were 110 approved foster carer households (including 

respite and connected persons). This is a decrease from 122 at the end of 2018-19. 

There have been 7 newly approved mainstream foster carer households in 2019-20, 8 

less than the previous year.

YOUTH OFFENDING 

BSCP Challenge: Partners noted a shift in focus in the partnership model 
between YOS and CAMHS, moving to a clinical in-reach service to the YOS

Action: BSCP have committed to reviewing this arrangement in six months in 
order to establish if this is a reduction in service and if so, what the impact is

The Youth Offending Service (YOS) works with children and young people aged 10 

– 17 years involved in offending.  The aim is to reduce offending and reoffending.  

The service provision and performance is managed and scrutinised by the YOS 

Partnership Board chaired by the LBB Chief Executive and reports directly to the 

Youth Justice Board/ Ministry of Justice (MoJ).

YOS is a multi-disciplinary team comprising of education (education welfare and 

Education, training and employment advisor), police and health (speech and language, 

Nurse and Psychologist, substance misuse).  YOS delivers a range of interventions 

to address offending behaviour including restorative justice, reparation and cognitive 

behaviour programmes.

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 149



The Partnership 34

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Out of Court Disposals (OOCD) is an effective way of preventing children coming into 

the criminal justice system.  In response to the increase in number of early entrants 

into offending, Bromley has reviewed out of court disposals and has implemented a 

Joint Decision Making Panel.

REDUCING THE NUMBER OF FIRST TIME ENTRANTS
Preventing first time entrants (FTE) into the Youth Justice System continues to be 

positive in Bromley.  This measure helps us to understand how effective the local area 

is in supporting young people not to offend. The number of first-time entrants entering 

the criminal justice system is tracked by the YOS for an annual period. The latest 

figures available are for a 12 month period October 2018 – September 2019:

• 54 young people became first time entrants into the criminal justice system during 

this period. This is a 29% (74) reduction in the rate of first-time entrants compared 

with the previous year. 

• Bromley’s rate of first-time entrants is 36% lower than the average for London, 

and is 21% below the national average. FTEs are 1% above statistical neighbours. 

Bromley also has the lowest rate compared with the 6 surrounding boroughs.

• Bromley has the 10th lowest FTE rate in London and is ranked 66th lowest out of 

the 154 YOS in the country.

Part of the success in reducing FTE in Bromley is the triage offer to young people that 

diverts them from the criminal justice system away from crime.

REDUCING THE NUMBER OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WHO 
OFFEND AND REOFFEND
The YOS tracks a cohort of offenders who received a pre-court, court disposal or were 

released from custody in a 12 month period. The latest figures available are for a 12 

month period between April 2017 - March 2018 (tracked until the end of March 2019):

• 182 young people were sentenced between April 2017 - March 2018.

• This is an 18% (39 cases) reduction over a 4 year period.  68 (37%) reoffended 

within a one year tracking period. Bromley YOS reoffending rate has reduced by 

3% on the previous year (April 2016 – March 2017). Bromley YOS reoffending rate 

is 5% lower than the average for London and 1% below the national average. The 

rate of reoffending is 4% higher than statistical neighbours

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 150



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 35Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The YOS continues to target the most prolific and high risk of reoffending children 

with more intensive interventions aimed at reducing further offending through 

constructive activities, group work and one to one supervision. Re-offending is 

monitored weekly by the YOS management team who produce reports on any young 

person who has reoffending each week. This allows YOS to learn and identify the 

reason for further offending and put plans in place to prevent any offending occurring 

in the future.

There are a number of areas of activity that the YOS will be jointly working on this 

year with partners to better understand offending in Bromley.  This will increase 

the opportunities to enhance a preventative offer as well as enable better use of 

the existing early help provision in the borough, all of which will impact on better 

outcomes for this group of young people.

CUSTODY
The YOS tracks the number of young people sentenced to custody on an annual 

basis. Good performance is typified by a low figure (January 2019 – December 

2019):

• Two young people were sentenced to custody between April 2019 - March 2020. 

One young person was sentenced to custody 3 times for 3 separate offences, 

resulting in four custodial sentences.

• This is a slight increase on the same period last year (from 3 to 4). Bromley’s 

rate of custodial sentences is 22% below the London average, 10% below the 

national average and 1% below statistical neighbours. 

• Bromley is currently ranked 56 out of the 154 YOS in the country and has the 

5th lowest rate of custodial sentences in London. Bromley has the 2nd lowest 

custody rate in comparison to its 6 neighbouring boroughs.

• Bromley continues to work with the courts, young people and families to 

manage risk safely in the community.  Although the YOS acknowledges that all 

of the current children are in custody for serious offences and custodial was 

inevitable in these cases, however, it continues to provide support to all its 

children in custody. 

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 151



The Partnership 36

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

BSCP Strategic Priority 1: The Local Safeguarding Context

Action 2017-19: To monitor the ongoing effectiveness and impact of the 
partnership in responding  Domestic Violence

In August 2019, Bromley appointed a new Domestic Abuse (DA) Strategy Coordinator. 

Prior to this the post had been vacant for some time.  The role now sits within Early 

Intervention and Family Support Services which aids the early intervention approach 

we want to take in Bromley to addressing and tackling domestic violence and abuse.

The Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) / DA strategy is currently being 

refreshed. One of the key priorities is to raise the profile of DA/VAWG in the borough 

and promote the message that it is everyone’s responsibility to tackle this issue.  

Bromley wants to adopt an integrated, multi-agency approach of early intervention.  

The strategic DA/VAWG forum has been in place since April 2020; the operational 

forum has been delayed due to COVID-19. 

10,000 discreet wallet sized cards are being disseminated to partner agencies for front 

line practitioners to give to people, who may be experiencing domestic abuse. The 

cards contain numbers and websites for local and national services and helplines. 

Another priority is to enhance and develop the DA/VAWG training offer with a move 

towards providing more web-based training, to assist remote working during the 

COVID 19 pandemic. 

Bromley is currently reviewing its MARAC (multi agency risk assessment conference 

for DA), to raise its profile and to ensure all services are aware of its function and are 

equally represented at MARAC meetings. A MARAC action plan will be developed for 

implementation across all relevant agencies. 

Main areas of work this year were:

• Refreshing the Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy 

• Service mapping and identifying gaps in provision (on-going – local analysis 

completed) 

• Development of partnership working and Strategic and Operational DVA/VAWG 

Forums 

• Funding (on-going area of work) 

Data from the Mayor’s Office for Police and Crime (MOPAC) shows that in Bromley, 

between June 2019 and May 2020, there were:

• 3037 domestic abuse offences (where a crime has been committed and recorded) 

•  4,776 domestic abuse incidents (where a crime has not been committed but is 

recorded for intelligence purposes –i.e. a verbal argument) 

• 506 sexual offences.  

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 152



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 37Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

With regard to commissioned services: 

• 466 new referrals were made to our IDVA Service, between April 2019 and March 

2020.

• 358 people accessed the One Stop Shop between April 2019 and March 2020.

• There are 180 places available for the Freedom programme each year. In 

2019/2020 275 women were offered a place on the programme with 135 women 

completing the course.

ELECTIVE HOME EDUCATION
The table below records the number of children known to be Electively Home 

Educated in Bromley dating back to 2011/12.  It should be noted that these figures are 

based on academic years as opposed to financial years.

As of March 2020, 314 children were registered as receiving elective home education 

(EHE). 

Year Number of EHE

2019/2020 March 2020 314 (Jul’19 317)

2018/2019 March 2019 287 (Jul’18 298)

2017/2018 232

2016/2017 206

2015/2016 212

2014/2015 178

2013/2014 146

2012/2013 139

2011/2012 122

Bromley’s Elective Home Education Policy and Guidance for parents is in the process 

of review in light of Government Guidance issued in April 2019. It is important to note 

that Bromley’s systems and oversight of Elective Home Education continue to be 

a focus for everyone involved. The Director of Education has monthly oversight of 

this cohort in order to ensure systems retain the robustness identified in the Ofsted 

Inspection report in early 2019.

The data demonstrates that there continues to be a steady year on year increase. 

This is not confined to Bromley, but seen as a national trend.  It is recognised that this 

number is fluid with families returning to mainstream education during the academic 

year. That said, the approximate number of children and young people under the age 

of 18 years living in Bromley is 75,055. Meaning as a percentage, the EHE cohort that 

we are aware of is approximately 0.4%.

EHE reviews undertaken by way of home visits by the EHE Adviser for the 2019/2020 

academic year have been understandably affected by the COVID-19 lockdown. 

However, there has been a 71% engagement from families from both home visits and 

receiving reports and work samples by email or post in the 2019/2020 academic year 

to end June 2020.   EWS has supported the EHE Advisor in undertaking telephone 

calls with some of the hard to engage families in this cohort to satisfy the LA that 

the young people are in receipt of an education. Where there are cases of non-

engagement there are clear systems of escalation embedded in practice which are 

followed. 

The Local Authority has a good understanding of the reasons why parents choose 

to home educate their child.  The table below confirms that philosophical preference 

continues to be the biggest reason for parents choosing to declare EHE, however in 

the last year the gap between this reason and dissatisfaction with the school appears 

to have narrowed. 

Year 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17

Philosophical Preference 26% 31% 26% 27%

Bullying and anxiety issues 5.3% 13.9% 17% 18%

Dissatisfaction with the school 20% 19.9% 12.1% 6.1%

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 153



The Partnership 38

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The ethnic breakdown of students whose family declare EHE appears to be 

representative of the demographic mix of the population of Bromley.  Of the 319 

families that declared EHE, 217 disclosed their ethnicity with 40.75% of EHE 

declarations coming from a white British background compared to the previous year 

of 56.4% and 22.9% from a minority ethnic background compared to 30.3% the 

previous year.  However, this is tempered by the number of families who did not wish 

to disclose their ethnicity which stands at 31.97%.

A clear protocol exists between Bromley CSC and the Education Welfare Service to 

manage EHE arrangements. These arrangements remain subject to on-going and 

robust scrutiny by Senior Leadership Team and Portfolio holders.

Partnership working continues to be important and has enabled partners to take a 

more preventative approach to decisions on Elective Home Education, as well as 

providing children and families with appropriate support.  

PRIVATE FOSTERING
The Private Fostering Regulations apply when children or young people, under the age 

of 16 years (18 if they have a disability) live with a person who is not a close relative 

for 28 days or more. The Local Authority where the arrangement takes place needs to 

assess the suitability of this arrangement and review it under the Private Fostering (PF) 

Regulations to ensure the placement can safeguard and promote the child’s welfare. 

The BSCP monitors the arrangements in place for privately fostered children in 

Bromley. The PCI Subgroup considers the quarterly data on private fostering and 

scrutinises the PF annual report to scrutinise the arrangements the LA has in place to 

discharge its duties. 

The PF Service was reviewed and inspected in November 2018 and underwent a 

Practice Assurance Stocktake by the LA in February 2019 and September 2019 

respectively. In all three inspections the service received positive and encouraging 

feedback. They concluded that assessments were child centred, placements were 

appropriate, arrangements were made within required timescales and all statutory 

checks are completed. 

The data below illustrates that the number of notifications has continued to rise in 

Bromley over the last 4 years. This is due to proactive work in raising awareness 

amongst partners. In 2019/20 there were 29 notifications compared to 25 in the 

previous year. This is a continued upwards trend in notifications and what is most 

encouraging is the increase in the diverse sources of notifications, for example; 

housing, hospital and faith groups. Visibly there is a more proactive role from social 

workers across children services. This is the result of making PF Training part of 

Safeguarding mandatory training for social workers and other children safeguarding 

officers in Bromley.

SOURCE OF NOTIFICATIONS NUMBER OF NOTIFICATIONS 

Bromley School Admissions 7

Children Social Care 7

Kings College Beckenham 4

Public 3

Bromley Housing 3

School Inclusion 1

GP Surgery 1

Hospital 1

Other Professionals 1

Faith Group 1

Total Notifications for the Year 29

In 2019-2020 there were 27 children in private fostering arrangements, and 10 open 

arrangements at 31st March 2020. Two children were accommodated by the LA and 

permanence was achieved for three children via the making of Special Guardianship 

Orders.

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 154



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 39Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

From the 27 private fostering arrangements, 14 were on-going arrangements from 

previous years and 13 were new arrangements. This continues to be encouraging 

compared to previous years and compares well to geographical and statistical 

neighbouring authorities.  The service is aware of the lack of notifications from 

partners in Health such as GPs and A&E and focusses awareness raising 

appropriately.

The PF Service took part in Private Fostering week in July 2019 as part of a co-

ordinated awareness raising campaign in England, using breakout rooms for events.  

The PF app has been downloaded 12,000 times; downloads continue to rise and is a 

useful tool for new entrant social workers. 

This financial year we worked collaboratively with lead practitioners from 15 local 

authorities including Norwich, Cambridge, Kent and Essex in developing effective 

safeguarding systems which are uniform across local authorities. Bromley continues to 

lead on this and with Bromley’s leadership the group has agreed Terms of Reference 

for the Group and proposed an annual subscription fee. This will empower the 

interest group to be financially viable in sourcing for practice, academic and legal 

experts in private fostering, to give advice and support to the group in developing 

best practice, collaborative and consistent awareness raising campaigns. The group 

also formed subgroups for training, awareness raising and communication; the aims 

are to promote collaborative training within neighbouring authorities, liaising with 

border agencies to curb child trafficking and the standardization of forms, processes, 

procedures and policies across local authorities. 

YOUNG CARERS 
Young carers are young people who care for a family member who is affected by a 

long-term illness, disability, mental health issue, alcohol or substance misuse or HIV. 

Bromley Well supports young carers aged 4 - 19 years to manage caring relationships 

whilst enjoying childhood.

Bromley Well is currently in contact with 260 young carers living in the London 

Borough of Bromley. 

SEND (SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY)
The Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) SEND Local Area inspection took 

place in September 2019.  Bromley Council and Bromley NHS Clinical Commissioning 

Group welcomed the inspection, which provided a real opportunity to evidence the 

local area’s hard work and shared commitment to improving services and support for 

children and young people who have special educational needs and/or disabilities and 

their families.

Through the self-evaluation of the local area, the Council, CCG and other partners 

were able to provide inspectors with areas of strength including evidenced examples 

of good practice and sustained improvement.   Bromley’s self-evaluation set out 18 

key areas for improvement.  The local area has been found to have made progress 

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 155



The Partnership 40

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

in a number of areas and was not required to submit a Written Statement of Action, 

negating the need for an inspection re-visit. Progress is monitored through the SEND 

Governance Board.

As at March 2020, there are 2,544 children and young people who have an Education 

Health and Care Plan, a 14% increase on the same period in 2019.

The January 2020 school census indicates that 1,859 children with either SEN Support 

or an EHCP are eligible for free school meals, 810 speak English as an additional 

language and 77 are identified as being from the traveller population: 

Travellers EAL Free School Meals

SEN Support 71 628 1,352

EHC Plan 6 182 507

77 810 1,859

Bromley schools have a higher percentage than London or nationally of pupils with the 

following needs: 

• Specific learning difficulties 

• Severe learning difficulties 

• Social, emotional and mental health needs 

• Hearing impairment 

CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES
At the beginning of August 2020, there were 382 children open to the Children’s 

Disability Service. These are children with a severe or profound disability. Children who 

require social care support who have a mild or moderate disability can be supported 

by colleagues across other social care teams. 

Within the 382 children, there are presently 79 children open via a self-assessment. 

These are children with a severe or profound disability, whom benefit from the 

provision of short breaks, although do not require a social work visit or increased 

intervention from social care. This supports children with disabilities and their families 

to receive a service through a more proportionate assessment.

The team is presently responsible for 22 looked after children and 3 children who are 

subject to a child protection plan. 

All children known to the Children’s Disability Service are classed as ‘children in need’. 

There are currently 7 ‘children in need level 3’, requiring the highest level of support 

with 4 weekly visits and 6 weekly meetings. These children may be at risk of coming 

into care or there may be safeguarding issues requiring a high level of monitoring.  

The Children’s Disability Service continue to complete their own strategy discussions 

and subsequent Section 47 enquiries and recommend for Child Protection 

Conferences if applicable. This has strengthened the safeguarding of disabled 

children; having practitioners with knowledge of the child, family, and the child’s 

communication needs, therefore aiding in making appropriate decisions to safeguard 

the child, whilst also recognising the pressures and complexity of caring for a severely 

disabled child.

The team also leads on cases that need presenting to the courts.  This ownership of 

the child’s situation has improved the skills of practitioners and consistency of support 

for children with disabilities. The service continues to support the children within the 

service if they meet the criteria from initial assessment through to adulthood, which 

offers consistent support to the child and family and embraces the ‘relationship model’ 

within Bromley.

CHILDREN’S MENTAL HEALTH
Bromley has a single point of access for children and young people experiencing 

emotional or mental health issues. This is provided by the Community Wellbeing 

Service (Bromley Y).  Specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

(CAMHS) is provided by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust in Bromley.  It is based at two 

sites – Stepping Stones House and Phoenix Centre.

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 156



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 41Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The number of children’s social care referrals made in 2019/2020 by Oxleas services 

(Bromley CAMHS, Adult mental health and Health visiting) was 86 which is similar to 

the previous year. The Safeguarding team continues to monitor and quality assure the 

referral process. 

The number of children seen by Bromley CAMHS in 2019/2020 was 1030. This is 

approximately the same as the past two years.

MAPPA
The Criminal Justice Act 2003 provided for the establishment of Multi-Agency Public 

Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) in England and Wales.

These are designed to protect the public, including previous victims of crime, from 

serious harm by sexual and violent offenders. They require the local criminal justice 

agencies and other bodies dealing with offenders to work together in partnership in 

dealing with these offenders. The Police, Prison and Probation Services (Responsible 

Authority) have a duty to ensure that the risks posed by specified sexual and violent 

offenders are assessed and managed appropriately. Other bodies (Duty to Co-operate 

agencies) have a duty to co-operate with the Responsible Authority in this task. Duty 

to Co-operate agencies are YOS, Ministers of the Crown eg Job Centre Plus, local 

education authority, local housing authority, local social services authority, local health 

authority, Primary Care trust, NHS Trust, providers of electronic monitoring and Home 

Office Immigration Enforcement.

As of 31/03/20 there were 50 Category 1 (Registered Sex Offenders), 64 Category 

2 (Violent Offenders) and 1 Category 3 (Other violent Offender) in the community 

supervised by NPS Bromley subject to MAPPA scrutiny.

ALCOHOL AND SUBSTANCE MISUSE
In 2019/2020, Change Grow Live (CGL) Bromley Changes (children’s drug and alcohol 

misuse service) received a total of 221 referrals into the service, compared to 185 the 

previous year. The service is continuing to be more established within the borough 

of Bromley as they have received an increase in referrals from Secondary Schools 

as well as from partner agencies.   This year, in-house safeguarding workshops have 

been delivered with the whole staff team; each workshop covers a different Adult/

Child Safeguarding theme, providing an opportunity to share experience, increase 

knowledge and develop further professional curiosity amongst the team.

S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
O

N
TE

X
T 

IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Safeguarding Context

P
age 157



The Partnership 42

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Progress in 
Bromley

Progress in Bromley

P
age 158



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 43Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

EARLY HELP

BSCP Strategic Priority 2: Early Help and Early Intervention.

Actions 2017-19: To evaluate the effectiveness of early help arrangements in 
Bromley

Early Intervention and Family Support Services (EIFS) comprise of the Bromley 

Children Project (BCP) which includes Children and Family Centres, Family Support 

and Parenting Practitioners under Sure Start Children and Family Centres and the 

Tackling Troubled Families agendas, as well as the Information Advice and Support 

Service, the Common Assessment Framework (CAF) Team, and the Family Contact 

Centres.

The strong focus on effective early intervention is so that children and their families 

can receive the help they need at the best time for them.  When children and their 

families need to receive a service, the focus is on understanding their needs and their 

context well so that help is purposeful and achieves the best outcomes for them.  This 

is reviewed closely so that intervention is no longer than is necessary.  Practitioners 

work holistically with the family to help them take back control by supporting them to 

build their self-efficacy and resilience in order to make changes to improve their lives 

and leave them with the skills to tackle future challenges.

The Bromley Children Project Facebook presence continues to grow in popularity and 

a BCP Instagram account has also been launched.  In the coming year, and as a direct 

response to COVID-19, BCP will be publishing videos for parents to use with their 

children on Mondays and Fridays including story time, singing and craft.

EIFS continues to host the monthly MAPE (Multi Agency Partnership Event) 

‘Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business’ training event.  This has been well attended 

and feedback has been excellent.  This year two new events have been introduced 

covering special educational needs and disability, Youth Offending Service and Youth 

Services.

COMMON ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK (CAF)
Bromley maintains a centralised Common Assessment Framework (CAF) service 

within EIFS, providing support, training and a central repository for all CAF (also 

known as early help assessments) completed by any professional working with 

families in Bromley.

The CAF team works with any agency working with children providing bespoke 

training as requested as well as the training published through the BSCP.  

There has previously been an increase in CAF referrals during 2018/19.  Unfortunately, 

during 2019/20 there has been a reduction. Primary schools remain the biggest author 

of CAF, with Children’s Social Care, Bromley Children Project and Secondary Schools 

making up the vast majority of the CAFs logged this year.

Data shows that Early Years Settings and Health services continue to log very 

few CAF.  Despite work undertaken with partners to increase their knowledge and 

understanding of both the process of CAF and benefits of it to families, this has not 

translated into an increase in the number of CAF being logged.  This continues to be a 

key focus for the service during the coming year.

FAMILY SUPPORT AND PARENTING WORK
The EIFS continues to deliver a range of evidence based accredited parenting 

programmes across all six Children and Family Centres and when demand requires, 

out of other venues including pupil referral units and schools, subject to capacity.

The range of programmes delivered cover parents of children and young people of all 

ages (0-25, including SEND) and include self-reported before and after measures in 

relation to confidence, learnt strategies and family cohesion.

All Family Support and Parenting Practitioners are trained to deliver these programmes 

which ensures consistency of practice and advice / support for families including in 

their one to one case work.  Previously there has been a year on year increase in the 

number of evidence based parenting programme, however, during 2019/20 EIFS ran 

59 courses, but due to COVID-19 only 42 fully completed. 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Progress in Bromley

P
age 159



The Partnership 44

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

This year EIFS introduced ‘Cygnet’, a specialist course for parents and Carers of 

children with ASD, and based on demand, they have run this course more than any 

other programme.  Feedback has been extremely positive from the vast majority of the 

parents attending.

Feedback continues to demonstrate the positive impact of attending any of these 

evidence based parenting programmes with other parents who are struggling.  The 

positive impact reflects improved parenting abilities, improved wellbeing, reduced 

isolation and generally happier families.

CHILDREN AND FAMILY CENTRES
The Children and Family Centres offer a wide range of activities and courses to 

promote good physical and emotional development.  These are commissioned 

annually to meet needs and are also delivered in partnership with other agencies.

Some examples of the types of activities for physical health include; Parent and Baby 

yoga, Family Sports, Cookery activities, Exercise classes, Pregnancy classes, Dietetic 

drop-ins, Music and Movement classes for babies and toddlers, Therapy sessions 

through Bromley Healthcare, Midwifery both standard and young person’s clinics, 

breastfeeding support, healthy snack choices in our crèches.

Each of the three Children and Family Centre Localities has run targeted Education 

Engagement Events,  Pre-School Engagement Events, Health Engagement Events 

to target their local partners within the wider children’s workforce.  There has been 

an increase in referrals to Bromley Children Project for family support and parenting 

support from schools who have attended these events.  

EIFS has increased the number of visits to the Children and Family Centres and 

the unique users accessing the Children and Family Centres year on year, with the 

exception of 2019/20 due to COVID-19, as shown by the table below.

Year No. of Visits No. of ‘unique’ visitors

2016/17 85,430 19,179

2017/18 94,709 23,547

2018/19 99,982 25,035

2019/20 97,232 24,486

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Progress in Bromley

P
age 160



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 45Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

In 8 of the 12 months of this year, footfall was higher than in 2018/19.  The largest 

decrease in footfall was in March 2020. The data strongly suggests had COVID-19 

not happened, that the service would have seen in excess of 100,000 visits during 

2019/20, and supported in excess of 26,500 unique visitors.

Due to COVID-19, the Children and Family Centres ceased all group activities mid-

March 2020.  The commissioning process for services for the coming year 2020/21 

had been completed but contracts were held back due to the uncertainty of lockdown.  

It is hoped that when lockdown is lifted, and it is safe to reopen, providers will be in a 

position to return.

TACKLING TROUBLED FAMILIES
EIFS continues to lead on the Tackling Troubled Families (TTF) agenda within Bromley. 

The number of families referred to BCP for support continues to grow.  A referral for 

Bromley Children Project relates to a whole family rather than an individual child or 

children, and EIFS have received an all-time high this year.

As at 31 March 2020, all the Troubled Family Programme milestones agreed with 

the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) had been 

achieved: Bromley had ‘attached’ 3,289 families against the agreed target of 1,700, 

therefore exceeding the target by 1,589.

In September 2019, the MHCLG announced funding for TTF will continue in 2020/21. 

Work has continued in terms of identifying families through EIFS on a daily basis and 

the total of ‘attached’ families will continue to grow during the additional year of Phase 

2 of this programme.

Bromley also succeeded in achieving the targets set by the MHCLG in relation to 

claims for families who have been successfully ‘turned round’.  In order to do so 

officers have to submit evidence to Internal Audit to evidence that the changes made 

by the family are both ‘significant and sustained’.

INFORMATION ADVICE AND SUPPORT SERVICE
The Information Advice and Support Service continues to provide independent 

impartial information advice and guidance to children and young people with SEND 

and their parents/carers, as well as professionals across the children’s workforce. 

The number of families supported by Information Advice and Support Service 

continues to support a steady number of families:

Year No. of IASS cases opened

2016/17 530

2017/18 546

2018/19 553

2019/20 550

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Progress in Bromley

P
age 161



The Partnership 46

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE), MISSING CHILDREN AND GANGS

BSCP Strategic Priority 1: The Local Safeguarding Context

Action 2017-19: To monitor the ongoing effectiveness and impact of the 
partnership in responding to CSE, Missing and Gangs

The Atlas Team was established in January 2017 with key emphasis on co-ordinating 

activity in relation to young people who are at risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE) 

and Missing.  Since then the team has however expanded their remit to include 

tracking young people at risk of criminal exploitation and gang affiliation. The team 

is located in MASH and works alongside MASH partners to support and promote 

the safeguarding of vulnerable adolescents. Because the team is integrated in 

MASH, it works closely with partner agencies including MASH Police, CAIT Team, 

Health, Education, YOS, CSE interventionist, Bromley Targeted Youth Services (TYS), 

Probation, Bromley Wellbeing Service and adult mental health. The Atlas team also 

work closely with all Children’s Social Care teams and Early Intervention Services.   

In Bromley all children and young people known to be at risk of CSE, criminal 

exploitation, County Lines activity, gang affiliation or those missing regularly are 

tracked through the MEGA (Missing Exploitation and Gangs Affiliation) panel on a 

fortnightly basis. The criteria for making a referral to the MEGA panel requires the 

level of risk to be medium to high as identified through the risk assessment tool. The 

MEGA panel supports risk management and risk reduction through better strategic 

and operational oversight of the young people who fall into the above categories. The 

shared intelligence and partnership arrangements support joined up planning and 

interventions for young people. The panel also allows for high risk young people to be 

more visible to all partner agencies who are able to offer support.  

With regard to demographic profiling, children discussed at MEGA consistently have 

the following family factors: parental substance misuse, parental mental health issues, 

domestic violence, neglect and offending in the family. Gang affiliated children are 

more likely to have risks to their personal safety identified by practitioners. There are 

particularly strong associations with going missing, drug/alcohol misuse and CSE. A 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Progress in Bromley

P
age 162



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 47Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

significant number of the children are in alternative provision such as a Pupil Referral 

Unit (PRU) or residential placement, and have suffered school instability either through 

exclusions, periods of absence from school or mid-year school moves.

In 2019/20 73 new young people were presented at MEGA. The risk for 40 young 

people reduced significantly and resulted in them being closed to the panel. 

There are three Return Home Interview (RHI) workers based in the Atlas team. 

Between April 2019 and March 2020, 633 return home interviews were undertaken 

(compared to 453 in 2018/19). Given the number of RHIs undertaken in the last 12 

months, LBB is now in a better position to analyse the findings of these interviews and 

to target and commission service delivery in line with the intelligence gathered and 

trends identified. RHIs are offered to all Bromley children even where they are placed a 

considerable distance away from the Local Authority.  

MISSING FROM EDUCATION
The Education Welfare Service (EWS) through their Children Missing Education 

Officer (CME) continues to ensure that Bromley Council is meeting its statutory 

responsibilities with regard to the identification, monitoring and tracking of children 

missing or not receiving a suitable education. This includes liaison with MASH where 

there are safeguarding concerns.

The work of the EWS team fits closely with other strands of work to support vulnerable 

pupils including supporting schools and families to prevent poor school attendance, 

truancy, exclusions and supporting schools and families to get children back to school 

once absence has occurred. The team liaises closely with Social Care Partners and 

Admissions services. In addition, the Director of Education has monthly oversight of 

CME and Children Missing out on Education (CMOE).  This ensures there is continued 

rigour in the tracing and tracking of young people to confirm their safety and ensure 

measures are in place to secure schooling.

All referral forms for EWS are online and this provides a secure central access point 

for all schools and other agencies to use. All submissions from schools and partner 

agencies are received into a central mailbox which is monitored throughout the day. 

Cases are allocated swiftly to officers to begin enquiries.

Whilst robust referral and tracking procedures are in place, children continue to leave 

the borough without a known destination. These cases are tracked and traced by the 

Education Welfare Service and Child Missing Education Officer (CME).  From April 

2019 to March 2020, the EWS received 530 CME referrals in total, 62 being received 

from outside agencies and 468 received from schools. Whilst the number of referrals 

from schools appears high, it reflects how the service records requests to delete a 

pupil from the school roll. In cases involving families moving abroad or out of borough, 

where sometimes the destination of the family is unknown, then the matter is opened 

as a CME case.  Once enquiries are complete and the whereabouts established then 

school will receive confirmation and records are updated.

During the pandemic, EWS has continued to ensure families who moved into borough 

prior to lockdown have been supported with their schooling applications.  In addition, 

EWS officers have contacted other Local Authorities where families had been found to 

have moved out of borough. 

The table below demonstrates how the majority of pupils referred to the Education 

Welfare Service and CME officer moved out of the borough or remained resident in the 

borough but transferred to an out of borough school.  

Reason 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18

Moved Overseas 14% 18.8% 13%

Moved Out of Borough 46% 31.98% 26%

Identified as EHE 1.9% 1.3% 1.1%

Confirmation of attendance 
within Bromley schools or 
return to Bromley Schools

38.1% 47.92% 50%

The Education Welfare Service received 1,980 ‘Intention to Delete from School 

Roll’ notifications between 1/4/2019 and 31/03/2020.  All notifications are tracked 

and verified before deletion is confirmed with the school and records updated.  

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y

Progress in Bromley

P
age 163



The Partnership 48

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Occasionally it can take time for confirmation to be received but officers remain 

tenacious and through monthly supervision of casework, the service can ensure no 

notification is overlooked.

MODERN DAY SLAVERY
The Adult Safeguarding Board continues to lead the Modern Day Slavery Pathway 

group with input from BSCP to ensure the policy and pathways are also appropriate 

for under 18s. Publicity material has been circulated and online training commissioned 

which is suitable for the entire workforce.

London currently has the highest recorded rates of modern slavery in the UK 

according to the National Referral Mechanism. 

It is a common misconception amongst the public that modern slavery only affects 

foreign nationals or illegal migrants in the UK or only occurs abroad.  In fact, figures 

from the National Referral Mechanism show that UK nationals are the most exposed 

to modern slavery in the UK, particularly where child exploitation is concerned. 

Amongst adults and children in the UK, the foreign nationalities most likely to be 

victims of modern slavery are Albanian and Vietnamese; other nationalities with a high 

prevalence slaves in the UK include Nigerian, Chinese, Sudanese and Indian. Whilst 

there was a slightly higher prevalence of slavery amongst adults and males, the rates 

of exploitation amongst females and children are also high and it is important that we 

work towards eradicating slavery for all people.

LOCAL AUTHORITY DESIGNATED OFFICER (LADO)
In accordance with Working Together to Safeguard Children, the London Borough of 

Bromley, like all Local Authorities, has a designated officer with overall responsibility 

for managing and co-ordinating allegations made against staff who work with children. 

This role is undertaken by a Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO). The LADO 

should be informed of all allegations and should provide advice and guidance to 

ensure cases are dealt with and resolved in a timely manner.

The LADO has developed close working relationships with some of the most 

experienced LADOs in the London region and has developed an improved system to 

capture and track LADO cases as a result of these links. This will increase the LADO’s 

capacity to provide a rich set of data so that we can measure most effectively the 

volume, timeliness and effectiveness of the LADO role. 

Referrals to the LADO have remained stable with 206 referrals. There have not been 

convictions or cautions during 2019-20 and two DBS referrals were proportionate to 

make about individuals where concerns were substantiated. A LADO goal for the year 

was to increase the use of Allegations against Staff and Volunteers (ASV) meetings to 

help improve collaborative working and evidence of the decision-making process in 

LADO investigations. The LADO has significantly increased the use of these meetings 

having completed 72 ASV meetings and additionally holding review ASV meetings 

where required. The challenge for improvement in 2019-20 will be to ensure that 

administrative support is in place to further support the new LADO to embed in post 

and improve the timeliness of LADO outcomes. 

The LADO has worked closely with regulatory agencies and LADO investigations have 

resulted to three urgent inspections of school and nursery providers.

The LADO has continued to seek to provide information and learning to all partners. 

This has included the delivery of sessions to the NHS England and the South East 

London CCG meetings to raise the profile of the LADO along with advice around 

what constitutes a referral to the LADO and LADO processes. Further, the LADO 

has delivered training to the Designated Safeguarding Leads (schools) forum, ESAC 

and frontline teaching staff. The LADO line manages the Education Safeguarding 

Officer (ESO) and has been instrumental in supporting the development of the ESO 

role during the year. The LADO had planned twilight sessions that would have been 

delivered in a range of community settings to build the reach of the LADO more 

broadly to community organisations, including sports organisations. It continues 

to be a challenge locally to form LADO links with the broader voluntary umbrella of 

organisations that provide services to children. Unfortunately, the growing difficulty 

towards the end of the reporting year associated with the pandemic meant that these 

plans had to be put on hold. 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 IN
 B

R
O

M
LE

Y
P

age 164



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 49Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Learning & 
Improvement

Learning & 
Improvement 

P
age 165



The Partnership 50

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BSCP Strategic Priority 3: Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership

Actions 2017-19: scrutinise and challenge performance; identify, disseminate and 
embed lessons; engage with children, young people and families and evaluate 
the impact on outcomes

THE CHILD’S VOICE

BSCP Business Plan Principle: At the core of our safeguarding and child 
protection work is the commitment to ensuring that children and young people 
are seen in the context of their lives, heard through professionals taking time 
to listen and helped by remaining professionally curious.

To understand the quality of a child’s individual experience in the unique 
context of their lives in Bromley.

Children’s Social Care’s (CSC) Active Involvement team has expanded and now has 

a team manager and four workers. This has expanded the offer of group work and 

support for children and young people to collaborate with Children’s Social Care 

moving into 2020. 

CSC ran its biggest ever care leavers celebration in October 2019 with nominees for 

achievements in education, achievements of our young parents and celebration of 

young people achieving independence. Young people were given the opportunity to 

nominate staff in recognition of the level of support they have received from Children’s 

Social Care. 

Children and young people continue to be involved in CSC service design by sitting 

on staff recruitment panels and participating in the Corporate Parenting Board. This 

has been hugely successful as young people co-chair a session of the Board and 

have a challenge session called ‘Strive’ to hold Children’s Social Care and partners to 

delivering against Living in Care Council (LinCC)  priorities and ensure that the Board 

is delivering the Bromley Pledge.

The SHEU (School Health Education Unit) survey was completed by Bromley Year 10 

pupils (fourteen and fifteen year olds) during the 2018-19 academic year. A total of 

LE
A

R
N

IN
G

 &
 IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T

Learning & 
Improvement 

P
age 166



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 51Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

seventeen schools (2,122 students) agreed to participate in the survey - 60% of them 

identified as being White-British. The survey covered a range of issues such as sleep, 

bullying, feeling safe, wellbeing, substance misuse and risky behaviours. Results were 

scrutinised at a BSCP and PCI meeting and shared with partners for them to address 

within their own agencies. Public Health colleagues are meeting with individual 

schools to discuss the results and consider the best approach for areas of concern. 

As well as targeted support from the Health Support to Schools service, Public Health 

may propose involving other key partners in work at schools. 

Bromley Healthcare School Nurses continue to use “It’s All About Me” questionnaire 

for all vulnerable children and young people they know about. This includes children 

and young people referred for an initial case conference and vulnerable young people 

in the YOS, Pupil Referral Units or Electively Home Educated. BHC’s Named Doctor 

has also developed a leaflet for families & children referred to the Phoenix Centre for a 

child protection medical, which helps make the process more easily understood.

REVIEWS OF PRACTICE

Safeguarding Practice Reviews (SPR) are undertaken to learn lessons and improve 

the way in which local professionals and organisations work together to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of children. These reviews were previously known as Serious 

Case Reviews (SCRs) but were transitioned to a new SPR structure from July 2019 

in accordance with Working Together 2018. Responsibility for learning lessons lies 

with a new national panel – the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (the Panel) 

– and with local safeguarding partners. The Panel and local partners help to identify 

serious child safeguarding cases that may raise issues of national importance. They 

commission a review that involves all practitioners who may be relevant or have 

information that will help to provide learning for future practice. At the time of writing, 

the BSCP has not commenced any SPRs. This report includes reviews that followed 

the SCR structure. A serious child safeguarding case is one in which:

• abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected

• the child has died or been seriously harmed.

Where the SPR criteria has not been met, the BSCP can also undertake smaller-scale 

multi-agency case reviews. Whatever the type of review, the principles are still the 

same with the aim being to share information, identify good practice and establish the 

key lessons that will help to improve practice.

BSCP Challenge: The BSCP were advised of a Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) 
where the children had survived and partners felt that the review required a more 
child focussed approach than a DHR could achieve

Action: The Independent Chair negotiated a joint DHR / Learning Review with a 
child focussed Terms of Reference. The joint review started in March 2020 and 
learning will be shared across the partnerships in 2020/21.

During 2019/20, the SPR Subgroup:

• Published a joint Serious Case Review (SCR) with Lambeth regarding the murder 

of a five-year-old boy 

• Completed a SCR on child sexual abuse 

• Completed a Learning Review on FGM

• Continued working on two Learning Reviews regarding suspected fictitious illness 

and cross borough working for children with disabilities

• Commissioned a joint Domestic Homicide Review / Learning Review where the 

children survived.

The findings of these reviews reflect Ofsted’s judgement during the 2016 inspection 

which judged services to be inadequate. Many of the shortcomings in these cases 

were identified during the inspection and have since been addressed as part of an 

overall CSC improvement plan in partnership with other agencies.  During the more 

recent Ofsted inspection of Bromley CSC, they were judged to be good in all areas 

with outstanding leadership.  This is a direct reflection on the many improvements 

made since 2016. All agencies involved in these reviews have submitted action plans 

to address recommendations and these are being monitored by the BSCP’s PCI 

Subgroup. Learning Sessions and briefings have also been delivered to partners.

LE
A

R
N

IN
G

 &
 IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T

Learning & 
Improvement 

P
age 167



The Partnership 52

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

As part of our commitment to transparency and the need to learn from case 

reviews, we include the following overview of cases below with key learning. 

Access to published serious case and learning reviews can be found at www.

bromleysafeguarding.org – Training and Resources.

    www.bromleysafeguarding.org (Training & Resources)

SERIOUS CASE REVIEW ‘CHILD K’
In 2017, Lambeth and Bromley Children’s Safeguarding Boards jointly commissioned 

a Serious Case Review following the murder of Child K who was assaulted by his 

mother’s partner and later died as a result of the injuries he sustained.  Although 

Child K and his mother had lived in Bromley for five months before his death, this was 

unknown to any services in Bromley.  Child K’s mother kept all their universal services 

from Lambeth who were also unaware of the house move.  For this reason it was 

agreed that Lambeth led the SCR and appointed the independent chair and reviewer.

The SCR sought to gain a better understanding of the events that led up to the death 

of K, and of any involvement of professionals and agencies with responsibilities for 

safeguarding, and identify any opportunities for learning coming from the tragic death 

of K, which might serve to improve services, and better protect children in future.

This Serious Case Review raises specific concerns with regard to the release of 

offenders from prison who are known to pose serious risk to both adults and children.  

It also raises issues about the manner in which they are supported and supervised by 

the National Probation Service when returned to the community. The SCR also raises 

important issues about the support provided to adults with no recourse to public 

funds.  This has potential implications not just in Lambeth and Bromley, but also for 

the children of adults in similar circumstances across the country as a whole.

In 2019, a number of learning events were held in Bromley for multi-agency audiences, 

and a specific session was held for probation services.  All were well attended.

SERIOUS CASE REVIEW ‘HANNAH’
In 2017, a Child Protection Medical found that seven-year-old ‘Hannah’ had been 

sexually abused. It was not possible to state how recent the abuse was or for how 

long the abuse had been going on.   Hannah was taken in to Care the next day 

and now lives in long term foster care, where she is doing well.  In the Family Court 

Proceedings, the Judge stated that Hannah’s mother and stepfather were the only two 

people in the possible pool of perpetrators.  The Judge suspects the sexual abuse 

occurred on multiple occasions.  Hannah has not disclosed anything about her abuse 

but experience tells us she may do in the future.  For that reason, this SCR has not 

been published since it could be prejudicial to any future criminal case.  The BSCP 

therefore published a summary version of the review and a shared a restricted version 

with the children’s workforce in Bromley for the purposes of learning. Three multi-

agency learning events were held in 2019 which were well attended. Single agency 

events were also held.

LE
A

R
N

IN
G

 &
 IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T

Learning & 
Improvement 

P
age 168

http://bromleysafeguarding.org/articles.php?id=644


BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 53Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

FGM LEARNING REVIEW
The BSCP conducted a learning review in relation to the services provided for a 

primary school aged girl and focussed on the possible risk of female genital mutilation 

(FGM). Unusually for a learning review, the child concerned had not suffered significant 

harm but the review was conducted to see whether lessons could be learned and also 

as an opportunity to understand whether the current response of services in Bromley 

to FGM was effective. The child was kept safe throughout the period under review 

by court orders preventing her from leaving the UK and restricting access to travel 

documents. 

However, agency responses reflect the fact that in 2015 – 2016 front line staff working 

in Bromley had limited expertise in dealing with FGM, including the potential value of 

an application for a FGM Protection Order (FGMPO), which was new legislation at the 

time. The recommendations from the review were:

• Bromley CCG should confirm the elements of a framework to identify girls born to 

mothers who have suffered FGM, adding warning flags to the records of children 

as with other potential safeguarding risks. 

• Bromley CCG should underline the importance of antenatal services identifying 

who the father of a female child is, which should be established good practice. 

• Head teachers, the local authority and the safeguarding partnership should agree 

how the issue of FGM is to be addressed in secondary schools in Bromley, taking 

into account the specific needs of the local school population.

• The local authority should audit the outcomes of recent referrals to the MASH on 

FGM.

• Member agencies should report to the partnership on current arrangements for 

training on FGM and the level of awareness of their staff.

• The partnership should revise the current FGM protocol to take account of the 

findings of this review.

• The partnership should identify a peer local authority area with a high estimated 

prevalence of FGM and invite it to review the Bromley approach.

• The partnership should identify a small group of professional advisers and senior 

managers who will acquire a relevant degree of expertise in FGM.

• The safeguarding partnership should draw relevant areas to the attention of the 

editorial board of the London Child Protection Procedures.

The partnership’s current level of preparedness for dealing with such a case is now 

very different. A local protocol was published in 2016 and was reviewed and updated 

in 2019, signposting to assessment and direct work toolkits by the National FGM 

Centre. Training on FGM and other ‘harmful practices’ is now widely available and 

accessed by agencies. An audit of MASH referrals has also been carried out and 

is detailed in the audit section of this report. The BSCP delivered a multi agency 

conference on FGM in January 2019. At the event, the BSCP FGM app was launched 

which has now been downloaded 636 times.  The National FGM Centre Flash Cards 

were also disseminated to attendees.

 

The review highlighted that this remains extremely complex work in which detailed risk 

assessments, tailored to the specific circumstances in each case, are required.

ACTION FROM PREVIOUS LEARNING REVIEWS

The BSCP has continued to monitor the implementation of Learning Review 

action plans. The following has been achieved as a result of Learning Review 

recommendations:

Serious Case Review Elizabeth
• GP training, covering the need for professional curiosity and safeguarding risk 

assessment when young people present with anxiety.

• Bromley Healthcare completed a record keeping audit across each service to 

assess the compliance with BHC record keeping policy and NMC (Nursing and 

Midwifery Council) record keeping codes of practice.

• CAMHS completed the rollout of the Sexual Health Risk Assessment Tool.

• ESAC holds an annual Transitions day for primary and secondary schools to share 

pastoral and academic information.

Serious Case Review Julia
• Training day delivered to improve accuracy of attendance records by schools.

• Chronology/case history training workshops have taken place throughout 2019. 

• Training provided to GP on Early Help services to improve their understanding of 

the Early Help offer. 

LE
A

R
N

IN
G

 &
 IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T

Learning & 
Improvement 

P
age 169



The Partnership 54

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

• Bromley Healthcare have updated their ‘Was Not Brought’ policy which has been 

reinforced in training. 

• There is now a dedicated Child in Need Manager in CSC who chairs, tracks and 

monitors Child In Need Plans.

• CAMHS have revised their risk management guidance to ensure young people 

are spoken with in response to risk incidents and responses recorded in their 

database (RiO).

• CAMHS have amended their Did Not Attend Policy to include ‘Was Not Brought’ 

and have included ‘consult with Safeguarding Lead where there are safeguarding 

concerns’.

• CAMHS consultants are now available to consult with GPs in allocated slots.

Learning Review Leo
• There are now regular joint service meetings between Children’s Social Care and 

Housing Group managers.

• A housing representative now attends the MASH.

• YOS staff have attended SEND training.

• YOS now allocate a named worker to a child.

• The Atlas team manager (CSE, Missing Gangs Team) has provided training to 

Early Help staff on indicators of gang affiliation.

• Bromley Healthcare have delivered internal training on the BSCP Vulnerable 

Adolescents Strategy.

• A process has now been agreed whereby two health representatives attend the 

MEGA panel and they inform the relevant GP when a patient is discussed at the 

MEGA (Missing, Exploited, Gang Affiliation) panel.

• Bromley Healthcare Speech and Language Services now offer two days at the 

YOS to support young people. The speech therapist works closely with the 

School Nurse and the YOS team to identify young people who need this service 

and offer interventions to support them.  This can take place either at the YOS site 

or as a joint home visit with the YOS case worker.

• Speech and Language Therapy offer now includes a link therapist available to give 

advice to all schools in each locality area for a minimum of one term. Specialist 

Advisory teachers for Speech Language and Communication Needs now work in 

Bromley as part of the Inclusion Support Advisory Team.

• Mentalisation approach for working with adolescents with complex needs and 

Bromley Relationship Model training has been rolled out to YOS in 2019, as well 

as unconscious bias training.

• A full review of the SEN Statutory Assessment Service in 2019 identified a need to 

focus on the process for annual reviews, ensuring they are taking place in a timely 

way with input from all the relevant professionals. Annual Review programme is 

in place (in partnership with health and care) to fully update all EHC Plans during 

2020/21. 

• The Principle Social Worker has delivered 3 training sessions on undertaking 

analytical assessments in 2019/20. More are planned. The Practice Review Cycles 

also now feature a standing analysis of the quality of assessment in each service 

area to ensure they are meeting the expected standards.

LE
A

R
N

IN
G

 &
 IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T

Learning & 
Improvement 

P
age 170



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 55Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership
Learning & 

Improvement 

AUDITING

BSCP AUDIT OF CHILDREN AT RISK OF FGM
In November 2019, the BSCP undertook an audit to assess the quality of practice 

and how practitioners deal with girls who may be at risk of FGM. Between 2018-2019 

there were 11 children assessed by Bromley CSC following a referral related to FGM. 

Two additional referrals were received but not progressed to assessment. The audit 

identified that two children had actually experienced FGM and this had occurred 

prior to moving to the UK. The majority of cases assessed each had a number of risk 

factors associated with FGM.  

In one instance, a child’s mother had not communicated her absence from school 

to the level desired by the school.  Although it was a valid concern that the whole 

family travelled and the rest of the children returned except the subject child and her 

younger brother, an explanation had been given which could have been followed up 

with medical advisors as well as there being no concern that child’s mother and older 

sisters had been subject to FGM or at risk of FGM, 

In another case, the child was absent from school for 3 days and the father had 

contacted the school to inform them that the child’s grandmother had suffered a heart 

attack and the family had travelled for this reason. This was reported to the Police 

on 101. It transpired that school staff had based their actions on the family travelling 

abroad, their religion and difficulty in communication due to English being the family’s 

second language, instead of basing their decision making on the FGM guidance or 

protocols. This further indicated that the risk assessment tools were not used.

Overall the quality of assessments was seen to be good. The main elements of the 

FGM protocols have been utilised with pragmatic and sensible judgments made when 

analysing the risk factors in the child’s circumstances.  Some files, however, did not 

consistently demonstrate that practitioners are utilising the specific BSCP FGM tools 

available to them.  

One practitioner was able to utilise resources to establish that the risk of FGM was 

low. The mother had demonstrated that although she had experienced FGM herself, 

she did not condone the act and support it being performed on her daughter. The 

assessment was able to identify that she had capacity to show insight in discussions 

around FGM and openly discuss the impact it has had on her own life being a victim of 

FGM. There was no evidence of FGM outside of the experience of the child’s mother 

and therefore no need for a FGMPO.

The audit overall demonstrated that quality and detailed management oversight 

supported assessment and decision making. However, it also evidenced that the 

rationale for actions undertaken by the practitioner was not consistently reflected on 

the file.  That said, the overall outcome and level of assessed risk was not changed by 

the practice reviewer.

The audit concluded that practice continues to develop and positively progress 

alongside practitioners’ understanding of FGM. Continuous professional development 

in this area will further assist in sustaining quality assessments of FGM.   This will in 

turn support the need to apply a more nuanced approach to risk assessment allowing 

a considered response by managers and partners to be applied which does not simply 

focus on the country of origin but on the context of the family’s life and functioning 

to evidence and to inform their decisions.  The recommendations coming out of this 

review were:

• Practitioners and managers access training to increase evidential decision making 

through increased recording and analysis. 

• Practitioners and managers access updated training on the tools and guidance 

when assessing FGM 

Following the FGM audit, the BSCP FGM guidance and tools were updated 
and relaunched in January 2020 at the BSCP annual conference, along with 
the BSCP FGM app which has been downloaded 636 times.  The conference 
was attended by 176 multi agency professionals.

P
age 171



The Partnership 56

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Child Death 
Overview Panel 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

P
age 172



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 57Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is chaired by a Consultant in Public Health 

and enables the BSCP to carry out its statutory functions relating to child deaths.  The 

CDOP Panel reports to the BSCP’s SPR Subgroup. The overall purpose of the Child 

Death Review process is to understand why children die and put in place interventions 

to protect children and prevent future deaths.

CDOP FACTS AND FIGURES

• In 2019/20 there were 17 deaths of children and young people who lived in 

Bromley 

• In 2019/20 there were 4 CDOP meetings.  One case from 2017/18 and one case 

from 2018/19 remain open. Six cases from 2018/19 and 10 cases from 2019/20 

have been signed off at CDOP and these cases are included in this analysis.

• The number of deaths in the first month of life was 8 in 2019/20.  

• Six of those deaths were due to prematurity and one due to congenital 

abnormalities which were not compatible with life. 

• There were three deaths categorised as Sudden Unexpected Deaths in 2019/20 

although not all cases have been completed in CDOP. Two of the deaths were 

young babies and the third was a 17 year old with complex needs.

• There were 6 unexpected deaths in 2019/20 and 5 Rapid Responses.  

• There were 11 expected deaths in 2019/20.  

• Overall Bromley stillbirths and neonatal deaths are below the national and London 

rates.

• However, the trend in deaths of older children is upward, in contrast to the rates in 

London and England. The reasons for this are more trauma deaths, more deaths 

due to a chronic medical condition and more sudden unexpected deaths in 

Bromley than in England. This should be kept under review.

• Analysis of 9 years of Bromley data shows possible over-representation of deaths 

in children of ethnicity other than White British. 

CDOP RECOMMENDATIONS 2019/20

Recommendation Action to be taken

Maternity to ensure safe discharge of 
vulnerable mothers

Midwives to clarify discharge address 

where baby is actually going, 

especially if home address is a hostel

The care during transition to adult 
services of young people with disabilities 
could consider starting some aspects of 
adult services early

Examples include undergoing a 

Mental Capacity Assessment and 

working with a care manager early

Consult with other CDOPs regarding use 
of SleepyHead

SPOC to contact other CDOPs

Keep death rates in children aged 1-17 
years in Bromley under review

CDOP Chair to write report to Health 

and Wellbeing Board

TH
E

 C
H

IL
D

 D
E

AT
H

 O
V

E
R

V
IE

W
 P

A
N

E
L 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

P
age 173



The Partnership 58

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Training & 
Development 

Training & 
Development

P
age 174



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 59Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The BSCP training programme consists of the following elements: online e-learning 

courses, classroom-based courses (formal face to face learning), and shorter face to 

face briefings/seminars/workshops.  This section of the Annual Report reviews multi-

agency training activities, attendance rates and evaluation scores from participants 

who have attended the multi-agency training offered by the BSCP between 1 April 

2019 and 31 March 2020.

In 2019-20, there continued to be a wide range of multi-agency learning opportunities 

for the children’s workforce in Bromley.  The vast majority of it was very well received 

and had a beneficial impact on practice.

The take up of BSCP e-learning for levels 1 and 2 continues to increase with 3179 

modules completed in 2019-20. A wide range of staff completed e-learning ensuring 

that ‘safeguarding is everybody’s business’.

967 people attended a face to face training session, which was either formal and 

classroom based (662), or a more informal seminar/briefing (319).  This was a good 

increase from last year where 867 attended a face to face session.

Police and staff in health agencies do not partake of multi-agency training as much as 

the BSCP would expect. This continues to be challenged at Board level.

The Training Subgroup faces the ongoing challenge of providing a variety of useful 

multi-agency training which will make the biggest impact on improving practice whilst 

keeping the offer affordable for the Board and provides good value for money.

The training programme for 2020-21 will be significantly impacted by the COVID-19 

pandemic. BSCP will ensure as many courses as possible are moved to live webinars 

when face to face training cannot be run safely.  We will also commission additional 

e-learning modules to ensure staff training needs are met during this time.

The BSCP commissions LBB’s Workforce Development Team to support the 

commissioning and administration of the BSCP training programme with strategic 

direction provided by the BSCP Training Subgroup.  The Training Subgroup consists 

of a multi-agency mix of managers from the following agencies:  LB Bromley; Oxleas 

NHS Foundation Trust; Bromley Healthcare CIC; Kings College Hospital; Change, 

Grow, Live (the young people’s and adults substance misuse service provider); 

General Practice (GPs); Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG); Schools; Early Years 

and Metropolitan Police.  The Subgroup is chaired by LBB’s Head of Workforce 

Development.

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 175



The Partnership 60

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

E-LEARNING COURSES
The BSCP’s free e-learning courses for Group 1 and 2 training, which was introduced 

in 2012, continues to be good value for money.   The BSCP and BSAB commission 

a provider together with neighbouring boroughs to achieve economies of scale.  This 

year Bromley’s e-learning package consisted of 17 courses suitable for the children’s 

workforce.  These courses make up the majority of the BSCP Group 1 and 2 training 

offer. The advantage of online training is that delegates can learn at a time and pace 

that suits them. 

3179 people completed online learning modules for children’s safeguarding this year, 

which continues the significant year on year increase.

Number of ‘children’s safeguarding’ 
modules completed

2016-17 1489

2017-18 1896

2018 - 19 2370

2019 - 20 3179

This year, there was increased take up of nearly every course.  Participants on the 

Level 1 this year included dentists, refuge staff, sports coaches, therapists, benefits 

advisers, private tutors, employment advisers/coaches, youth workers, midday 

supervisors and those working as volunteers.

The use of e-learning is particularly important for those in the children’s workforce 

who struggle to attend daytime learning sessions. 589 Early Years staff completed 

e-learning this year, as did 92 foster carers, and 697 voluntary/ charity/private agency 

staff.  This is an excellent take up and another significant increase from last year.

Education Establishment
39%

Early Years 
13%

Care Home /
 Domiciliary Care

3%

Bromley Healthcare CIC
2%

Voluntary / 
Private / Charity 

16%

Other 
10%

Oxleas 
0%

Other Health 
Professionals 

1%

LBB staff
Other

2%

LBB staff
Childrens Social Care

4%

LBB staff
Adults Social Care

4%

Kings College Hospital 
0%

Foster Carer
2%

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 176



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 61Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Online Course Title 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Autism Awareness 106 131 144

Child Sexual Exploitation - Levels 1 & 2 

new course 2020-21*

7

Data Protection Law, Definitions and 

Principles

136 174 172

Domestic Abuse 50 82 78

Female Genital Mutilation 57 109 226

Gangs & Youth Violence 35 57 189

Hate Crime 23 34 44

Human Trafficking and Modern Day 

Slavery

28 44 57

Information Sharing and Consent for 

people working with Children

33 66 75

Handling Violence and Agression at Work 

(previously called Managing Conflict - 
Children’s Workforce)

18 52 89

Online Safety - Risks to children 86 138 197

Online Safety for Parents and Carers 31 64

Safeguarding Awareness 37 73 66

Safeguarding Against Radicalisation - The 

Prevent Duty

58 224 323

Safeguarding Children - Level 1 964 748 926

Safeguarding Children - Level 2 211 292 347

Safeguarding Children with Disabilities 54 115 175

TOTAL 1896 2370 3197

*Course trialled by BSCP for start in 2020-21 year.

The take up of Bromley e-learning training in 2019-20 across both the Adults and 

Children’s courses, by agency/sector, is as follows:

SECTOR/AGENCY Number of 
courses 

completed 
2017-18

Number of 
courses 

completed 
2018-19

Number of 
courses 

completed 
2019-20

Bromley Healthcare CIC 225 101 71

Care Home/Domiciliary Care 150 82 116

Early Years 339 447 589

Education Establishment 922 1030 1704

Foster Carer 28 78 92

Kings College Hospital NHS 2 1 1

LBB staff Adults Social Care 179 223 353

LBB staff Children’s Social Care 206 289 159

LBB staff Other 115 45 102

Other 190 204 455

Other Health Professionals 33 23 53

Oxleas FT NHS Trust 4 22 3

Voluntary/Private/Charity 450 545 697

TOTAL 2843 3090 4395

Online learning is increasingly popular among the children’s workforce in Bromley and 

continues to provide good value for money for the Partnership.  Courses are of high 

quality and have been quality assured by the BSCP Training Subgroup with feedback 

given to the provider and amendments made where necessary.  

The BSCP will continue to promote these courses as our Level 1 and 2 offer.  We will 

increase the number of online courses available for 2020-21 during the COVID-19 

pandemic as classroom-based courses are unable to run.

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 177



The Partnership 62

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

CLASSROOM-BASED TRAINING (FACE TO FACE)
This is the second year of our three-year commissioned training programme of 22 

classroom-based learning courses, including the two Designated Safeguarding Lead 

(DSL) courses that we commission on behalf of schools. These courses range from 

half a day to two days’ duration and comprise our formal multi-agency training offer.

Single agency safeguarding training continues to be mandatory for most agencies and 

covers a broad range of issues. Staff are strongly encouraged to complete some multi-

agency training as well as their own agency training every year.

This year, the BSCP face to face classroom-based programme (including the DSL 

courses) consisted of 22 different courses run in 49 sessions, attended by a total of 

662 people across the different agencies (breakdown on pages 63-64).  

Excluding the DSL courses, there were 20 different multi-agency courses run in 44 

different sessions, attended by a total of 581 people across the different agencies.

 

There were 772 bookings made for our bookable training courses in 2019-20.  86% 

of people who booked on a classroom-based course actually attended (n=662).  This 

is very similar to the excellent rate from last year of 85%.  This high proportion is 

attributed to the ‘no show/late cancellation’ charge implemented by the BSCP Training 

Subgroup in 2015.  48 people were no shows/late cancellations this year. 

The Training Subgroup routinely looks at no show/cancellations and line managers are 

informed in each case.  The BSCP Board continues to support this policy.  

SEMINARS, BRIEFINGS, AND OTHER MULTI-
AGENCY LEARNING EVENTS

In addition to the half day and full day classroom-based courses, the BSCP also ran 

ten shorter multi-agency briefing/seminar sessions in 2019-20.  The topics covered 

included managing allegations against professionals and learning events from the 

BSCP’s Serious Case Review and Learning Reviews.  We do not require staff to book 

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 178



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 63Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

for these events as they are less formal than training courses.  Typically they are one 

or two hours. 314 people attended these multi-agency learning sessions this year.  In 

addition, the BSCP team delivered SCR learning at single agency events but those 

numbers are not counted here.

The Multi Agency Partnership Events (MAPE) commissioned by London Borough 

Bromley in partnership with key partners which started in 2017 are highly evaluated 

and continue to be a welcome contribution to multi-agency training.  The MAPE 

sessions are not counted in this evaluation since this is now business as usual and 

organised by the Local Authority’s Early Intervention and Family Support division.

In January 2020, the BSCP and CCG jointly commissioned an educational theatre 

company to perform their county lines production with Q&A session to General 

Practice staff then to schools’ DSLs and groups of Year 10 and 12 students.  This was 

highly regarded and further funding through the Safer Neighbourhood Team has since 

been secured to have this learning event at ten other Bromley secondary schools in 

2020-21.  The GP staff and DSL attendees are not included in this report since this 

was delivered as single agency training.

In October 2019, Research In Practice ran a half day workshop for BSCP board 

members and members of the Bromley Safeguarding Adult Board, Bromley Health 

and Wellbeing Board and Safer Bromley Partnership on transitional safeguarding.  This 

learning opportunity was funded equally by the BSCP and BSAB.  The event was well 

evaluated and there was an appetite among partners to think more innovatively about 

the 18-25 age group.  

BSCP TRAINING UPTAKE - NUMBER OF COURSES AND NUMBER OF 
ATTENDEES 2019-20 

Course Title No. of 
sessions run 
over the year

Total 
no. of 

attendees, 
per 

Face to face classroom learning

Group 3 Safeguarding Children 4 73

Group 4/5 (full 2 day course) 3 37

Group 4/5 refresher (one day) 1 11

Early Help: Understanding & Using Common 
Assessment Framework (CAF)

4 41

CAF: developing confidence chairing TAC 2 18

CSE (Child Sexual Exploitation) and Missing 2 41

*Domestic Abuse Foundation 4 33

*Domestic Abuse Intermediate 2 19

*Domestic Violence Advanced 2 16

Ending Harmful Practices 2 29

*What Is Sexual Violence? 1 6

Safeguarding Children for Designated Teachers 3 46

Safeguarding Children for Designated Teachers – 
refresher

2 35

Teenagers who self-harm 1 16

Parental Mental Ill Health - Working Better Together to 
SG the Child & Adult

2 29

Parental Substance Misuse 2 29

Private Fostering 2 19

Prevent WRAP 2 41

Professional Curiosity 1 10

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 179



The Partnership 64

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Effective Practice: Working with Families living with 
complex neglect

3 49

Working with complexity and risk 1 18

Chronologies 3 46

SUB TOTAL FOR FACE TO FACE CLASSROOM 
COURSES

49 662

Seminars, briefings, workshops and other multi-agency learning events

SEMINARS: Allegations Against Professionals 5 116

BRIEFING: Learning from BSCP Learning Reviews 2 102

Serious Case Review Hannah 3 96

SUB-TOTAL for briefing/seminars/workshop events 10 314

TOTALS  (classroom-based courses and lunchtime 
briefings/seminars) 2019-20

59 967

*shared courses with Adults Safeguarding Board

Capacity for each classroom based course is usually 16-18 people due to the size of 

the rooms available.  Capacity for the briefings is often significantly more.  Where a 

course is co-commissioned by BSCP and the Bromley Adult Safeguarding Board then 

capacity is split evenly between the two board, therefore BSCP capacity is usually 8 or 

9 places.

WHO ATTENDS OUR COURSES?
BSCP aims to have a multi-agency mix of professionals at every training course/event 

as we believe this is key to fostering trust and confidence, building relationships and 

understanding among the children’s workforce in Bromley which will lead to improved 

outcomes for children and families.  

It is a challenge for some agencies to send their staff to our multi-agency training as 

their training budgets have reduced dramatically in the last five years resulting in some 

difficult decisions about where to prioritise their staff development.  Health agencies 

and police have struggled with this the most as their organisations have introduced 

more mandatory online learning modules for children’s safeguarding.  The BSCP has 

continued to robustly challenge those agencies whose staff are not attending sufficient 

multi-agency training. 

There is a better multi-agency mix at briefings/seminars/workshops.  These are 

shorter, less formal events where attendees do not need to book in advance – 

staff just turn up and sign in.  They are also free to all.  The flexibility suits many 

in our workforce better as working with vulnerable children and families is often 

unpredictable and unexpected crises emerge requiring immediate attention.  Free 

courses also mean less management approval is required.  Many people use their 

lunchtimes to attend lunchtime briefings on audit findings or reviews.  For many, 

safeguarding children is one of the elements of their job but not the full focus so 

attending a full day of safeguarding children training may not be their agency’s priority 

for them each year. 

For all these benefits, not all training can take place in short informal sessions and it is 

important for all staff to have some protected time for formal training where they have 

a safe space to reflect on their own practice, share experiences with other members 

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 180



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 65Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

of the Bromley children’s workforce and learn from each other.  The BSCP promotes 

that partner agencies ensure a balance and BSCP provides opportunities for different 

types of learning every year.

A breakdown of agencies attending our multi-agency face to face training (both formal 

classroom-based and less formal briefings/workshops and seminars), excluding the 

DSL training, follows.

Agency Number 
attending 

our 2018-19 
multi-agency 

classroom 
based courses, 

briefings/
seminars

% 
attending 

our 2018-19 
courses

Number 
attending 

our 2019-20 
multi-agency 

classroom 
based courses, 

briefings/
seminars

% attending 
our 2019-20 

courses

LBB 378 48% 449 50%

Oxleas 20 3% 48 5%

Bromley 
Healthcare CIC

30 4% 55 6%

Kings College 
Hospital

17 2% 17 2%

Other Health 
Professionals

19 2% 35 4%

Early Years 82 10% 50 6%

Education 
Establishments

153 19% 181 20%

Foster Carers 10 1% 4 1%

Met Police 5 1% 0 0%

Other including 
PVI and third 
sector

71 9% 56 6%

Total attendees 785 895

Table : 2019-20 attendance at any multi-agency BSCP training- by agency 
Excludes DSL courses.

50%

5%
6%

2%

4%

6%

20%

1%0%

6% LBB 50%

Oxleas 5%

Bromley Healthcare CIC 6%

Kings College Hospital 2%

Other Health Professionals 4%

Early Years 6%

Education Establishments 20%

Foster Carers 1%

MET Police 0%

Other including PVI and 
third sector 6%

Diagram: Attendance at all BSCP training in 2019-20. Includes classroom based 
courses (excluding DSL courses) and the non-bookable briefings/seminars/
workshops. 

Workforce Development and BSCP continue to promote training via the BSCP 

website, with regular email reminders and through other forums to continue to 

maximise the uptake of training across all agencies.

Learning events following Serious Case Reviews and Learning Reviews have been 

repeated at least twice and held in different locations across the borough to encourage 

more people to attend.  We will continue with this approach in 2020-21 in an effort to 

broaden attendance from those agencies who do not often engage.  Where there is 

particular learning for one sector (for example, SCR Child K and probation services) 

then the BSCP Manager also delivers bespoke learning at their single agency events 

(such as Away Days) in order to reach a much higher number of staff.

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 181



The Partnership 66

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

EVALUATING QUALITY AND IMPACT
The BSCP consistently provides training of a high standard, with course participants 

agreeing that courses are useful and relevant to their needs. Each course is subject to 

user evaluation at two points in time – immediately after the course (every participant) 

and 8 weeks after the course (one session per course).

In the immediate post-course feedback in 2019-20, 82% of the attendees judged the 

courses to be Excellent which is similar to the 81% the previous year.  Nobody rated 

the course as poor and only four people rated it as satisfactory; This was followed up 

and adjustments made.

Excellent Good Satisfactory Poor

2014-15 68% 30%

2015-16 73% 25% 2%

2016-17 78% 21% 1.4% 0%

2017-18 85% 14% 1.6% 0%

2018-19 81% 18% 0.02% 0%

2019-20 82% 17% 1% 0%

In 2019 -20, 164 participants were invited to complete an 8 week follow up evaluation 

of impact and 163 completed them.  They were asked to state whether they had 

had time to reflect on the training with colleagues and in supervision, whether the 

training made them feel better equipped to do their job in working with professionals,  

how they’d applied the training to their work and to give examples of any impact.  

Evaluations were received from a wide range of agencies including educational 

establishments, social care, health, early years, third sector and residential care.  149 

of the 163 scored that they felt (significantly or much) better equipped to do their 

job, 14 scored there was some improvement and none said there was no particular 

improvement.

Feedback was about increased confidence in contributing to CAF/CHiN and CP 

meetings, and feeling empowered to challenge and/or formally escalate, deeper 

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 182



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 67Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

understanding about the types of abuse/neglect, pathways and processes, and best 

practice.  Participants had shared and cascaded learning with others, made practical 

changes back in the workplace, challenged parents, better supported young people, 

made referrals and improved their contributions at safeguarding meetings.  

Each BSCP training course is allocated to a member of the Training Subgroup to 

monitor, dependent on their specialist area. Where a course consistently has a low 

score, indicating low impact, attendees are contacted to obtain more specific details, 

which is then fed back to the trainer to amend content or delivery.  Poor evaluations 

can lead to unsatisfactory trainers being replaced or courses decommissioned.  

Furthermore, certificates can be withheld if individuals do not apply the training and 

the BSCP also expects that this is followed up by supervisors and line managers 

during supervision.

All trainers are required to submit an evaluation form to evaluate how well the course 

went. Questions include how relevant the course was to the experience of the 

delegates and whether any organisational issues emerged during the training. Forms 

are submitted to and followed up by the Chair of the Training Subgroup.  The Training 

Subgroup routinely analyses evaluation data and also carries out observations of 

courses to ensure quality and impact.

Courses are amended during the year by trainers in agreement with BSCP to reflect 

learning from evaluations, new developments (for instance the introduction of a 

new policy or guidance) and learning from new reviews. Our trainers continue to be 

accommodating and receptive to these amendments.

VALUE FOR MONEY
The BSCP training programme (including conferences) costs £21,657 in 2019-20.  This 

was less than forecast due to the LMS delay (therefore incurring no cost for BSCP 

this year) and the cancellation of some courses in March 2020.  Further expense was 

avoided by LBB waiving the fee for the training administrator again this year.  

Income is generated by the contribution of paying attendees (schools, private 

companies, large charities, private healthcare etc) and to a small extent by charging 

for no shows/late cancellations.  

The new LBB Learning Management System for bookings/payment which was initially 

expected to go live in the Summer of 2019 was considerably delayed.  No financial 

contribution was therefore required from BSCP in 2019-20. Once it is running all BSCP 

courses will be booked through it saving much manual time.

BSCP has committed to commissioning courses with the Bromley Safeguarding 

Adults Board in 2019-20, including domestic abuse/violence and a sexual violence 

course.   

In the last month of the financial year 2019-20 we took the decision to cancel all 

classroom-based training and briefings/seminars as the COVID-19 pandemic began 

to spread.  This impacted slightly on performance and spend for 2019-20 but as the 

lockdown continues it will have a significant impact next year. 

BSCP Challenge: Partners challenged the National Probation Service to provide 
evidence that staff were managing cases having had the appropriate child 
safeguarding training. 

Action: NPS provided confirmation that all permanent staff have completed the 
additional classroom training except one Probation Officer who is booked to 
complete training.

BSCP Challenge: The BSCP advised that there had been a low take up by 
partners of the Parental Conflict Train the Trainer Programme.

Action: The BSCP Team promoted the training programme amongst partners, 
advising them of the benefits and as a result, more trainers were recruited

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 183



The Partnership 68

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

ANNUAL CONFERENCE 
The subject of this year’s main BSCP annual conference was Female Genital 

Mutilation and was held in January 2020. It was attended by 176 multi-agency 

attendees which was a significant increase on the previous year and the reasons 

given for this increase were that it was free and that it was a subject that professionals 

felt they needed more information on. There was a variety of speakers including the 

National FGM Centre, the Home Office, Police FGM leads, an FGM survivor, an FGM 

activist and Norbury School who are a Knowledge Centre and share practice on FGM 

awareness raising across schools in London.  The BSCP Chair also presented learning 

from recent learning review on FGM. 

The conference included the launch of the updated BSCP FGM Guidance as well as 

the new BSCP FGM app. This has been downloaded 636 times.  The National FGM 

Centre Flash Cards were also disseminated to attendees.

96% of attendees found the conference very/extremely useful this year. 89% stated 

this year’s conference was very or extremely helpful/relevant to their job. 95% fed 

back that speakers were very/extremely knowledgeable.   Feedback from the day 

included:

 “As a DSL this was extremely useful and relevant and has empowered me to talk 
more confidently on the issues raised on this topic.”

“Operation Limelight and FGMPO was useful to know what they were. “

“Having a presentation on tools and resources worked well.”

“Survivor story was a deal breaker for making this authentic and not just a 
professionals meeting”

“The National FGM Centre was extremely passionate, knowledgeable and engaging”

The BSCP also held a free half day conference in October 2019 on Early 
Intervention which was attended by 80 multi agency professionals. Speakers 
included: a Research Fellow from Kings College London, presenting findings 
from a longitudinal study on the impact of early years; midwives from the 
Princess Royal Hospital on perinatal mental health services in Bromley; a 
Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry from the University of Glasgow 
on the London Infant and Family Team trial in Bromley;  and members of the 
Early Help service in Bromley.

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 &

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

Training & 
Development

P
age 184



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 69Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

Priorities for next 
year & beyond 

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Priorities

P
age 185



The Partnership 70

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BSCP Vision: “Children and young people in Bromley are seen, heard and helped; they 
are effectively safeguarded, properly supported and their lives improved by everyone 
working together.”

PRIORITY 1: THE LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CONTEXT

Outcome sought: Children and young people at risk of specific vulnerabilities in 

Bromley are seen, heard and helped. They are effectively protected from harm by 

robust and coordinated multi-agency intervention and support. The BSCP and partner 

agencies focus on how to safeguard children and young people in the context of their 

lives at home, in friendship circles, health, education and public spaces including 

social media – context is key.

Actions: To monitor the ongoing effectiveness and impact of the Partnership in 

responding to identified vulnerabilities and pathways to harm (including  CSE, Missing, 

Gangs, Domestic Violence, Neglect, Radicalisation and FGM). To work with partners 

to deliver comprehensive, multi-agency arrangements that tackle the identified 

safeguarding priorities set out below; and to evaluate their impact on children and 

young people:

• Domestic Violence 

• Mental Health

• Authentic voice of Children with special and educational needs

• Authentic voice of Children Looked After

PRIORITY 1 PROGRESS: 
• This year, the BSCP has increased the number of Domestic Abuse training 

sessions for professionals and the Domestic Abuse Strategy is being refreshed

• In September 2019, the BSCP Board scrutinised the CAMHS Transformation Plan 

and an audit of mental health crisis admissions to A&E by school

• In January 2020, The PCI Subgroup analysed findings from the SHEU Survey of 

over 2000 year 10 students in Bromley schools, escalating issues of concerns to 

the Board and agencies took immediate action to make improvements

• The Performance, Challenge and Impact Subgroup scrutinised datasets on 

P
R

IO
R

IT
IE

S
 F

O
R

 N
E

X
T 

Y
E

A
R

 &
 B

E
Y

O
N

D
 

Priorities

P
age 186



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 71Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

multiple vulnerabilities including for children looked after; on serious youth 

violence; exploitation and missing; FGM; and mental health.

• Bromley’s Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) SEND Local Area 

inspection took place in September 2019.  Bromley was found to have made 

progress in a number of areas and was not required to submit a Written Statement 

of Action, negating the need for an inspection re-visit.  Bromley’s self-evaluation 

set out 18 key areas for improvement which has been scrutinised by the BSCP.

• There was a renewed focus on FGM this year following a learning review, case 

audit and subsequent learning events and training sessions and refresh of the 

local pathway and guidance.

PRIORITY 2: EARLY HELP & EARLY INTERVENTION

Outcome: Children and young people receive effective early help and appropriate 

interventions when needs are identified and/or problems arise.

Actions: To evaluate the effectiveness of early help arrangements Bromley.

PRIORITY 2 PROGRESS:

• The BSCP scrutinises Early Help data annually. A summary of this can be found in 

the ‘Progress in Bromley’ section above.

• The BSCP held a free conference on Early Help and Early Intervention in October 

2019, attended by 82 multi agency professionals.

• The PCI Subgroup scrutinised low take up of CAF by particular settings and has 

challenged specific agencies to increase this.

• The Vulnerable Adolescents Strategy has been reviewed to ensure that it has a 

focus on early intervention and includes younger children.

• Bromley has been successful in receiving £2.1 m over two years for the  ‘CAMHS 

Trailblazer’ pilot schemes between 2019/20-2020/21 to establish new Mental 

Health Support Teams (MHSTs) - which will provide an early intervention and 

prevention service for CYP with mild to moderate mental health issues.  This 

Trailblazer pilot aims to test how MHST teams can work with other services and 

how they can accelerate the wider transformation of care for CYP. Strengthening 

the mental health training within schools will help teachers spot warning signs 

earlier, ensuring young people can access vital support services as quickly as 

possible.

PRIORITY 3: STRONG LEADERSHIP AND STRONG PARTNERSHIP

Outcome: The BSCP leads the safeguarding agenda, is professionally curious and 

challenges the work of partner organisations, and commits to an approach that learns 

lessons, embeds good practice and is continually influenced by children, young 

people and their families. A key focus within Priority 3 is how the BSCP and partner 

agencies commit to Making the Invisible Visible. This reflects the importance that the 

P
R

IO
R

IT
IE

S
 F

O
R

 N
E

X
T 

Y
E

A
R

 &
 B

E
Y

O
N

D
 

Priorities

P
age 187



The Partnership 72

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BSCP and partner agencies apply to ALL children and young people living in Bromley 

being seen, heard and helped.

Actions: 
• In the context of the Children and Social Work Bill and the proposed abolition 

of LSCBs, partner agencies will continue to commit to engaging in robust 

arrangements that coordinate and ensure the effectiveness of how children and 

young people are safeguarded

• The BSCP and partners successfully deliver against the Business Plan and 

associated work plans set for the BSCP and its subgroups / working groups

• Continue to strengthen the governance interface between the BSCP and other key 

strategic forums and Chairs

• Maintain the BSCP Learning & Improvement Framework; scrutinise & challenge 

performance; identify, disseminate and embed lessons; engage with children, 

young people and families and evaluate the impact on outcomes

• To communicate and raise awareness about safeguarding to individuals, 

organisations and communities

• To consistently promote the importance of effective and swift information sharing, 

promoting a culture that puts the protection of children before the protection of 

information.

PRIORITY 3 PROGRESS:
• This year, Bromley has put in place multi-agency partnership arrangements in 

response to the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together 2018, 

which replace Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) with new local multi-

agency safeguarding partnership arrangements. Partnership consultations were 

held in June 2019 to develop and agree future arrangements. Our safeguarding 

partnership arrangements have been improved to form the new Bromley 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (BSCP) and its sub-groups. 

• The safeguarding partnership is held accountable by the Safeguarding 

Children’s Partnership Executive (BSCPE) which is formed of the three 

statutory safeguarding partners: the Police; the Local Authority; and the Clinical 

Commissioning Group.  The new multi-agency partnership arrangements, 

published in June 2019, can be found on the BSCP website.  

P
R

IO
R

IT
IE

S
 F

O
R

 N
E

X
T 

Y
E

A
R

 &
 B

E
Y

O
N

D
 

Priorities

P
age 188

https://media.inzu.net/f0e9b37b8c44e338f64ae38c6d41e267/mysite/articles/594/New_partnership_Arrangements_FINAL_with_logo_and_Bookmarks_25062019.pdf


BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 73Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

• A Transitional Safeguarding Workshop was held in October 2019, led by Research 

in Practice. This was attended by senior representatives across strategic 

partnerships in Bromley (BSCP, Adults Safeguarding Board, Health and Wellbeing 

Board and Safer Bromley Partnership) to explore the effectiveness of transitions in 

Bromley and how this could be improved.

• To prepare for the reporting year 2020/21, partners have signed up to the BSCP 

Pledge.

• The Performance, Challenge and Impact Subgroup continues to scrutinise and 

challenge performance.

• The Safeguarding Practice Review Subgroup leads on identifying, disseminating 

and embedding lessons from learning reviews. The BSCP team has delivered a 

number of learning review briefings this year and monitors the partnership’s action 

plans that arise from lessons learned and review recommendations. 

• The BSCP has produced apps to raise awareness (Safer Schools, Private 

Fostering, FGM and BSCP Safeguarding) and actively promotes safeguarding 

lessons via Twitter. 

• The Interboard Chairs Subgroup continues to meet to work collaboratively on joint 

priorities.

• The BSCP Board maintains a Risk Register of both strategic and operational risks 

which is reviewed every quarter.  This ‘live’ document reflects the current and 

emerging threats facing partner agencies, families and children in Bromley.

• The Independent Chair fulfils the scrutiny role of the BSCP and challenges 

robustly where outcomes are not as good as they should be or where progress is 

slow.

PRIORITY 4: A HEALTHY WORKFORCE

Outcome: In the context of reducing public sector funding, the BSCP listens to 

partners and seeks reassurance that agencies have in place effective arrangements to 

support their staff deliver high quality safeguarding practice.

Actions: The BSCP sets up a task and finish group to lead on designing and 

implementing a thorough health check of the organisational arrangements in place to 

support effective safeguarding practice.

PRIORITY 4 PROGRESS:

The BSCP conducted a practitioner survey across the partnership to provide 

assurance that the children’s workforce in Bromley understands the thresholds of 

need, how to escalate when professionals disagree, when to share information and 

whether they have sufficient and good professional supervision. Areas of concern 

were raised with senior managers or addressed through guidance and awareness 

raising.

Since March 2020, the BSCP has held contingency oversight meetings every three 

weeks to monitor the partnership’s response to COVID-19. The health and wellbeing 

of the workforce has been a standing agenda item and has assisted in preparing 

for a possible second wave - anticipating further selfless commitment of staff to 

the detriment of their own wellbeing. Assurance has been sought around sufficient 

supplies of appropriate PPE, access to training, OT and wellbeing support, access to 

bereavement support, and risk assessments which take account of individual staff’s 

age, ethnicity, gender and relevant health conditions.

P
R

IO
R

IT
IE

S
 F

O
R

 N
E

X
T 

Y
E

A
R

 &
 B

E
Y

O
N

D
 

Priorities

P
age 189

https://media.inzu.net/f0e9b37b8c44e338f64ae38c6d41e267/mysite/articles/591/BSCP_Pledge_Feb_2020.pdf
https://media.inzu.net/f0e9b37b8c44e338f64ae38c6d41e267/mysite/articles/591/BSCP_Pledge_Feb_2020.pdf


The Partnership 74

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Technology & 
Social Media 

Technology & 
Social Media

P
age 190



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 75Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

The BSCP business plan aims to develop and deliver services that meet the needs of 

the children they seek to safeguard. This in the context of children’s lives; at home, in 

care, in education and health, with family and friends and in all the offline and online 

spaces they frequent. The BSCP recognises that children’s access to technology and 

use of social media is not novel and distinct; rather it is fundamentally integrated in the 

lives of young people. We further recognise that the context within a child’s offline life; 

neglect, emotional or physical abuse or living in the shadow of abusive relationships is 

often reflected in the online ‘digital footprint’ children, young people and many adults 

now create.

We have therefore discarded the development of an e-safety strategy on the basis 

of its singular focus on technology and have instead, developed  a strategy and 

suite of supporting documents focused on safeguarding children and young people 

within the context of their real lives and their access and use of technology. In the 

toolkit supporting this strategy, professionals are provided with policy, guidance and 

checklists that will assist safeguarding professionals identify and support children and 

young people in need of help and protection. This is available on the BSCP website.

BSCP Strategic Priority 3: Strong Leadership and Strong Partnership

Actions 2017-19: To communicate and raise awareness about safeguarding to 
individuals, organisations and communities

In addition, the BSCP has developed Apps to support professionals so that they have 

immediate access to the guidance they need.  The BSCP App includes information 

on subjects such as thresholds of needs, escalation, what to do if you are concerned 

about a professional and how to get help if you are concerned about a child. The 

BSCP Private Fostering App has been downloaded around 12,000 times and the 

BSCP Safeguarding App has been downloaded around 11,808 times. Short videos on 

a number of topics, including exploitation, are also available for professionals on the 

BSCP website. 

TE
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

 &
 S

O
C

IA
L 

M
E

D
IA

 

Technology & 
Social Media

P
age 191

http://bromleysafeguarding.org/articles.php?id=609
http://bromleysafeguarding.org/articles.php?id=619


The Partnership 76

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

What you need to 
know 

What you need 
to know

P
age 192



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 77Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

THE BSCP WEBSITE

    www.bromleysafeguarding.org

    www.twitter.com/BromleyLSCP

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
• Nothing is more important than making sure you are safe and well cared for

• As adults, sometimes we think we always know best...we don’t...... and that’s why 

your voice is so important

• This is about you and we want to know more about how you think children and 

young people can be better protected

• We want to talk to you more often and we want to know the best way to do 

this...... please help

• If you are worried about your own safety or that of a friend, speak to a 

professional you trust or speak to ChildLine on 0800 1111

PARENTS AND CARERS
• Public agencies are there to support you and prevent any problems you are 

having getting worse...Don’t be afraid to ask for help

• Tell us what works and what doesn’t when professionals are trying to help you 

and your children

• Make sure you know about the best way to protect your child and take time to 

understand some of the risks they can face

• You’ll never get ahead of your child when it comes to understanding social media 

and IT – but make yourself aware of the risks that children and young people can 

face.

THE COMMUNITY
• You are in the best place to look out for children and young people and to raise 

the alarm if something is going wrong for them.

• We all share responsibility for protecting children. Don’t turn a blind eye. If you 
see something, say something.

• If the child lives in Bromley, call the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) on 

0208 461 7373/7379 7026 during working hours

• If you need to speak to someone out of office hours contact the Out of Hours 

Duty Service on 030 0303 8671
• You can also call the NSPCC Child Protection helpline on 0808 800 5000

FRONT-LINE STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS WORKING WITH CHILDREN OR 
ADULTS
• Make sure children and young people are seen, heard and helped... whatever 

your role

• Your professional judgement is what ultimately makes a difference and you must 

invest in developing the knowledge, skills and experiences needed to effectively 

safeguard children and young people. Attend all training required for your role

• Understand the importance of talking with colleagues and don’t be afraid to share 

information. If in doubt, speak to your manager

• Escalate your concerns if you do not believe a child or young person is being 

safeguarded

• Use your representative on the BSCP to make sure that your voice and that of the 

children and young people you work with are heard

• If your work is mainly with adults, make sure you consider the needs of any 

children if those adults are parents

LOCAL POLITICIANS
• You are leaders in your local area. Do not underestimate the importance of your 

role in advocating for the most vulnerable children and making sure everyone 

takes their safeguarding responsibilities seriously

• Councillor Peter Fortune is the Portfolio Holder for Education and Children and 

Families and has a key role in children’s safeguarding - so does every other 

councillor

• You can be the eyes and ears of vulnerable children and families... Keep the 

protection of children at the front of your mind

W
H

AT
 Y

O
U

 N
E

E
D

 T
O

 K
N

O
W

 

What you need 
to know

P
age 193

http://bromleysafeguarding.org/
https://twitter.com/BromleyLSCP


The Partnership 78

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND DIRECTORS
• You set the tone for the culture of your organisation. When you talk, people listen 

- talk about children and young people

• Your leadership is vital if children and young people are to be safeguarded

• Understand the capability and capacity of your front-line services to protect 

children and young people - make sure both are robust

• Ensure your workforce attend relevant BSCP training courses and learning events

• Ensure your agency contributes to the work of BSCP and give this the highest 

priority. Be Section 11 compliant

• Advise the BSCP of any organisational restructures and how these might affect 

your capacity to safeguard children and young people

• Keep engaged with the safeguarding process and continue to identify children 

who need early help and protection

HEAD TEACHERS AND GOVERNORS OF SCHOOLS
• Ensure that your school / academy/ educational establishment is compliant with 

‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’ (DfE 2020)

• You see children more than any other profession and develop some of the most 

meaningful relationships with them.

THE POLICE
• Robustly pursue offenders and disrupt their attempts to abuse children

• Ensure officers and police staff have the opportunity to train with their colleagues 

in partner agencies

• Ensure that the voices of all child victims are heard, particularly in relation to 

listening to evidence where children disclose abuse

• Ensure a strong focus on MASE, MAPPA and MARAC arrangements.

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS
• CCGs in the health service have a key role in scrutinising the governance and 

planning across a range of organisations

• Discharge your safeguarding duties effectively and ensure that services are 

commissioned for the most vulnerable children.

THE LOCAL MEDIA
• Safeguarding children and young people is a tough job

• Communicating the message that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility is 

crucial - you can help do this positively

• Hundreds of children and young people are effectively safeguarded every year 

across the borough of Bromley

W
H

AT
 Y

O
U

 N
E

E
D

 T
O

 K
N

O
W

 

What you need 
to know

P
age 194



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 79Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

BSCP Membership 
  (AS AT MAY 2020)

BSCP 
Membership

P
age 195



The Partnership 80

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

INDEPENDENT CHAIR
Jim Gamble QPM

BSCP TEAM
Kerry Davies  Board Business Manager (Job Share)

Joanna Gambhir Board Business Manager (Job Share)

Hazel Blackman Business Support Officer

BOARD MEMBERS
Janet Bailey Director Children’s Social Care, LBB

Sara Bowrey Director of Housing, LBB

Hannah Brice Manager, Change, Grow, Live

AJ Brooks Area Manager, London CRC

Kim Carey Interim Director, Adult Social Care, LBB

Deborah Carter ESAC Chair and Deputy Head Teacher, Bullers Wood 
School

Jane Clegg Director of Nursing, NHS England (once a year attendance 
only)

Neil Cochlin Superintendent, Bromley BCU (Metropolitan Police Service)

Sonia Colwill Director of Quality Governance and Patient Safety, CCG

David Dare Assistant Director Children’s Social Care, LBB

Helen Dyer Bromley CFVSF Chair (third sector)

Janet Ettridge Director of Operations, Bromley Healthcare (frequent rep is 
Felicity Akers)

Peter Fortune Portfolio Holder, Education, Children and Families Services

Julia Hale Designated Dr, Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group

Stuart Hills Head of Service Quality Assurance, LBB

Debbie Hutchinson Deputy Director Nursing, Kings College Hospital

Marina Laurie Lay Member

Shalene Lemmie Senior Service Manager CAFCASS

Betty McDonald Head of Youth Offending Service, LBB

Katie Nash Head of Service, National Probation Service

Jared Nehra Director of Education, LBB

Rebecca Saunders Designated Nurse,  Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group

Jenny Selway Consultant Public Health Medicine (Chair of CDOP)

Antoinette Thorne Learning and Development Manager, LBB and chair of 
BSCP Training Subgroup

Jane Wells Director of Nursing and Safeguarding, Oxleas NHS Trust

B
S

C
P

 M
E

M
B

E
R

S
H

IP

BSCP 
Membership

P
age 196



BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

The Partnership 81Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

An INEQE Safeguarding Group Ltd CSR Publication 2020

© Bromley LSCP 2020

Publication Date: 23rd October 2020
Version: 1.0.0

Address: Stockwell Building, 
Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, 
Bromley, Kent, BR1 3UH 

Website: www.bromleysafeguarding.org
Email: BSCP@bromley.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8461 7816
Twitter: @BromleyLSCP

P
age 197

http://www.bromleysafeguarding.org
http://twitter.com/bromleylscp


The Partnership 82

BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Communication Safeguarding Context Progress in Bromley Learning & 
Improvement 

The Child Death 
Overview Panel

Training & 
Development Priorities Technology & 

Social Media
What you need 

to know
BSCP 

Membership

Seen | Heard | Helped
www.bromleysafeguarding.org

P
age 198



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD20123 

London Borough of Bromley 
 
 

 
   

Decision Maker: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Date:  Thursday 3rd December 2020 

Decision Type: Non Urgent  
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: MATTERS OUTSTANDING AND WORK PROGRAMME 

Contact Officer: Joanne Partridge, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 0208 461 7694   E-mail  joanne.partridge@bromley.gov.uk  

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: N/A 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to review its work programme and to consider 
progress on matters outstanding from previous meetings of the Board.  

 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 2.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to: 

1) Consider matters outstanding from previous meetings; and, 
 

2) Review its work programme, indicating any changes required. 

Page 199

Agenda Item 13



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:  As part of the Excellent Council workstream within Building a 
Better Bromley, the Health and Wellbeing Board should plan and prioritise its workload to 
achieve the most effective outcomes. 

 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £359k 
 

5. Source of funding: Revenue budget  
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   7 posts (6.67fte) 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   Maintaining the Board’s work 
programme takes less than an hour per meeting 

 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement:  None.  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable.  This report does not involve an executive decision 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: None. 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):   This report is intended 
primarily for the benefit of members of this Board to use in controlling their work. 

 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable 
 
 

Page 200



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 The Matters Outstanding table updates Board Members on “live” matters arising from previous 
meetings and is attached at Appendix 1. 

3.2    The Health and Wellbeing Board’s Work Programme is attached at Appendix 2. In approving 
the Work Programme, Board Members will need to be satisfied that priority issues are being 
addressed in line with the priorities set out in the Board’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 
Terms of Reference which were approved by Council in April 2013. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children and 
Policy/Financial/Legal/Personnel Implications 

Background Documents: Previous matters arising reports and minutes of meetings. 

 

 

 

Page 201



  

4 

APPENDIX 1 
 
 

  Health and Wellbeing Board: Matters Outstanding / Action List  
 

Agenda Item Action  Officer Update Status 

Minute 44 
21st November 2019 
 
Transitional Safeguarding 
Workshop 
 

An initial mapping exercise of the current 
transition support available to be undertaken. 

Independent Chair: 
Bromley 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 
 

Item deferred due to role changes. In progress 
 

Minute 55 
30th January 2020 
 
Bromley Local CAMHS 
Transformation Plan 
 

Analysis of the “deep dives” relating to the factors 
of mental health emergency presentations at A+E 
by children and young people to be provided to 
the Board, once completed. 
 

Associate Director 
of Integrated 
Commissioning 
(CCG) 

The deep dive analysis was delayed 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Oxleas CAMHS have a new Assistant 
Director in post for this service, 
starting September 2020, and she will 
now be taking forward this work. 
 

In progress 

Minute 5 
30th April 2020 
(Informal Meeting) 
 
Social Care Update 
 

Report looking at the concerns relating to the 
levels of domestic violence, and whether they 
were hidden within referrals, to be circulated to 
Board Members. 

Independent Chair: 
Bromley 
Safeguarding 
Children 
Partnership 

To be incorporated within the 
Strategic Threat Assessment. 

In progress 

Minute 23 
24th September 2020 
 
Communications Update 

The LBB Communications Executive to check if it 
would be possible to circulate the database to all 
Councillors for them to confirm that the details on 
record were correct. 
 

LBB 
Communications 
Executive 

The list had been sent to Councillors. Completed 

Minute 24 
24th September 2020 
 
COVID-19 Update 
 

A full evaluation of the local two-week Test and 
Trace pilot be shared with Board Members. 
 
 
 
 
 
The recovery plan document, addressing lessons 
learnt and managing expectations, to be shared 

with Board Members once finalised. 

LBB Director of 
Public Health 
 
 
 
 
 
One Bromley 
Programme 
Director – SEL 
CCG 

Evaluation completed and full services 
commenced on 6th November 2020. A 
copy of a briefing on the Contact 
Tracing Pilot review was circulated to 
Board Members on 25th November 
2020. 

Completed 

P
age 202



  

5 

 
Minute 25 
24th September 2020 
 
Update on the Flu 
Immunisation Programme 
 

Information regarding which wards within the 
borough had previously had the lowest take up of 
the flu immunisation offer to be provided to all 
ward Councillors. 
 
Information regarding the ‘de-prioritisation of 
certain commissioned primary care services being 
considered to free up capacity in primary care to 
focus on the flu season’ to be provided to Board 
Members. 
 

Associate Director 
– Discharge 
Commissioning, 
Urgent Care 
and Transfer of 
Care Bureau / 
 
Borough Based 
Director – SEL 
CCG 

  

Minute 25a 
24th September 2020 
 
Bromley Winter 
Assurance Plan 20/21: 
Update 
 

A copy of the Winter Plan for Adult Social Care to 
be circulated to Board Members once complete. 
 

LBB Director of 
Adult Social Care 

A copy of the Winter Plan for Adult 
Social Care was circulated to Board 
Members on 25th November 2020. 

Completed 

Minute 26 
24th September 2020 
 
Bromley Health and 
Wellbeing Centre Update 

A copy of the Bromley Health and Wellbeing 
Centre outline business case to be circulated to 
Board Members. 

One Bromley 
Programme 
Director – SEL 
CCG 
 

 

  

Minute 27 
24th September 2020 
 
Integrated 
Commissioning Board 
Update 
 

Information relating to the End of Life Board to be 
circulated to Board Members. 

LBB Assistant 
Director for 
Integrated 
Commissioning 

The End of Life Steering Group – 
Terms of Reference were circulated to 
Board Members on 5th October 2020. 

Completed 

P
age 203



  

6 

                                                                                                              APPENDIX 2 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  
WORK PROGRAMME  

 

3rd December 2020 
 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy: JSNA Priority Areas 
 

Dr Nada Lemic 

CCG Winter Schemes 2020/21 
 

Clive Moss (CCG) 

Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund Performance update – 
Q2 2020/21 

Ola Akinlade 

Update on the ‘Weight reduction - obesity campaign’ 
 

Susie Clark 

Mental health resilience - current position and actions 
 

James Postgate (CCG) 

Update from the SEL CCG 
- Update on the flu immunisation programme in Bromley 
- Long COVID-19 syndrome 
- COVID-19 immunisation plans for Bromley 
- Bromley Health and Wellbeing Centre 

Dr Angela Bhan / Mark Cheung 
(CCG) 

Bromley Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report 
 

Jim Gamble / Joanna Gambhir / 
Kerry Davies 

Bromley Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report 
 

Bulent Djouma 

Work Programme and Matters Outstanding 
 

Democratic Services 

11th February 2021 
 

Mytime Active Update 
 

Gillian Fiumicelli / Mytime 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy: JSNA Priority Areas (x 2) 
 

Dr Nada Lemic 

Loneliness & Social Isolation – Veterans 
 

Dr Nada Lemic / Chloe Todd 

BSCP Strategic Threat Assessment 
 

Jim Gamble / Joanna Gambhir / 
Kerry Davies 

Homelessness Update 
 

Sara Bowrey / Mimi Morris-Cotterill 

Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund Performance update – 
Q3 2020/21 

Ola Akinlade 

Information Item: Update on DToC Performance TBC 
 

Jodie Adkin 

Work Programme and Matters Outstanding 
 

Democratic Services 

29th April 2021 
 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy: JSNA Priority Areas (x 2) 
 

Dr Nada Lemic 

Integrated Commissioning Board Update  
 

CCG  / LBB 

Bromley Communications and Engagement Network – Annual Report  
 

Kelly Scanlon / Tim Spilsbury 

Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund Performance update – 
Q4 2020/21 

Ola Akinlade 

Communications Update  
 

Susie Clark 

Information Item: Update on DToC Performance TBC 
 

Jodie Adkin 

Work Programme and Matters Outstanding  
 

Democratic Services 

 

Page 204


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD ON 24TH SEPTEMBER 2020
	Minutes

	8 BETTER CARE FUND AND IMPROVED BETTER CARE FUND PERFORMANCE UPDATE - Q2 2020/21
	9 BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD - ANNUAL REPORT
	BSAB_AnnualReport_2019-20_2020-11-23 (final)

	10 BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP - ANNUAL REPORT
	BromleySCPAnnualReport2020V04_Formatted_FINAL
	About the  Annual Report


	13 WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING

